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Answer to Question 2: A person’s judgment, experience, independence, understanding of the Company’s business or
other related industries, and such other factors as are determined to be relevant in light of the needs of the board of
directors and the Company.

Answer to Question 5. Directors may be nominated by the board of directors or by stockholders in accordance with
the bylaws of the Company. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will review all candidates for
nomination to the board of directors, including those proposed by stockholders. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Commitiee reviews the person's judgment, experisncs, indspendence, understanding of the Company's
business or other related industries, and such other factors as the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
determines are relevant in light of the needs of the board of directors and the Company. The Nominating and Corporate
Govemance Committee selects qualified candidates and reviews its recommendations with the board of directors,
which will decide whether to invite the candidate to be a nominese for election to the beard of directors. Huron does not
have a formal policy on board member diversity. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, in discussing
board composition, has focused on diversity of experience in relation to the development of the business, and believes
it should reflect over time a diversity of gender, race, ethnicity and age, although the Committes follows no strict criteria
whan making decisions.

Answer to Question 6: Executive officers are appointed by the board of directors on an annual basis. See also
response to question 7 below.

Answer to Question 7: Huron does not have a formal policy on board member diversity. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committes, in discussing board composition, has focused on diversity of experience in reiation to the
development of the business, and believes it should reflect over time a diversity of gender, race, ethnicity and age,
although the Committes follows no strict criteria when making decigions. In addition to the considerations mentioned
above in gquestion 2, the Nominating and Corporate Governanca Committee seeks candidates with prior management
exparience, experience on public company boards and in rélevant industries.

Huron has an Equal Employment Opportunity policy that applies to all employees, including executive officers. In
summary, the policy provides that. the Company is fully committed to providing equal employment opportunity in
recruitment, employment, compensation, benefits, promotions, transfers, education and all ather terms of employment.
Huron will not discriminate on the basis of age, race, color, gender, marital status, sexual onentation, gender identity,
pregnancy, national crigin, religion, Vietnam era or veteran status, medicaf condition, genetic information, FMLA status,
physical or mental disability, creed, citizen status or any other status protected by federal, state or local law. Huron is
committed to equal employment opportunity and a diverse workforce. The commitment to diversity is characterized by
an inclusive culture where we value each employee's contributions and strive to develop the talents of ali employees.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless the conltext otherwise requires, the terms “Huren,” “Company,” “we.” "us” and “our” refer to Huren Consulling Group Inc. and its
subsidiaries.

Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not historical n nature, including those concerning the Company's current expactations about its future requirements and
needs, are “forward-looking” statements as defined in Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended {the “Exchange Act”) and the Private Securities Liigaton
Reform Act of 1935. Forward-looking statements are identified by words such as “may,” “should,” "expedts,” "provides,” “anticipates,” “assumes,” “can,” *wil," "meels,” “could,”
“Kkely,” “Intends,” “might,” “predicts,” “seeks,” “woukd,” “believas,” “estimates,” "plans,” "continues,” or "outlook,” or similar expressions. Thesa forward-looking statements reflect our
current expectations about our future requirements and needs, results, kevels of activity, performance, or achievemants. Some of the factors that could cause actual resulis to differ
materialy from the forward-looking statements contained herein include, without imitation: failure 1o achieve expected utiization rates, billng rates, and the number of revenue-
generating professionals; inability to expand or adjust our service offerings in response to markat demands; our dependencs on renewal of dient-based services; dependence on
naw business and retention of current clients and qualified personnel; falure fo maintain third-party provider refationships and strategic akances; inabiity to licansa tachnology lo
and from third parlies; the impairment of goodwil; various factors rekated to income and other taxes; difficulties in successfully ntegrating the businesses we acquire and achieving
expecied benefits from such acquisitions; risks relating to privacy, information security, and related laws and standards; and a general downturn in market conditions. These
forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other faclors, including, among others, those desaribed under lism 1A. *Risk Factors,” that may
cause actual resuls, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materialy different from any anticipated resulis, levels of activity, performance, or achievemenls axpressed
or imphed by these forward-looking statemants. We disdaim any obligation to update or reviss any forward-looking statemants as a resuk of new information or future events, or for
any other reason.

PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

OVERVIEW

Huren is a global consultancy that helps dlients drive growth, enhance performance and sustain keadership in the markets they serve. We parinar with chants lo develop strategies
and implement solutions that enable the {ransformative change our dcients need to own their future.

Woe are headquartered in Chicago, Encis, with additional locations in the United States in California, Colorade, the District of Columbia, Florida, Massachusetts, Michigan, New
York, Oragon, Texas, and Wisconsin and abroad in Canada, India, Singapore, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom.

OUR SERVICES

We provide profassional servicas through three operating segments: Healthcare, Business Advisory, and Education. For the year erded December 31. 2018, we derived 46%,
30%, and 24% of our revenuss from Healthcare, Business Advisory, and Education, respectively.

Heatthcare

Qur Healthcare segment has a depth of expertise in care transformation, finandal and operational excellence, technology and analytics, and leadership development, We serve
national and regional hospials and integrated health systems, academic medical centers, community hosplials, and medical groups. Cur solutions help dients evolve and adapl to
the rapidly changing hestihcare environment and achieve growth, oplimize performance, enhance proftabiity, mprove qualty and ¢linical outcomes, align leaders, improve
organizational culture, and drive physician, patlent, and employee engagement acress the enterprise fo delver better consumer outcomes,

We help organizations transform and innovate their delivery model to focus on patient wellness by improving quality outcomes, minimizing care variation and fundamentally
mproving patient and population health. Qur consutiants pariner with clients to help build and sustain teday's business to invest in the future by reducing complexity, improving
operational efficiency and growing markel share. We enable the heakhcare of the future by identifying, mtegraling and oplimizing technokgy investments fo colact data that
transforms care delivery and improves patient cutcomes. We also develop future leaders capable of driving meaningful operational and organizational change and who transferm
the consumer expenence.

Business Advisory
Our Business Advisory segment provides services to large and middle market organizations, not-for-profit organizations, lending institutions, law firms, investmant banks and private

equity firms. We assist dients in a broad rangs of induslries and across the spectrum from heathy, wel-capitalized companies to organizations in fransition, as well as credfiors,
equity owners, and other kay constituents, Our Business
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Advisory professionals resofve complex business issues and enhiance dient eniterprise value through a sulle of services Inchuding capital advisary, transaction advisory, operational
improvement, restructuring and turnaround, valuation, and dispute advisory. Our Entsrprise Solutions and Analyfics professionals deliver technology and analytic solutions that
snable organizations to manage and optimize thewr financlal performanca, operational sfficency, and ciant or stakeholder exparienca. Our Strategy and Innovation professionals
collaborate with clents across a range of industries Lo identify new growth opportunities, bulld new ventures and capabilities, and accelerate organizalional change. Our Life
Sciances professionals provide strategic solutions to help pharmaceutical, medical devics, and bitechnolagy companies deliver more value to patients, payers, and providers, and
comply with regulations,

Education

Our Education segment provides consulting and technology solutions to higher education institutions and academic medical centers. Wae pariner with dients to address challengas
refating to business and technology strategy, financial management, operational and organizational effectiveness, research administration, and regutatory compliance. Qur
institutional strategy, market research, budgeting and financial management, busness operations and sfudent life cyde management solutions abign missions with business prioriies,
improve quality and reduce costs insttution-wide. Our student solutions improve atiraction, retention and graduation rates, increass student safisfaction and help genarate qualty
outcomes. Our tachnology strategy, enterprise applications, and analytic sclutions transform and optimize operations, deliver time and cost savings, and enhance the student
experience. Our research anterprise splutions assist dients in kenfifying and implementing institutional research strategy, optimizing clinical research operations, improving financial
management and cost rembursement, mproving service to faculty, and mitigating risk complance.

Huron is a Platinum level membsr of the Crade ParinerNetwork (OPN), an Oracle Cloud Premier Pariner within North America, a Workday Senvices Partner, and a Gold lavel
consuling pariner with Salasfores.com.

OUR CLEENTS AND INDUSTRIES

We prowde professional services lo a wida varisty of both financially sound and distressed organizations, induding healthcare organizations, leading academic and research
nstitutions, large and mid-sized companles, and governmental entities. In 2018, we servad over 1,200 cients, ncuding over 250 new clients,

Qur chents are In a broad array of industries, inchuding healthcare, education, pharmaceutical, biotech and medical device, financial services, energy, o and gas, technology, media
and telecommunications, manufacturing, retai and consumer products, automotive, hospitality, governmental, metals and mining, and aerospace.

EMPLOYEES

Qur success depends on our ablity lo atiract, engage, develop and refain highly talented professionals. We know that by creating a work environment where employees can shape
ther futures, and individuals are rewarded not enly for ther own contributions, but akso for the success of our organization, we can accomplish these goals. Ve are focused on
advancing every facet of the employee experlence, beginning with the recruiting process through post-smployment or retrement. We want to create a persenalzed experianca for
our people, where they are empowered, and can make an impact. We have developed comprehensive programs incorporating learning opportunities, beginning with the
onboarding process and continuing throughout one's career. We provide a competitive fotal rewards package inchuding benefits that are talored to the unique needs of our
employaes. Our commitment to corporate sacial responsibiity Is faclitated through our Huren Helping Hands program and the Diversity and Inclusion counci.

Cur employee peputation is divided inte two groups: cient-serving and support professionals. As of December 31, 2018, we had 3,269 full-time emphyees, nduding 147 dient-
serving managing directors. Our dient-serving employees serve as critical business advisors; collaborating with clients to help sobve their most complex business problems. Our
managing drectors are the key drivers of growth in our business, generating new revenus streams from existing and new dients. They enhance our market reputation by
parinering with clients as advisors and engagement team leaders. Internaly, they create our intelectual capital, develop cur pacple, and are stewards of our culture, Qur sanior
diractors, directors, and managers manage day-to-day chent refetionships, develop our psople, nuriure our cutture, and overses the defvery and qualty of our work product, Our
assodates and analysts gather and organize data, conduct detalled analyses, and prepare presentations that synthesize and distil information to support recommendations we
deliver fo cients. Our support professionals incude our senior management team as well as those who provida sales support, methodology ereation, software development, and
corporate functions consisting of our facilties, finance and accounting, human rasources, information tachnology, legal, and markating teams. Thase employees provide strategic
direction and support that enables the success of our chent-serving employees, At December 31, 2018, our support professionals team was led by 22 managing directors,
executives and corporate vice presidents.

In addition to our ful-time dlient-serving employees, we engage temporary employees on an as-needed basis to provide unique skl sels that are nol required to be slafled on a ful
time basis.

Supporting our professionals' career advancement is critical to our employee retention and engagement. As part of our onboarding process, our employes experience team
faclliates a robust and structured leaming curriculum for newly hired employees to develop and onboard
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them more effactively into the company. Leadarship development programs are offered to recently promoted amployees to support thalr fransition to and success in a new role with
broader responsibilty. In addition to these milestone programs, we offer a variety of leadership development opportunities for those who exhibit the capabiity and the deste to take
on broader roles in the organization, Wa also provide a variety of continuing education opportunities to our employees, through online and dassroom envronments, to further
develop employses' capabilities, induding technical knowledge, people skils, team dynamics and coaching and developing others. We encourage our employees to enhance their
professional sklls through external learning opportunitles that certify their technical skils and to pursue certain advanced degrees. Employees are matched with internal
performance coaches and mentors to help them grow in their careers, ncuding identifying opportunities for professional development, formal training, and technical skl
certifications.

Our total rewards philosophy focuses on rewarding and retaining our high performing employees, To accomplish this, we offer employees a compstitive base salary, performance
neentives and benefis.

Qur incentive compensation plan is designad to recognize and rewerd performance of both the organization and individuals and to ensure we retain our top performers, We take
both practica and company financial parformances into considaration In the determmation of bonus pool funding. At the practice level, the annual bonus pool is funded basad on
achavenant of #s annual finandial goals. The board of directors reviews and approves the total imcentive compensation pool for all practices in the context of the company's ovaral
fnandial performance. Individual bonus awards are based on the practice's financial performante, ndividual bonus targets, and the indhadual's parformance as evaluated through
our performance management process. The intent of the incentive compensation plan is to differentiate rewards based on individual performancs, ensurng that our top parformers
for the yaar receive ncentives that are commensurate with their contributions, which enables Huren to retain them and continue to provide our dients with exceplional service. The
incentive compensation plan for our named executive officers is fundad based on a blend of achievement of financial goals and strategic infiatives,

Managing directors' individua| compensation levels, including base salary and target Incentive awards, are set to align with the value of thelr expecied cantributions to the
organization, including collaboration across prachees. As the key drivers of the organization's success, ther compensation is designed to incude equity awards as a core component.
The usa of aquity is ntended 1o encourage retention, align the interests of our managing directors with shareholders, and help buid waalth over a managing diractor's career at
Huren through anniual grants as well as stock price appreciation.

Qur beneft programs are designed to be both comprehensive, competitive and personalized to the needs of our employees, such as a paid time off program that aliows for flexbiity
and a travel reward program which recognizes the significant travel commiment of our chent-serving workforce. We provide opportunities that alow employees to focus and care
for ther personal welkbeing that are aimed at providing tools and resources to focus on thetr physical, financial, sodial, and emotional health given the demanding nature of their
work. In addition, our heakh and welfare plans, retrement benefits, and stock purchase plan, provide a core sense of security to our employses and their famiies.

Our corporate social responsbiity efforts are designed o support an individual’s charitable interests while also providing a venue for our employeas to come together to make an
impad In the communiles N which we Ive and work. [n addition, the Diversity and Inghusion councd supports the nesds of our growing employes poputation through employes
resource groups that provide corporate-wide educational epportunities, buid awareness, celebrate our differences, develop menloring relationships, and ensure we are fostering a
weloming and engaging environment for 8 employses,

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND MARKETING

Our business development and marketing activiies are amed al cultivaling refationships, generating leads, and buiding a strong brand reputation with hospital, health system, and
university administrators; offices of the C-suite; and senior level influencers and decision makers of middle market and large corporate organizations. We believe excellent service
delfivery to cients is critical to building and maintaining relationships and our brand reputation, and wa amphasiza the importanca of client sarvics to all of our employees.

Currantly, we generate new business apportunities through the combination of relationships cur managing directors have with individuals working in healthcare organizations,
academic and research nstitutions, and corporations, and marketing lead generation activities. We also view market-based collaboration between our managing directors as a key
component in buildng our business. Gften, the cient relationship of a managing director in one area of cur business leads lo opportunities in another area. Al of gur managing
directors understand their roles in ongoing relationship and business development, which is renforced through our compansation and incentive programs. We actively seek to
identify new business opportunities and frequently receive refarralks and repeat business from past and current dents. In addition, to camplernent the business development efforts
of our managing direclors, we have dedicated business development professionals who are focused exclusively on developing dlient refationships and generating new business.

COMPETITION

The professional sarvicas industry s extremely competitive, highly fragmented, and constantly evolving. The industry indudss a karge numbser of particlpants with a variety of skils
and ndustry expertise, induding other strategy, busness operations, technoogy, and financial consuling frms; general management consulling firms; the consulting practices of
major accounting firms; technical and economic advisory
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firms; regional and specialty consuling frms; and the nternal professional resources of organizations. We compete with a large number of service and lechnalogy providers in o of
our segments, Our competitors vary, depending on the particular practice area, and we expect to continue to face competition from new markst entrants.

We behave the principal competitive factors in our market include reputation, the ability to attract and retain top talent, the capacity to manage engagements effectively to drive high
value to dients, and the abiity to defiver measurable and sustanable results. There is also competition on price, although to a lesser extent due to the criticality of the ssues that
many of sur services address, Some competitors have a greater geographic foolprint, broader international presence, and more resources than we do, but we beave our
reputation and abily lo deliver high-valus, quality sarvice and measurable resulis to our dients across a balanced portfelo of services and atiract and refain employess with broad
capabities ard deep Industry expertise enable us to compate favorably in the professional servicas marketplace.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We fie annual, quarterly and currenl reports, proxy statements, and olher informalion with the Securities and Exchange Commission {the *SEC™). These fiings are availabla on the
SEC's website at hitp:/iwww.sec.gov.

Qur principal Intermet address is www. hurenconsulttingaroup com, We make our annual reparts on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and
any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(g) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 avaiable through our websis, free of charge, as
s00n as reasonably practicable after we eloctronically fils such matarial with, or furnish it to, the SEC,

We provide information about our business and financial performancs, induding our corporate profis, on our Investor Relations website. Additionally, we webcast our amings caks

and csriain events we parlicipate in with members of the investment commuaity on our Investor Relations website. Further corporate governance information, including our code of

ethics, cods of business conduct, corporate governance guidelines, and board committee charters, is also avaiable on our Investor Relations website. The content of our wabshes &
not Incorporated by raference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K of in any other repart or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websitas are intended to be
nadtive textual references only.

ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS.

The folowing discussion of risk factors may be imporiant to understanding the statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or elsewhers, Tha following information should ba
read in conjunction with Part ll—ltem 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finangial Condition and Results of Operations™ and the Consoldated Financal Statements and
related notes in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Discussions about the Important operational risks that our business encountars can be found In Part ll—liem 7. "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operalions.”

An Inability to retain our senlor management team and other managing directars would be detrimental to the succass of our business.

We rely heavity on our senior management leam, our practice leaders, and other managing diractors; our abilty to retain them is particularly important to our future sucoess. Given
the highly spedialized nature of our sarvices, the senior management team must have a thorough understanding of our service offerings as wall as the skils and experience
necessary to manage an organization consisting of a diverse group of professionals. In addidon, we rely on our senior management team and othar managing diractors to generate
and markst our business, Further, our senior management's and other managing directors' personal reputations and relationships with our dlients are a crifical element in oblaining
and maintaining client engagements. Akhough we enler into non-soficitation agreements with our senior management tearn and other managing directors, we generally do not
enter ntg non-compeition agreemants. Accordingly, members of our senior management team and our gther managing directors are not contractually prohibited from leaving or
joining one of our competitors, and some of our dients could chaose 1o use the services of that competitor instead of our services. If one or more members of our senior
management team or our other managing directors k:ave and we cannot replace them with a suitable candidate quickly, we could experience difficulty in securing and succassfully
completing engagements and managing our bushess properly, which could harm our business prospects and resulls of oparations.

Our Inability to hire and retaln talented people in an industry whera there is great compatition for talent could have a serious negative effect on our prospects
and results of operations.

Our business involves the delivery of professional services and is highly labar-intensive. Our success depends largely on our general ability to atiract, develop, motivate, and retain
highly skiled professionals, Further, we must successfully maintain the right mix of professionals with refevant experience and skil sets as we continue to grow, as we expand into
new service offerings, and as the market evolves, The loss of a significant number of our professicnals, the inabiity to attract, hire, develop, train, and ratain additional skiled
personnel, or faiure 10 maintain the right mix of professionals could have a serious negative affect on us, nduding our abiy to manage, staff, and successfully
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complete our existing engagements and obtain new engagements. Quaified professionals are in great demand, and we face significant competibon for both senier and junior
professionals with the requisite cradentials and experience. Our principal competition for talent comes from cther consufting firms and accounting firms, as well as from organizations
seaking to staff their Internal professional positions. Many of these compelitors may be able to offer significantly greater compensation and benefits or more attractive Iifestyle
choices, careser paths, or geographic locations than we do. Therefore, we may not be successful in attracting and relaining lhe skiled consuliants we require to condudt and expand
our operalions successfully. Increasing competition for these revenue-generating professionals may also significantly increase our labor costs, which could negatively affect our
margins and results of operations.

Additional hiring, departures, business acquisitions and dispositions could disrupt our operations, Increase our costs or otherwise harm our business.

Our business strategy is dependent in part upon our abilty to grow by hiring individuals or groups of individuals and by acquiring complementary businesses, However, we may be
unable to identily, hire, acquire, or succassfully integrate new employses and acquired businesses without substantial expense, delay, or other operational or financial obstacles.
From time to time, we will evaluate the total mix of services we provide and we may concluda that businesses may not achieve the results we previously expected. Compsiiion for
future hiring and acquiskion oppertunities in our markets coukd increase the compensation we offer to potential employess or the prices we pay for businesses we wish to acquire. In
addltion, we may be unable fc achieve the finandial, operational, and other benefits we anticipate from any hiring or acquisition, as well as any disposition, including thoss we have
completed so far. New acquisitions could also negatively impact existing practices and cause current employees to depart, Hiring additional employees or acquiring businesses could
akso involve a number of additional risks, including:

. the diversion of management's time, attention, and resources from managing and marketing our Gompany;

. the failure to refain key acquired personnel or existing personnel who may view the acquisition unfavorably;

. the potential boss of chents of acquired businesses;

. the need to compensate new employses while they wait for their restrictive covenants with cther institutions 1o expire;

. the potential need to raise significant amounts of capital to finance a transaction or the potential issuance of equity securtres that could be déutive to our existing
stockholkders;

' increased costs to improve, coordinate, or integrate managerial, operational, financial, and admmnistrative systams;

. the potential assumption of Rabiities of an acquired busness:

' the Inabiity to attain the expected synergies with an acquired busmess;

' 1he usage of earn-outs based on the future performance of our business acquisiions may deter the acquired company from fuly integrating into our existing business;

. the percaption of Inequalities i different groups of amployees ara eligible for different benefits and incentives or are subject to different policies and programs; and

difficulies in integrating diverse backgrounds and experiances of consuktants, inchuding if we experience a transition period for newly hired consuliants that results in a
temporary drop in our utilization rates or margins,

All of our acqulsitions have been accounted for as purchases, some of which Involved purchase prices well in excess of tangble asset values, resulting in the creation of a significant
amount of goodwil and other ntangible assets. Under generally accepted accounting principles, we do not amortize goodwill or intangible assets acquired in a business combination
that are determined to have indefinite useful lives, but instead review them annually {or more frequently if mpairment indicators arise) for impairment. To the extent that we
determine that such an asset has been impaired, we wil write down its camrying value on our balance shest and book a non-cash impairment charge in our statement of éarnngs.
If, as a rasult of acquisitions or otherwise, the amount of infangble assets being amorlized increasas, so will cur amortization charges in future periods.

Also, safing practicas and shutling down operations present similar challenges in a service business. Dispositions rol enly require management's time, but they can impair existing
refationships with clients or otherwise affect dient satisfaction, particularty in situations where the divestiture eliminates only part of the complament of consulling sericas providad fo
a cient. Dispositions may also involve continved financial involvement, as we may be required to retain responsbility for, or agree to indemnify buyers against, Eabilties related fo a
business sold. For example, in connaction with the sale of our Huron Legal segment to Consilio, Inc., which was compleled on December 31, 2015, we have confractually agreed to
ndemnify the buyer against certain abifties. If we fail to successfully address these risks, our ability to compete may be impaired and our results of operations may be adversaly
affected.
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Our goodwill and other Intanglble assets represant a substantial amount of our total assets, and we may be requlired to racognize a non-~cash Impalmment charge
for these assets If the performance of one or more of our reporting units falls below our expectations.

Our total assels reflect a substantial amount of intangible assets, primariy goodwill. At December 31, 2018, goodwil and other intangible assets totaled $693.1 milion, or 66%, of
our total assets. Goodwil results from our acquisitions, representing the excess of the fair vale of consideration transferred over the fair value of the net assets acquired. We test
goodwil for Impalrment at the reporting unit level, annually and whenever events or circumstances make & more kely than not that an impairment may have occurred, Intanglble
assets other than goodwil represent purchased assets that lack physical substance but can be distinguished from goodwill. Qur intangible assets primariy consis! of customer
relationships, trade names, customer contracts, technology and software, non-competition agreemants, and publishing content, all of which were acquired through business
combinations. We evaluate our Intangible assets for mpairment whenever events or changes n crcumstances indicate that the camying amount of the assets may not be
recoverable. No impairment charges for intangible assets werse recorded in 2017 and 2018,

During the year ended 2018, we did not record any non-cash goodwil mpairment charges. Pursuanl to our policy, we performed our annual goodwil imparment test as of
November 30, 2018 for our five reporting units with goodwill balances: Healthcare, Education, Business Advisory, Strategy and Innovation, and Life Sciences. We performed a
qualiative assessment over all reporting unds to determine if it was mora ikely than not the respective far values of these reporting units were less than their carrying amounts,
ncuding goodwil.

For our qualiathve assessment, we considered the most recent quantitative analysis performed for each reporting uni, which was as of November 30, 2017, ncuding the key
assumptions used within that analysis, the indicated fair values, and the amount by which those fair vakies exceeded therr carrying amounts. One of the key assumptions usad within
the prior quantiative analysts was our Internal financial projections; therefore, we considered the actual performance of each reporting unit during 2018 compared to the internal
financial projections used, as wel as specilic outlooks for each reporting unit based on our most recent internal finandal projections. We also considered the market-pased valuation
multipdes used in the market approach within our prior quantitative analysis, which were derived from guidsline companies, and noted that the valuation mukiples generally increased
over the past year. We akso reviewed the current carmying value of each reporting unit in comparison to the carrying values as of the prior quantitative analysis. In addtion, we
considerad various factors, incuiding macroecenomic conditions, relevant industry and market trends for each raporting unit, and other entity-speciic events, that coukd ndicate a
potential change in the fair value of our reporting units or the compasition of their carrying vakses. Based on our assessments, wa determined that it was more likely than not that
the falr values for sach of our reporting units exceedad thelr respective carmying amounts. As such, the goodwil for our reporting units was not considared impaired as of November
30, 2018, and a quantitative goodwil impairment analysis was not necessary. Furiher, we evaluated whether any events have occurred or any dreumstances have changed since
November 30, 2018 that would indicate goodwil may have become imparred since our annual impalrment test. Based on our avaluation as of December 31, 2018, we determined
that no indications of impainment have arisen sinca our annual goodwill mpairment test.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit requires us to make significant judgments, estimates, and assumptions. Whia we bekeve that the estimates and assumptions
undertying our valuation methodology are reasonable, these estimates and assumptions coukd have a signtflcant impact on whether or not a non-cash goodwll Impairment charge ks
recognized and also the magnitude of any such charge. The results of an impairment analysis are as of a point In time. There is no assurance that the actual future earnings or cash
flows of our reporting units will be consistent with our projections. We wil monitor any changes to our assumptions and wil evakiate goodwil as deemed warranted during future
perkods. Any significant dedine in our operations could result in addiional non-cash goodwil impairment charges,

During 2017, we recorded $253.1 milion of non-cash goodwil impairment chargaes. Of the $253.1 milion, $208.1 mMion related to our Healthcare reporting uni and $45.0 million
related lo our Enterprise Solutions and Analytics reporting unit which is nduded in our Business Advisory segment.

Refer to *Critical Accounting Policies™ within Part | - [tem 2. “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Oparations® and Note 4 “Goodwil and
Intanglble Assels™ wilhin the notes to our consolidated financial statements for furlher discussion of our business combinations, goodwil, intangible assets, and impaimment tests
performed in 2018 and 2017.

Changes In capital markets, legal or regulatory requirements, and gensral aconomic or other factors bayond our control could reduce demand for our services, in
which case our revenues and profitability could decline.

A number of factors outside of our control affect demand for our services. Thase inchude:

fluctuations in U.S. and glebal economies;

. the U.S. or global financial markets and the availability, costs, and terms of credit;
. changes in laws and regulations; and
. other economic factors and general business condiions.
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We are not able to predict the positive or negative effects that future events or changes to the U.S, or global economy, financial marksts, or regulatary and business environment
could have on our operations.

Changes In U.S. tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to ncome and other taxes in the U.S. at the slate and faderal level and also in foreign jurisdictions. Changes in applicable U.S. state, federal or foreign tax laws and
requtations, or ther nterpretation and application, coukd materially affect our tax expense and profitabiity.

On Decambar 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed into kaw the Tax Cuts and Jobs Acl {*2017 Tax Reform™), a tax reform bll which contains significant changes to
corporate taxation, incduding a reduction in the current corporate federal ncome tax rate from 35% to 21%, additional limitations on the tax deductibiliy of interest, substantial
changes to the taxation of foreign earnings, and madification or repeal of many business deductions and credits. The changes induded in the 2017 Tax Reform are broad and
complex. White our financial statements as of and for the year ended Decernber 31, 2018 refledt the mpacdt due to the 2017 Tax Reform, additional regulatory and nterpretive
quidance, as well as any statutory technical corrections that are subssquently enacted, may have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, results of operations, finandal
cordiion, as well as our effective income tax rate.

Future changes In tax laws, treaties or regulations, and their interpretation or enforcement, may be unpredictabls, particularly as taxing jurisdictions faca an increasing number of
political, budgetary and other fiscal challanges. Tax rates in the jurisdictions in which we operate may change as a resul of macroeconomic and other facters outside of our contro,
making & Increasmngly difficuk for multinational corporations Bke ourselves to operate with certainty about taxation in many jurisdictions. As a result, we could be materialy adversely
affected by future changes in tax law or policy {or h their iterpretation or enforcement) in the jurisdictions where we oparata, Incuding the Unlted States, which could have a
materkal adverse effect on our business, cash flow, results of opsralions, financial condition, as well as our effective income tax rate.

If we are unable to manage fluctuations in our business successfully, we may not be able to sustain profitablilty,

We have grown significantly since we commenced operations and have increased the number of our full-time professionals from 249 In 2002 to 3,269 as of December 31, 2¢18.
Additionally, our considerable growth has placed demands on our management and our internal systems, procedures, and controls and will continue to do so in the near future. To
succossfully manage growth, we must pariodically adjust and strengthen our operating, financial, accounting, and other systems, procedures, and controls, which could increase our
costs and may advarsely affect our gross profis and our abifty to sustain profitabiity f we do not generate increased revenues fo offset the costs. As a public company, our
nfermation and control syslems must enable us 1o prepare accurate and timely financial information and other required disclosures. If we discover deficiencies in our existing
information and control systems that Impede our abilty to satisfy our reporting requirements, we must successfully implement improvements to those systems in an efficient and
timaly manner.

Although we have generated positive eamings since we became a pubkc company, we may not sustain profitabiity in the future. Additionally, the nature of our services and the
general economic environment make it difficutt to predict our futura operating results. To sustain profitablity, we must:

. atfract, ntegrate, retain, and motivate highly qualified professionals;

' athieve and maintain adequate utfization and sukable biling rates for our revenue-generating professionals;

. expand our existing relationships with our cients and identify new dlients in need of our services;

. successfully resel engagements and secure new engagemsants every year,

. mantain and enhance our brand recognition; and

. adapt quickly to meet changes in our markats, our business mix. the ecanamic environment, the cradit markets, and competitive developments,

Our flnancial results could suffer if we are unable te achleve or maintain adequate utilization and suitable biling rates for our consultants, or f we are unabie to
dellver our services dus to natural disasters.

QOur profitability depends to a larga extent on the uliization and bling rates of our professionals, Utilzaticn of our profassionals is affected by a number of factors, induding:
the number and size of ckent sngagements;
. the timing of the commencement, completion and termination of engagements, which In many cases is unpredictable;
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. our abifly to transition our consuliants efficientty from completed angagements to new engagements;

. the hiring of additional consultants because thers is generally a transition period for new consukants that results in a temporary drop in our utiization rate:
. unanticipated changes in the scope of dient engagements;
. our ability to forecast demand for our senices and thereby maintain an appropriate level of consuttants; and

. conditions affecting the industries in which we practice as wel as general economic conditions.

The biling rates of our consultants that we are abls to charge are alkso affected by 8 number of factors, inchuding:
. our diants’ parcaption of our ability to add vakue through our services;

. the market demand for the services we provide;

an increass in the numbar of engagements in the governmant seclor, which are subjed to federal contracting requiations;

. ntroduction of new services by us or our competitors;
: our competition and the pricing pelicies of our competitors; and
' current economic conditions.

If we are unable to achieve and maintain adequate overall utization as wel as maintain or increase the biling rates for cur consukants, our finandial results coukd materially suffer.
In addition, our consultants oftentimes perform services at the physical locations of our dients. If there are natural disasters, disruplions lo travel and transportation or problems with
communications systems, our abifity to perform services for, and interact with, our clients at their physical locations may be negatively impacted which could have an advers eftect
on our business and results of oparations,

Our quarterly results of operations have fluctuated in the past and may continue to fluctuate In the future as a result of certain factors, some of which may be
outside of our control,

A key sloment of our sfrategy is to market our products and sarvices directly lo certain large organizations, such ag health systems and acute care hospitals, and o increase the
numbsr of our praducts and services utiized by exising dients. The sales tyde for some of our products and services is often lengihy and may involve significant commitment of
dlient personnel. As a consequance, the commencement date of a dient engagement often cannot be accurately forecasted. As discussed below, cartain of our dient contracts
contain terms that result in reverua that is deferred and cannot be recognized untl the occurrenca of cartain events. As a result, the period of time between contract eigning and
recognition of associated revenue may be lengthy, and we are not able to predict with certainty the period in which revenue wil be recognized.

Certain of our contracls provide that some portion or all of our fees are at risk If our services do not resull m the achievement of certain performanca targsts.

To Ihe exient that any revenue & contingent upon the achievemant of a performance target, we recognize such revenus using the foflowing steps: 1) estimate varlable
consideration using a probabiity-weighted assessment of the faes to be eamned, 2) apply a constraint to the estimated variable consideration 1o imil the amount thel could be
revarsed when the uncertamity is resolved, and 3} recognize revenue of estimated variable consideration, net of the constraint, based on work completed to-date versus our
estimates of the tofal services to be provided under the engagement. This 3-step process requires us to make significant management judgments, eslimates, and assumptions.
While we believe (hat the eslimates and assumptions we have used for revenue recogniion are reasonable, subsequent changes could have a malerial impadt to our fulure
financial results.

Fee discounts, pressure to not increase or even dearease our rates, and less advantageous contract terms could resuk in the loss of clents, fower revenues and operating income,
higher costs, and less prefitable engagements. More discounts or write-offs than we expedt in any period would have a negative impact on our results of operations.

Other fluciuations in our quartsrly rasults of operations may be due to a number of cther factors, some of which are not within our contrel, including:
. the timing and volume of client invalces processed and payments received, which may affect the feas payable to us under certain of our engagements;

. clent decisions regarding renewal or termination of their contracts;
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. the amount and timing of costs related to the development or acquisition of lechnologies or businesses; and
. unforesesn lagal expenses, Including itigation and other settlement gains of losses.

We base our annual employse bonus expense upon our expected annual adjusted eamings bafore interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (*EBITDA”) for that year. If we
experience lower adjusted EBITDA in a quarter withoul a corresponding change to our fulkyear adjusted EBITDA expectation, our estimated benus expanse will not be reduced,
which wil have a negative impact on our quarterly resuks of operations for that quarter. Qur quarterty resulis of operations may vary significantly and period-to-period comparisons
of our results of operations may not be meaningful. The results of one quarter shoukd not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. If our quartsrly results of operations
fal below the expediations of securibies analysts or mvestors, the price of our common stock could decline substanlialy.

Revenues from our performance-based engagements are difficult to predict, and the timing and extent of recovery of our costs is uncertaln.

We have engagement agreements under which our faes nciude a significant performance-based component. Performance-basad fees are contingent on the achievement of
specific measures, such as our dients meeling cost-saving or other contractually-defined goals. The achievement of thesa contractually-defined goals may be subject o
acknowledgment by the client and Is often impacted by factors outside of our control, such as the actions of the client or other third parties. To the extent that any revenue is
contingent upon the achlevement of a performance target, we recognize such revenue using the following steps: 1) estimate variable consideration using a probabiiity-weighted
assassment of Lhe fees lo be earned, 2) apply a constraint to the estimated variable consideration to limit the amounit that could be reversed when the uncertainty is resoved, and
3) recognize revenue of estimated variable consideration, net of the constraint, based on work compieted to-date versus our estimates of the tolal services to ba provided under the
engagement, This 3-step process requires us to make significant management Judgments, estimales, and assumptions. While we balieve that the estimates and assumplions we
have used for revenue racognition are reasonable, subsequent changes could have a material impad to cur fulure financial results, The percentage of our revenues derived from
performance-based fees for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, was §.1%, 4.9%, and 8.9%, respactively. A greater number of performance-based fee
arrangements may result In increased volatity i ayr working capial requirements and greater variations in our quarter-to~quarter results, which could affect the price of our
common slock. In addition, an ncreasa in the propartion of parformance-based fee arrangements may temporariy offset the posiive effect on our operating resuls from an
increase in our utilzation rate untd the related revenues are recognized,

The profitability of our fixed-fee sngagements with cllents may not meet our expactatlons  we underestimate the cost of these angagemants.

When making proposals for fied-fee engagements, we estimate the costs and timing for complating the engagemenls. These estimates reflect our best udgment regarding the
sfficiendies of our methodologies and consultants as we pian lo deploy them on engagements. Any increased or unexpected costs or unanticipated defays n conneclion with the
performance of fxed-fee engagsments, induding delays caused by factors outsids our control, could make these contracts less profitable or unprofitable, which would have an

adverse effect on our proft margin. For the years anded December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, fixed-fee engagements represented 47 4%, 46.7%, and 47.4% of our revenues,

respectively.

Our business Is becoming increasingly dependent on Information technology and will require additional Investments In order to grow and meet the demands of
our clients.

Woe depend on the use of sophisticated technologies and systems. Some of our practices provide services that are increasingly dependent on the use of software applications and
systems that we do not own and could become unavaiable. Moreover, our tachnology platforms will require continuing investments by us in order to expand existing sarvice
offerings and develop complementary services. Qur future success depends on our abiity lo adapt our services and infrastructure while continuing to improve the parformarice,
features, and refability of our services in response 1o the evolving demands of the marketplace.

Adverse changes to our relatlonshlps with key third-party vendors, or in the businass of our key third-party vendors, could unfavorably impact our business.

A portion of our servicas and solulions depend on technokogy or software provided by third-party vendors. Some of thess third-party vendors refer potential clients to us, and others
requre that we obtain their permission prior to accessing their software while performing sendces for our chents. These third-party vendars could terminata their relationship with us
without cause and with littke or no notice, which coukd kmit our service offerings and harm our finandial condition and operating results. In addition, if a third-party vendor's business
changes of & reduced, that could adversely affect our business. Moreover, if third-party lechnology or software that fs important o our business does not continue i be availabls or
utiizad within the marketplace, or  the servicas that we provide to clients Is no longer relevant in the marketplace, our business may be unfaverably mpacted.
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We could experience system failures, service interruptions, or security breachas that could negatively impact our business.

Qur organizafion is comprised of employeas who work on matters throughout the United States and oversaas. Our technology platform is a “virtual office” from which we al
operate. We may be subject to disruption to our operaling systems frem technology events that are beyond our control, induding the possibility of failures at third-party data centers,
disruplions 1o the Internet, natural disasiers, power losses, and malicious attacks. In addition, despie the implementation of security measures, our infrastruciure and operating
systems, incuding the Internet and related systems, may be vunerable to physical break-ins, hackers, improper smployes or contracior acoess, computer viuses, programming
errors, denial-of-service attacks, or other attacks by third parties seeking lo disrupt operations or misappropriate information or simitar physical or electronic breaches of security.
Whils we have taken and are taking reasonabls steps to prevent and mitigate the damage of such events, induding implementation of systam security measures, Information
backup, and disaster recovery procasses, those steps may not be effective and there can be no assuranca that any such steps can be efleciive against all possible risks. We wil
need to continue to lhvest in technology in order io achieve redundandes necessary fo prevent sarvice intarTuptions, Access to our systems as a result of a security breach, the
fature of our systems, or the loss of data coukd result in legal daims or proceedings, Eability, or regulatory penalies and disrupt operations, which could adversely affect our business
and financial resuls.

Our reputation could be damaged and we could Incur additlonal llabiRtles if we fafl to protect cllent and employee data through our own accord or If our
information systams are breached,

We rely on information technology systems 10 process, transmit, and store electronlc Information and to communicate among our locations around the world and with our clients,
partners, and employees. These locations indude Canada, the United Kingdom, Switzerland, Singapore, and India, al of which have their own eithar recently updated or potential
new data protection laws. The breadth and complextty of this nfrastructure increases the potential risk of secury breaches which could lead to potentlal unauthorized disclosure of
confidential information.

In providing services to clients, we may manage, utiize, and store sensiive or confidential dient or employee data, induding personal data and profected healh mformation. As a
resull, we are subjed o numerous kaws and regulations designed to protect this information, such as the U.S, federal and state laws governing the protaction of health or other
persenally ifentifiable information, induding the Heatth Insurance Portabity and Accounitability Act {HIPAA), and international laws such as the European Union's General Data
Protaction Regulaticn {GDPR), which became enforceable in 2018. In addition, many states, U.S. federal governmental autharities and nor-L).S, jurisdictions have adopled,
propossed or are considering adopting or proposing, additional data security and/or data privacy slatutes or regulations. Continued governmental focus on deta security and privacy
may lead to addiional legisiative and regulatory action, which could increase the complexity of doing business. The increased emphasis on information security and the requirements
to comply with apphcable U.S. and foraign data sacurity and privacy laws and regulations may ingreasa our costs of doing business and negatively impact our results of oparations.

These laws and requiations are increasing in complexity and number, If any parson, inclding any of our employees or third-party vendors, negligently disregards or ntentionaly
breaches our established controls or contractual obligations with respect to cent or employse data, or otherwise mismanages or misappropriates that data, we could be subject to
significant monetary damages. regulatory enforcemant actions, fines, and/for criminal prosecution, We maintain certain insurance coverages for cybersaecurity ncidents through our
directors and officers insurance policy, In amounts we believe to be reasonable and at a cost that ks induded n our general insurance prembums.

In addition, unauthorized disdosure of sensttive or confidential clent or employee dala, whether through systems failure, employee negligence, fraud, or misappropriation, could
damage our repuitation and cause us to kose cients and their related revanue in the future.

Our International expansion could result in additlonal risks.
We operate both domestically and intemationally, induding in Canada, Europe, Asia, and the Middie East. Akhough historically our international operations have been Imited, we

ntend to continus to expand nternationally. Such expansion may result in additional risks that are not present domestically and which could adversely affact our business or our
results of operalions, Inchuding:

. compkance with additional U.83, regulations and those of other nations apphcable to intemational oparations;

. culural and language differences;

. employment laws and rules and related social and cultural factors;

. losses related to start-up costs, lack of revenue, higher costs due to low utiization, and detays in purchase dacisions by prospective dients;

currency fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies, which are harder to predict in the current adverse global economic dimals;

. restrictions on (he repatriation of earnings;
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. potentially adverse 1ax consequences and imitations on our abilily lo uliize losses generated in our foreign operations;
. different regulatory requiremants and other barriers to conducting business;
different or less stable poktical and economic anvironmants;
. greater personal security risks for employees traveling to or located in unstable locations; and
. civil disturbances or other catastrophic evants.

Further, conducting business abroad subjacts us to increased regulatory compliance and oversight. For example, n connection with aur international operations, we are subject to
laws prohibiting certain payments to governmental officials, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. A falura to comply with applicable regulations could result in regulatory
enforcement actions as well as substantial civil and criminal penalties assessed against us and our employees.

Our obligatiens under the Amended Credlt Agreement are secured by a pledge of certain of the equity interests in our subsidlaries and a llen on substantially all
of our asgets and those of our subskilary grantors. If we default on these obligations, our lenders may foreclose on our assets, Including our pledged equlty
Interest in our subsidlaries.

We entered nlo a second amended and restated security agreement wilh Bank of America {the “Security Agreement”) and a second amended and restated pledge agreement
{the *Pledge Agreement’} in connection with our entry mto the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2015 {as amended and restated, the
*Amended Credit Agreement”). Pursuant to the Securily Agreement and to secure our obligations under the Amended Credi Agreement, we granted our lenders a first-priority
ken, subject to permitted Bens, on subslantiafy af of the personal property assets that we and the subsidiary granlors own. Pursuant to the Pledge Agreement, we granted our
lenders a security interest in 100% of the voting stock or other equity interests in our domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the voting stock ar other equity nterasts in certain of our
foreign subsidiaries. |f we defautt on our obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement, our lenders could accelerate our ndebtedness and may be able to exercise their kens
on the equity interests subject to the Pledge Agreement and ther fens on substantialy aF of our assets and the assets of our subsidiary grantors, which would have a material
adverse effedd on our business, operations, financial condition, and iquidity. In addition, the covenants contained in the Amended Credil Agreement impose restrictions on our abilty
to engage in certain activiies, such as the incurrence of additional Indebtedness, certain investments, certain acquisitons and disposttions, and the payment of dividends.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fund our oparations and obligatlons, expose us to interest rate risk to the extent
of our variable-rate debt, and adversely affect our financial results.

At December 31, 2018, we had outstanding indebtedness of $250 millon principal amount of cur 1.25% convertible senior notes due October 1, 2019, $50.0 milion on our revoling
fine of credi that becomes due and payable in full upon maturily on March 23, 2023, and $4.4 milion principal amount of cur promissory note due March 1, 2024_ Our ability to
makse scheduled payments of the prindipal, to pay interest, to make payments upon conversion, or to refnance our ndebtedness, depends on our future performance. Our business
may ot continué to generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient fo satisfy our obligations under our current indebtedness and any future ndebtedness we may neur
and lo make necessary capitat expenditures, If we are unable 1o generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as reducing or delaying
nvestments o capilal expenditures, seling assets, refinancing, or obtaining additional equity capkal on terms that may be onercus or highly diutve. Our abiity to refinance our
current indebtedness or future indabtedness wil depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time, We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or
engage n these aclivities on desirable terms, which could resukt in a defauk on the current indebiedness or future ndebtedness.

In addition, our indebledness, combined with our other finandal obligations and contractual commiments, coukl have ather imporiant consequences. For example, il could;

. expose us to the risk of inkreased interest rates because some of our borrowings are at variable Interest rates;

. make us more vulnarable o adversa changes in general U.S. and workiwide econemic, industry, and competitive conditions and adverse changses in government
regulation;

' fimit our abifity to cbtain additional financing and flextbity in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry;

, place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors who have less debt or have better access to capital resources; and

. require us to dedicate a larger portion of our cash from operations to service our indebtedness and thus reduce the kevel of cash for other purposas such as funding

working capital, strategic acquisitions, capital expenditures, and other genaral corporate purposes.
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Any of these factors could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, if we incur additional ndebledness, the risks refated
to our business and our abiity fo service or repay our ndebtedness would increase.

The accounting method for convertible debt securitles that may he setthed in cash, auch as our convertlble notes, could have a material effect on cur reported
financial results.

Under GAAP, an entity must separately account for the debt component and the embedded conversion option of convertible debt instruments that may be settled entirely or partialy
I cash upon conversion, such as our convertible noles, in a manner that reflects a company’s sconomic interest cost. The effect of the accounting treatment for such instruments is
that the vakue of such embedded conversion option would be trealed as an original issue discounl for purposes of accounting for the debt component of the notes and that originel
issue discount s amortized into interest expense over the term of the notes using an effective yield method. As a resull, over the term of our convertible notes, we will iitially be
required to record a greater amount of non-cash interast axpense. Accordingly, we will report lower net income In our financial rasulls because of the racognition of both the current
period's amortization of the debt discount and our convertible notes' coupon interest, which could adversely affect our reparted or future financial results, the frading price of our
commeon stock, and the frading price of our convertible notes.

Under certain creumstances, the shares of common stock underlying convertible debt instrumants (such as our convertible notes) thal may be settied entirely or partially n cash are
reflected in earnings per share utlizing the treasury stock method, the effect of which i that such shares of common stock are not induded in the calculation of diuted eamings per
share except to the extent that the conversion vakwe of the noles exceeds therr principal amount at the end of the reporting perlod. Under the treasury stock method, for diuted
eamings per share purpases, our convertible notes are accounted for as if the number of shares of common stock that would be necessary to settie such excess, if we alecled to
settie such excess in shares of common stock. are 1ssued. The accounting standards in the future may not continue to permit the use of the freasury stock method. If we are unable
to use the treasury stock method in accounting for the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of our convertible notes, then our dikited earnings per shara couid ba
adversely affected.

We may not have the ablllty to raise the funds necessary to pay the amount of cash due upon conversion of our convertible notes, If relevant, or the fundamental
change repurchase price due when a holder submits tts convertible notes for repurchase upon the occumenca of a fundamental change, and our debt may
contain limitations on our ability to pay cash upon conversion or required repurchase of our convartible notes.

Upon the occurrendce of a fundamental change as definad in the Indentura governing our convertible notes, holders of our convartible notes may require us to rapurchase, for cash,
al or a portion of their convertble notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of thelr principal amount, phus acerued and unpald interest, If any. In addltion, upon conversion of our
convertible notes, we wil ba required to make cash payments in respect of our convertible notes belng converted, induding if the conditional conversion feature of our convertibla
notes is triggared, unlass we elect to defver sololy shares of our common stock to settie such conversion.

We may not have sufficient financial resources, or may be unable to arrange finanding, to pay the fundamental change repurchase price if holders of our convertible notes submit
their convertible notes for purchase by us upon the occurrence of a fundamental change or ta pay the amount of cash (i any} dus if holders of our convertible notes surrender ther
convertible notes for converson. In addition, the oceurrence of a fundamental change may cause an avent of default under agreements governing our or our subsidiarkes’
ndebtedness. Agreements governing any of our future debt may restrict our ablty to make each of the required cash payments even if we have suffident funds to make them.
Furthermaore, our abiity to purchase our comveriible notes or to pay cash (if any) due upon the conversion of our convertible notes may be Imited by law or regulatory authorilies., In
addition, f we {ail lo repurchase our convertible noles or to pay the amount of cash (if any) due upon conversion of our convertible notes, we will be it defaull under the indenture,
A defauk under the indenture or the fundamental change isetf could also lead 1o a defauk under agreements governing our other indebtedness, which in tum may result in the
acceteration of such other indsbtedness we may then have outstanding. f the repayment of the other indebtedness were to be accelerated, we may not have sufficent funds to
repay that indebtedness and to repurchase our convertlble notes or to pay the amount of cash (if any) due upon conversion,

The fundamental change provisions assoclated with our convartlble notes may delay or prevent an otherwise beneflclal takeover attempt of us.
The fundamental change purchase rights, which wll akyw holders of our convertible notes to reguire us to repurchase all or a portion of thelr convertible notes upon the occurrence

of a fundamental change, and the provisions requiring an increase to the conversion rate for conversions in connection with certain other circumstances may delay or prevent a
1akeover of us that might otherwise be benefical to investors.
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The convertlble note hedge transactions and the warrant fransactions may affect the value of our cenvertible notes and our common stock.

In connection with the pricing of our convertible noles, we entered inito privately negotiated convertible note hedge transactions with afffiates of Merrill Lynch, Prerce, Fanner &
Smith Incorporated and J.P, Morgan Securities as hedge counterpariies. The convertible note hedge transactions collectively cover, subject lo customary anli-diution adjustments,
the number of shares of common stock that initially underie our convertible notes. We alse entered into separate privately negotiated warrant transactions with the hedge
counterparties relating to the same number of shares of our common stock, subject to customary anti-dilution adjrstments.

We expact that the hedge counterparties and/or therr affiiates may modfy their hedge positions with respect to the convartible note hedge transactions and the warrant ransactions
from time to time by purchasing and/or seling shares of cur common stock and/er our convertible noles in privately negotiated transactions and/or open market transactions or by
entering into and/or unwinding various over-the-counter derivative fransactions with respect to our common stock. This activity could also cause or prevent an ncrease or decrease
in the market value of cur common stock. In addition, the hedge counterpartios and/or therr affiiates may cheose to engage In, or o discontinue engaging in, any of these
fransactions with or without notice at any lime, and ther decisions will be in therr sole discretion and nol within our control

The hedge counterparties are financial institutions which will ba subject to the risk that one or both of the hedge counterpartles might defauli under their respective convertible note
hedge transactions. Upon a defauk by any hedge counterparty, we may suffer adversa tax consequences and more diution than we currently anticipate with respact to our
common stock. We can provide no assurances as 1o the financial stabilty or viability of the hedge counterparties.

Our Intellectual property rights in our "Huron Consulting Group” name are Important, and any Inability to use that name could negatively Impact our abllity to
bulld brand identity.

We bekeve that establshing, maintaining, and enhancing the “Huren Consulting Group™ name and "Huron® brand is important to our business. We are, however, aware of a
number of other companies that use names cantaking *Huren.” There could be potential trade name or servica mark Infringement daims brought against us by the users of these
similar names and marks and those users may have trade name or servics mark righis thal are senior 10 ours, If another company were to successfully challenge our right to use
our name, of if wa were unable to prevent a compelitor from using a name that is similar to our nama, our ability lo build brand identity could be negatively mpacted.

Our busineas performance might not be sufficient for us to meet the full-year financlal guidance that we provide publicly.

We provide full-year financial guidance to the public based upon our expeclations regarding our financial performance. While we believe that our annual financial guidance provides
investors and analysts with insight fo our view of the Company's future perfermance, such financial guidance is based on assumptions that may not abways prove to be accurate and
may vary from actual results, if we fai to meet the full-year finandal guidance that we provide, of if we find i necessary to revise such guidance during the year, the market value of
our common stock could be adversaly affectad.

Expanding our service offerings or number of offices may not be profitable.

We may choose to develop new service offerings, open new offices, or elmmate service offerings bacausae of markst opportunitles or cient demands. Developing new sarvice
offerings involves inharent risks, nduding:

. our inabiity to estimate demand for the new service offerings;
. compstition from more established market participants;
a lack of market understanding; and
. unanticipated expenses to recruit and hire qualified consultants and to market our new senvice offerings.

In addition, expanding into new geographic areas and expanding current service offerings is challenging and may require integrating new employees into our cukure as well as
asyessing the demand in the appicable market. If we cannot manage the risks assaciated with new service offerings or new locations effectively, we are unlkely to be successful n
these efforts, which could harm our ablity to sustain profitability and our business prospaects.

The healthcare industry is an area of signiflcant focus for our business, and factors that adversely affect the financial condition of the healthcare Industry could
consequently affect our business.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from dlients in the healfthcare ndustry. As a result, our finandial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by
conditions affecting the healthcare industry generally and hospials and heakth sysiems particularly. The healthcare industry is highly regulated and is subject lo changing pofitical,
legislative, regulatory, and other influences. Uncertainty in any
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of these areas coukd cause our chents to delay or postpone decisions fo use our services. Existing and new federal and siate laws and regulations affecting the healthcare industry
could create unexpected liabilties for us, could cause us or our clients to incur additional costs, and could restrict our or our chents' operations. Many healthcare laws are complex
and therr application to us, our cients, or the specific servicas and relationships we have with our clients are not akways clear. In addition, federal and state legislatures have
periodically introduced programs 1o reform or amend the .S, healthcare system at both the federal and state level, such as the Patient Protection and Affordable Care At and the
Health Care and Education Reconcliation Act of 2010, and continue to consider further signdficant reforms. Due fo the significant implementation issuss arising under these laws
and potential new legisation, it is unclear what long-term effacts thay will have on the heakthcare industry and in turn on our busness, financial condition, and results of operations.
Our failure to accurately anticipate the appheation of new laws and regulations, or our fadure to comply with such laws and regulations, could create liabity for us, result in adverse
publicity and negatively affect our business.

There are many factors that could affect the purchasing practices, operations, and, ullimately, the operating funds of heakthcare organizations, such as reimbursement poficies for
healthcare expensas, faderal and state budgetary considerations, consolidation in the healthcare Indusiry, and regulation, igation, and general economic conditions. In particular,
we could be required to make unplanned madifications of our products and senvices (which would require additional time and Investment) or we could suffer reductions in demand
for our products and servces as a result of changes in regulations affecting the heakthcare industry, such as changes in the way that heafthcare organizations are paid for their
sarvices (e.0., based on patient cutcomes instead of services provided). Furthermore, as a result of the 2016 election and the new presidential administration, there is an increased
unceriainty surrounding the fulure of the Affordable Care Act and the regulation of the healthcare industry, and therefors healthcare organtzalions may watt to buy serices such as
ours until the regulatory environment ks more cartain.

In addilion, stale tax suthorities have challenged the tax-exempt status of soma hospitels and other healthcare faciies daiming such status on the basis that they are operating as
charitable and/fof refigous organizations, 1 the tax-exempt status of any of our chenls is revoked or compremised by new legislation o nterpretation of existing legistation, that
dient's financlal haalth could be adversety affected, which couki adversely mpact demand for our servdces, our sales, revenus, financial condition, and results of oparations.

Our abllity te maintain and attract new business and talented parsonnel dapends upon our reputation, the professional reputation of ocur revenue-generating
employees, and the quality of our sarvices.

As a professional services firm, our ability to secure new engagsments and retaln and attract fakented personnel dapends heavly upon our reputation and the individual reputations
of our professionals. Any faclor that diminishas our reputation or that of our employees, nduding nol mesting ciient expectations or misconduct by our employees, could make it
substantially more difficult for us to attract new engagements, clents, and employees. Simiarly, because we obtain many of our new engagements from former or current dients or
from raferrals by those cients or by law firms that we have worked with in the past, any dient that questions the qualty of our work or that of our consukants could impalr our ability
to secure additional new engagements and dlientls.

A signiflcant portlon of our revenues Is derived from a limited number of cllents, and our engagement agreaments, Including thosa related to our largest clients,
can be terminated by our cllents with little or no notice and without penalty, which may cause eur operating results to be unpredictable and may result in
unexpected declines in our utilizatlon and revenues.

As a consulting frm, we have derived, and expedt to continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenues from a imited number of dients. Our 10 largest dients accounted for
approximately 20.1%, 19.5%, and 28.8% of our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively. No single dlent accounted for more than 10% of
our revenues in 2018, 2617, or 2016, Our clents typically retain us on an engagement-by-engagement basis, rather than under fixed-term contracts. The volume of work
performed for any particular chent is kely to vary from year to year, and a major cient in one fiscal period may not requirs or may dacide not to use our services in any subsaquent
fiscal pariod. Moraovar, a large portion of aur new engagements comes from existing cients. Accordingly, the falure to obtain new large engagements or multiple engagements
from existing or new clients could have a material adverse effect on the amount of revenues we generate.

In addition, amost all of our engagement agreements can be terminated by our chenls with Bttie or no notice and without penafty. In dient engagements that involve muttiple
engagements or stages, thera is a nsk that a dient may choose not to retain us for additional stages of an engagemant or that a cient wil cancel or delay additional planned
engagements. For dlients in bankruptcy, a bankruptcy court could elect not to retain our interim management consultants, tarminate our retention, require us to reduca our fees for
the duration of an engagsment, or elect nol to approve claims against fees earned by us prior 1o or after the bankruptey fiing.

Terminations of engagements, cancellations of pertions of the project plan, delays n the work schedule, of reductions h fees could result from factors unrelated to our services,
When engagements are terminated or reducsd, we lose the assodiated fufure revenues, and we may not be able to recover associated costs or redeploy the affected employess in
a timely manner to minimize the negative impact. In addition, our dients’ ability to terminate angagements with ktle or no notice and without penatty makes t dificult to predict our
oparating results In any particular fiscal period.
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Our engagements could result in professional llability, which could be very costly and hurt our reputation.

Qur engagements typically nvolve complex analyses and the exercise of profassional udgment. As a result, we are subject to the risk of professional kabiity. From time to time,
lawsuits with respedt 1o our work are pending. Litigation allaging that we parformed negligantly or breached any other obligations could axpase us to significant legal kabilities and,
regardiess of outcome, is often very costly, could distract our management, could damage our reputation, and could harm our financial condition and operating results. In addition,
certan of our engagements, induding interim management engagements and corporate restructurings, nvolve greater risks than other consulting engagements, We are nol always
able to include provisions in our engagement agreements thal are designed lo limit our exposure to legal claims relating 10 our services, While we attempl Lo identify and mitigate
our axposure with respect to kabRity arising out of our consulling engagements, these efferts may be ineffective and an actual or aleged error or omission on our part or the part of
our chent or other third parties in one or more of our engagements could have an adverse impact an out financial condtion and resulls of operations. In addition, we carry
professional bty msurance to cover many of these fypes of daims, but the policy limils and the breadth of coverage may be nadequata to cover any particular claim or all daims
plus the cost of legal defense. For exampla, we provide services on angagements in which the impact on a cient may substantially exceed the imits of cur errors and omissions
Insurance coverage. |f we are found to have prafessional liabiity with respact o work performed on such an engagament, we may not have suffiient insurance to cover the entire
liabikty.

The consulting services Industry Is highly competitive and we may not be able to compete effect|vely.

Tha consulting servicas industry in which we operate ncludes a large number of participants and is intensely competitive, We face compstition from other business operations and
financial consuking firms, genaral management consulting firms, the consulting practices of major accounting firms, regional and specialty consulting firms, and the internal
professional resources of organizations. In addltion, because there are relatively low barriers to antry, we expect to continue to face additional competifion from new entrants nto
the business operations and finandal consulting indusiries. Competition in saveral of the sectors in which we operate is parlicukrly Intense as many of our competitors are seeking
to expand their market share in these sectors, Many of our competitors have a greater national and international presence, as wel as have a significantly greater number of
personnel, financial, technical, and marketing resources. In addition, thess competitors may genarate greater revenues and have greater name recognition than we do. Some of
our compelitors may also have lower overhead and other costs and, therefore, may be able to more effectively compete through lower cost senvce offerings. Our ability to compete
also depends in part on the ability of our competitors to hire, retain, and motivate skiled professionals, the price at which others offer comparable services, the ability of our
compstiors to offer new and vakuable products and services to cients, and our competitors' responsiveness to ther dients, if we are unable to compete successfully with our
axisting compatitors or with any new competitors, our financial results wil be adversaly affeclad.

Conflicts of Interest could preclude us from accepting engagements thereby causing decreased utilization and revenues,

We provide servicas in connection with bankruptey and other proceedings that usually involve sensitive dllent information and frequently are adversarial. In connection with
bankruptcy proceedings, we are required by kaw fo be "disinterested" and may noi be abke to provide multiple services to a particular dient. In addition, our engagement agreement
with a client or other business reasons may preckide us from accepting engagements from time to time with the dient's competitors or adversaries. Moreover, in many mdustries in
which we provide senices, thers has been a continuing trand toward business consoldations and strategic allances. These consofidations and aliances reduce the number of
companies that may seek our services and narease the chances that we will be unable to accept new engagements as a result of conflicts of interast, If we are unable 1o accept
new engagements for any reasen, our consuktants may become underutiized, which would adversely affect our revenues and results of operations in future periods.

ITEM 1B, UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None,

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES,

As of December 31, 2018, our principal axecutive offices in Chicago, 1linois, consisted of approximalely 134,000 square feet of office space, under a lease expiring Seplember
2024. We have one five-year renawal oplion that wil allow us o continue to occupy this office space untd September 2029. This fadility accommodates our executive team and
corporate departments, as wel as professionals in our practices, Additionaly, we occupy leased fadities for our other domestic and international offices, including those located in
the folowing citles: Boston, Massachusetts; Buffalo, New Yark: Dalas, Texas; Denver, Colorado; Defreit, Michigan; Houston, Texas; Madison, Wisconsin, New York City, New York;
Pensacoka, Florida; Portiand, Oregon; San Francsco, Calfornia; Washington, D.C.; Bangalore, India; London, United Kingdom; Lausanne, Switzertand, Singapore: S1. Ives, United
Kingdom; and Toronto, Canada, We do not cwh any real property. We believe that our leased faciities are adequata to meet our current needs and that additional fagiities are
avaiable for lease to meet future needs.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

From tima to time, we are Involved In legal proceedings and Kigation arksing In the ordinary course of business. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not a
party to any Bigation or legal proceeding that, in the turrent epinion of management, could have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of eperations.
However, due to the risks and uncertainties inherent in legal proceedings, actual results could differ from current expedled results,

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSLRES,

Not applkeabls,
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PART I
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES,

Market Informatlon

Our common stock is traded an The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "HURN.” As of February 19, 2019, there were 392 registered holders of record of Huron's
common stock. A number of Huron's stockholders hold their shares in street name; therefore, the Company believes that there are substantially more beneficial owners of its
common stock.

Dividends

Wa have not dedared or paid dividends on our common stock since we became a public company. Our board of directors re-gvaluates this policy periodicaly. Any determination to
pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of the board of directors and wil be dependent upon our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, terms of our
financing arrangements, and such othsr factors as the board of directors deems relevanl. In addiion, the amount of dividerds we may pay is subjed Lo the restricted payment
provisions of our senior secured credit faciity. See the Liquidity and Capital Resources sedtion under Part ll—ltem 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Rasults of Operations” for further information on the restricted payment provisions of our senlor secured credi faciity.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by this tem appaars under Hem 12. *Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Relaled Stockholders Matters™ included
ekawhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Purchases of Equity Securltiss by the Issuer and Afflliated Purchasers

Our Stock Ownership Participation Program, 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan, and 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan, which was replaced by the 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan, permit the
netting of cormmon stock vpon vesting of restricted stock awards to safisfy individual tax withholding requirements. During the quarter ended December 31, 2018, we reacquired
1,857 shares of common stock with a weighted average far market value of $51.76 as a result of such tax withhokdings.

We currently have & shars repurchase program pursuant to which we may, from time 1o time, repurchase up to $1286 millen of our commen stock and which expires on October 31,
2018 (the "Share Repurchase Program®}. The amount and timing of the repurchases wil be determined by management and wil depend on a variety of factors, induding the
trading prica of our common stock, capacity under our ina of credtt, general markat and business conditions, and applicable legal requirements.

The following table provides information with respect to purchases we made of our common stock during the fourth quarter of 2018,

Dollar Value of

Total Number of Shares that May Yet Be
Total Number Shares Purchased as Part of Purchased
of Shares Average Price Publicly Announced Plans or under the Plans or
Period Purchased " Pald Per Share Programs Programs @
October 1, 2018 - October 31,2018 - - | 80§ 49.40 L T 35,143,546
November 1, 2018 ~ November 30, 2018 ‘ - 3 - _ — 4 35,143,546
‘December 1, 2018 - Decembar 31, 2018 5 1797 $ 51,83 L — 8 35,143,546
Total 1857 § 51.76 —
(1} The numbsr of shares repurchased for each period represents shares to satisfy smployee tax withholding requirements. These shares do not reduce the repurchase
authority under the Share Repurchase Program.

{2) As of the end of the period.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

Woa have derived the folowing selected consolidated financial data as of and for the years ended December 31, 2014 through 2018 from our consolidated financial siatemants. The
folowing data reflects the business acquisitions that we have completed through December 31, 2018. Tha resuks of operations for acquired businesses have been induded in our
results of oparations since the date of their acquisitions. See Note 3 "Acquisitions™ within the nofes to our consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding our
acquisitions. The fokowing data also reflects the dassification of discontinued operations.

The nformation set forth below is not necessarily indicative of the resukts of future operations and should be read in conjunction with ltem 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Finandal Condltion and Results of Cpsrations™ and the Consolidated Flnanclal Statements and related notes incuded elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Consolidated Statements of Operations Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data): 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Revenues and reimbursable expenses:
Revenues & 795125 § 732570 0§ 726272 § 6O9010 § 627686
Reimbursahle expenses 82,874 75175 71,7112 70,013 73,847
Total revenuss and reimbursable expenses 877,999 B07.745 797,984 769,023 701,533
Direct costs and reimbursable expanses (exdusive of depraeciation and amorlization
shown in operating expenses)
Direct costs 521537 454 806 437.558 401,915 384,277
Amortization of intangible assets and software development costs 4247 10,932 15,140 16,788 4580
Reimbursable axpenses 829273 75,436 74,749 89,932 73,855
Total direct costs and reimbursable expenses 608,707 541,174 524 445 488,635 462,722
Operating expenses and other losses (galns), net:
Sefing, general and adminksiralive expenses 180.983 175,364 160,204 157,902 132,799
Restructuring charges 3657 6,246 9,592 3329 281
Other losses (gains}, net (2019 111 (1,990) (9.476) (590)
‘Depredation and amortization ™! 34,575 38,213 31,498 25,135 15,451
Goodwill impairment charges — 253,093 - - —
Total operating expenses and other iosses (gains}, net 217,196 474,027 199,305 176,890 150,471
Operating ncome (loss) 52,096 (207 456) 74234 103,498 88,340
Other [ncome (expenss), net:
Interast expense, net of interest income (19.013) (18,613) {16,274) (18,136} (8,679}
Other income {expenss), nat (7,862) 3,565 1197 {1,797) 400
Total other expense, net (26,875} (15,048) {15,077 (18,933} {8,279)
Income (loss) from continuing opsrations before taxes 25221 (222 ,504) 59,157 83,565 80,061
Income tax expense (benef) 11,277 (51,999) 19,677 21,670 33,059
Net income (koss) from continuing operations 13.944 {170.,505) 39,480 61,895 47,002
Income (loss) from disconfineed operations, net of tax (298) 388 (1,863) (2.843) 32,049
Net Income (loss) $ 13646 &8  (170,117) 3 37617 § 59052 % 79,051
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Consalldated Statements of Operations Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, excapt per share data): 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Net earnings {(loss) per basic share:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations - $ 064 S . (795 $ 187 § 280 § 210
Income {loss) from discontinuad aperations, net of tax (0.01) 0.02 (0.09} (0.13) 142
! Netincome (loss) ' 5 063 $ (783 § 178 § 267 $ 3.52
Net earnings (loss) per diuted share:
Net income (bss) from continuing operations $ 0.-6"37 $ - (7.9_5). S 1.84 42714 3§ 205
Income (loss) from discontinuad operations, net of tax (001 002 (0.08} (0.13) 140
~ Netincome (loss) | | $ 062 § (793 $ 176 $ 261 $ 345
Weighted average shares used in cakulaling net earnings (bsé) per share:
i Bask _ 24706 21439 21,084 22,138 22431
Diksted - 22,058 21,439 21424 22600 22,925
Consolldated Balance Sheet Data As of December 31,
{in thousands): 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
(Cash and cash equivalents $ 3107 § 16,909 $ 17027 § 58437 § 256872
Working capial @ 3 (185.374) § 51828 % 44314 § 96966 § 307978
Totalsssels § 1049532 5 1036928 §. 1153215 § 1150543 § 1148475
Long-term debt, nat of current portion $ 53853 § 342507 § 292065 $ 307316 § 320,413
Total stockhokders’ equity § 540624 § 503316 § . 648033 § 652325 5 600,634
(N Intangible asset amortization relating to customer confracts, certain dient refationships, and software and amortization of software development costs are presanted as

a componant of fofal direct costs. Depreciation and intangible assets amortization not ciassified as direct costs are presented as a component of operating xpanses,

(2) Qur Convertible Notes with a principal amount of $250.0 million outstanding at December 31, 2018 will mature on October 1, 2019 and are dessified as short-term
debt on our consclidated balance sheat, We expect to refinance the outstanding notes at maturity with the borrowing capacity avaiable under our revohing credit
laciity. Refer to the "Liquidily and Capital Resources™ seclion under Part |l—liem 7. "Managament's Discussion and Analyss of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations™ and Note 6 *Financig Arrangements® within the notes to our consoidated finandial statements for more information on our outstanding borrowings.

(3 Wa have not declared or paid dividends on our common stock in the periods presented above. See ltem 5. "Markat for Registrant's Common Equity, Related
Stockholdar Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Sacurities—Dividends.”
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuffs of Oparations ("MD&A") shouid ba read in conjunction with the information under Part i—ttem 6.
*Selected Financial Data,” and our Consoldated Financial Statements and related notes appearing under Part Il—Hem 8. "Financial Statements snd Supplementary Data.” The
fodowing MD&A contains forward-iooking statements and nvolves numerous risks and uncertanties, mchiding, without kmilation, thoss described under Part I—ftem 1A, "Risk
Factors® and “Forward-Looking Statements” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Actual resulis may differ materialy from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

OVERVIEW

Huron is a global consukancy that helps dlients drive growth, enhance parformance and sustain keadership in the markets they serve, We pariner with cents to devalop strategias
and implement solutions that enabla the transformative change our cients need to own ther future.

We provide our services and manage our business under three operating segments: Heakhcare, Business Advisory, and Education. See Part I—tem 1, "Business—Cverview—Our
Services” and Note 18 *Segment Information” within the notes to our consakdatad financial statements for a discussion of our three segments.

How We Generate Revenues

A large portion of our revenues is generated by our fulHime consukants who provide consuking services to our dients and are bilable to our chents based on the number of hours
worked. A smaler portion of our revenues Is generated by our other professlonals, also referred to as fulk-time equivalents, some of whom work variable schedules as needed by
our cients, Ful-time equivalent professionals consist of our keadership coaches and therr support staff from our Studer Group solution, specializad fmance and operational
consuktants, and our employaes who provide software support and maintenance servicas t¢ our cients, We translate the hours that these other professionals work on chent
engagements into a ful-time equivalent measyre that we use to manage our busness. We refer o our full-time consukants and other professionals colectively as revenue-
generating professionals.

Revenues generatad by cur ful-ime consultants are primarily driven by the number of consuliants we employ and their utiization rates, as well as he biing rales we charge our
dlients. Revenues generated by our other professionals, or ful-time equivalents, are largely dependent on the number of consultants we employ, thelr hours worked, and biling
rafes charged. Revenues generated by our coaches are largsly dependent on the number of coaches we employ and the tolal value, scope, and terms of the consutting contracts
under which they provide services, which are primariy fixed-fee contracts.

We generate our revenues from providing professional services under four types of blling arrangements: fued-fae (Including software license revenue), time-and-expense,
performance-based, and software supporl and maintenance and subscriptions.

In fored-foe biling arrangerents, we agree to a pre-established fae in exchange for a predeterminad set of profassional services. Wa set the fess based on our estimales of the
costs and timing for completing the engagements. It is the ciant's expeciation in these engagaments that the pre-established fee will not be exceeded except in mutually agreed
upon creumstances, We generally recognize revenues under fxed-fee bling arrangements using a propertionate parformance approach, which is based on work completed to-
date versus our estimates of the total services to be provided under the engagement. Contracts within our Studer Group solution indude fixed-fee partner contracts with muliple
performance obiigations, which primarity consist of coaching services, as well as speaking engagements, conferences, publications, and software products (*Pariner Confracts™),
Revenues for coaching servicas and software products are genarally recognized on a straight-ine basis over the length of the contract. All other revanues under Partner Contracts,
including speaking engagements, conferences, and publications, are recognized al the time the goods or services are provided.

Fixed-fee arrangements akso mduds software licenses for our revenue cyce management software and research administration and comphance softwara, Licenses for our revenus
cycle management software are sold only as a component of our consulfing projedts, and the services we provide are esseniial lo the functionality of the software. Therefore,
revenues from these software licenses are recognized over the term of the related consulting services contract. License revenue from our research adminisiration and compiiance
software is generally recognized in the month In which the software is delvered.

Fieed-fee engagements represanted 47.4%, 46.7%, and 47.4% of our revenues for the years ended Decamber 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.

Time-and-expense biling arangements require the dient fo pay based on the number of hours worked by our revenue-gensrating profassionals at agreed upon rates. Time-and-
expense arrangements also indude cartain spaaking engagements, conferences, and publications purchased by our cients outside of Partner Contracts within our Studer Group
sotion. We recognize revenues under time-and-expense biling arrangsmenls as the related sarvices or publicalions are prowded. Time-and-expense engagements represented
41,2%, 43.0%, and 38.7% of our revenues In 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.
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In performance-based fee biling arrangemants, fess are tisd lo the attainmenl of contractually defined objectives. We enter info performance-based engagemsants n essentially two
forms. First, we generally eam fess that are directly related to the savings formaly acknowledged by the cient ag a result of adopiing our recommendations for mproving
oparational and cost effectivenass in the areas we review. Second, we have performance-based engagements in which we eam a success fee when and f cartain predefined
outcomes occur. Often, performance-based fees supplement our fime-and-expense o fixed-fee engagements. Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted ASC 606, Revenue from
Coniracts with Customers, on a modified retrospeciive basis and began recognizing revenuss under parformance-based biling arrangements by estimating the amount of variable
consxeration that is probable of belng sarned and recognizing that estimate ovar the length of tha contract using a proportionate performance approach. Prior to adopting ASC
606 in 2018, we recognized revenues under performance-based biling arrangements when all related performance criteria were met, Refer to Note 2 *Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” within the notes to the conscfidated financial statements for additional information on our adoption of ASC 606, Performance-basad fee revenues represented
6.1%, 4.9%, and 8.9% of our revenues in 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively. The level of performance-based fees earned may vary based on our dients’ risk sharing preferences
and the mix of services we provide. Refer to our Segment Resuts discussed betow for addifional information on the impact of ASC 606 on our performance-based fee revenue.

Chients that have purchased one of our software hicansas can pay an annual fee for software support and maintenance. We also generate subscoription reveriue from our doud-
based analytic tooks and sohutions. Software support, maintenance and subscription revenues are recognized ratably over the support or subscription period. These fees are biled in
advance and includad in deferred revenues unti recognized. Software support and maintenance and subscription-based revenues represented 5.3%, 5.4%, and 5.0% of our
revenuas in 2018, 2017, and 2016, respedively.

Our quarterly results are impacted principally by our ful-time consultants” utifzation rate, the blling rates we charge our cients, and tha number of our revenue-generating
professionals who are avaiable to work. Our utiizalion rale can be negatively affected by increased hiring because therae is generally a transilion period for new professionals that
results in a temporary drop in our utiization rate. Qur utiization rate can also be affectad by seasonal variations in the demand for our services from our clents. For example, during
the third and fourth quarters of the year, vacations taken by our clients can result in the deferral of activity on existing and new engagements, which would negatively affect our
utilzation rate. The number of busness work days is also affected by the number of vacalion days taken by our consultants and holidays in sach quarter, We fypically have fewer
businass work days avaiable in the fourth quarter of the year, which can impact revenues during that period.

Time-and-axpanse engagements do not provide us with a high degree of predictability as to performance in future periods, Unexpected changes in the demand for our sanvices can
rgsuk n sianfficant varkations in utfzatlon and revanues and present a chalenge to optimal hiring and staffing. Moreover, our dlents typically retain us on an engagement-by-
engagement basis, rather than under long-term recurring contracls. The volume of work performed for any particular cfient can vary widsly from period to peried.

Relmbursable Expenses

Reimbursable expensas that are biled to dients, primariy relating to travel and out-of-pocket expenses ncurred in connedtion with engagements, are induded in total revenues and
reimbursable expensas, Under fixed-fes biing arrangements, we esimate the total amount of reimbursable expenses to be mcurred over the course of the engagement and
recognize the estimated amount as revenue using the proportionate performance approach, which ks based on work completed to-date versus our estimates of the total ssrvices to
be provided under the engagement. Under time-and-expanse bling arrangements, we recognize rembursable expensas as revenue as the related services are provided, using
the right to invoice praciical expedient. Reimbursable expenses are recognized as expensas in the period in which the expenss is mcurred. Subcontractors that are billed to cients at
cost are alo nduded m reimbursable expensas. When bilings do not specifically identify reimbursable expenses, we aliocate the portion of the bilings equivalent lo thase expenses
to relmbursable expenses.

We manage our busmess on the basis of revenues before rembursable expenses, which we believe is the most accurate refiection of our services because it eiminates the effect of
reimbursable expansas that we bil to our clients at cost.

Total Direct Costs

Our most significant expenses are costs classifiad as total drect costs. These total direct costs primaridy indude salaries, performance benuses, signing and refention bonuses,
payrol taxes, and banefits for revenus-generating professionals, as well as commissions, technology costs, product and event costs, and fees paid to Independent confracters that
we relain {o supplement our revenue-generaling professionals, typicaly on an as-needed basis for spedific dient engagements. Direct costs also inckide share-based compensation,
which represents the cost of restricted stock and performance-based share awards granted to our revenue-generatng professionals. Compensation expense for restricted stock
awards and performance-based share awards is recognized ratably using either the straight-ine atirbution method or the graded vesling attribution method, as appropriate, over
the requisite service period, which is generally three to four years. Total drect costs akso include amortization of intangible assets, primariy relafing to customer contracts, cerlain
cuslomer relationships, and technology and software acquired in business combinations, and ntemaly developed software costs.
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Operating Expanses and Other Losses {Gains), Net

Our operating expenses incude seling, peneral and adminisirative expenses, which consist primarily of salaries, performance bonusaes, payrol taxes, benefits, and share-based
compensation for our support personnel. Also indiyded in selling, general and adminisirative expenses is rent and ofher office related expenses, sales and marketing related
expenses, professional fees, recruiting and training expensas, and practics adminisiration and mestings expenses. Other operating expensas indude restrucluring charges, other
gains and losses, depredatlon and cartan amortization expenses not included in total direct costs.

Segment Results

Segment operating income consists of the revenues generated by a segment, less the direct costs of revenus and seling, general and administrative expanses that are incurred
directly by the sagment. Unallocated costs indude corporate costs refated to administrative funcions that are performed In a centralzed manner that are not atirbutable to a
particutar segment, These administrative funclion costs inclide corporate office suppart costs, office faciity costs, costs relating to accounting and finance, human resources, legal,
marketing, nformation technology, and company-wide business development functions, as well as costs related to overal corporate management.

2




Table of Contents

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table seis forth, for the periods indicated, selected segment and consolidated operating resuls and other operating data. The resuks of operations for acquired

businesses have been mchuded in our results of operations since the date of their respedtive acquisition,

Segment and Consolldated Operating Results {in thousands):

‘Healtheare:

Revenues

Operating income

Segment oparating income as a percentage of sagment revanues
Business Advisory:

Revenues

Operating income

Sagmen! operaling income as a percentage of segment revenues
Education:

Revenues

Opersting ncome

Sagment operating income as a percentage of segment revenuas
Total Company:

Revenues

Reimbursable expenses

Total revenues and rembursable expenses

Statements of Operations reconcillation:
Segment operating income
ltems not akocated al the segment level;
Other operating expenses
Other losses (gains), net
Depreciation and amortization
Goodwl mpatrment charges ™
Total operating income {loss)
Other expense, net
Income (kss) from coniinuing operations before taxes
Income tax expanse (benefit)
Net income {loss) from continuing operations
Eamings (loss) per share from continuing cperations
Basic
Diuted
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Year Ended Decembar 31,
2018 2017 2016

$ AR $ 356808 $ 424 912

$ +08,060 § 118761 § 147 903
28.6% 33.3% 34.8%

5 236,185 % 207753 § 151,543

$ 50625 § 48500 $ 29,382
21.4% 22.4% 19.4%

$ 194177 § 167.908 % 149,817

$ 48243 40318 § 38,310
24.8% 24.0% 25.6%

$ 795125 5 732570 % 726,272

82,574 75,175 71.712

$ 877999 § 807745  § 797,984

$ 206928 § 205679 & 215,595

122,276 120,718 111,852

- {2,018) 1111 {1,9%0)

34 575 38.213 31,499

R 253,093 -

52,096 (207.456) 74,234

126,875 15,048 15,077

25,221 (222,504) 59,157

11,2717 (51,999) 19,677

$ 13044 8§ (170,505) $ 39,480

$ 064§ {7.95) % 187

$ 063 § {7.95) § 1.84




Year Ended December 31,
2018 M7 2016
Other Operating Data {excluding All Other):
Numbar of full-time billable consultants (at period end) P
Healihcare 813 778 888
Business Advisory 813 809 547
Education 621 549 468
Total 2,247 2,136 1,903
Average number of full-time billable consultants (for the period} ®:
Heafthcare 807 79% 984
Business Advisory 769 740 486
Education 589 508 437
Total 2,165 2.045 1.921
Ful-time blllable consultant utllizatlon rate ™
Healthcare B1.7% 78.4% 77.1%
Business Advisory 73.8% 71.5% 73.1%
Education 76.6% 72.8% 70.6%
Total 77.5% 74.5% T4.6%
Ful-time billable conaultant average billing rate per hour #:
Healthcare $ 209 % 206 % 210
Business Advisory ! $ 215 % 205 % 208
Education $ 202 § 213§ 219
Total ® $ 209 % 207 % 212
Revenue per full-time blllable consultant {in thousands):
Healthcare $ 307 % 206 % 300
Business Advisary H 293§ 268 % 293
Education $ 289 % 291 % 293
Total ¢ 297§ 284 3 297
Average number of full-time equivalents (for the period) ®:
Healthcare 219 213 203
Business Advisory 22 20 20
Educstion 39 35 38
Total 280 268 261
Revenus per fulktime equivalent {in thousands):
Heatthcare $ 56§ 576 % 614
Busness Advisory $ 484 3 464§ 453
Educaten $ 601 § 564 § 572
Tolal $ 541  § 566 § 596

{n Tha non-cash goodwil impaiment charges are not allocated at the segment level becawse the underdying goodwill asset is raflective of our corporate investment in the segments, We do not
include the impact of goodwil impairment charges in our evaluation of sagment parformance.
2 Consmsts of our fulHime professionals who provide consulting services and ganerate revenues based on Lhe number of hours warked.

3 Utikzation rate for our ful-time billable consuflants is calculated by dividing the number of hours all of our fulHime bilable consultarts worked on clienl assignments during a period by the telal
avallable working hours for all of thase consultanls during the same penod, assuming a forty-hour work week, kess paid holldays and vacation days.

4 Average biling rate per hour for our fulHime bilable consuftants is caculated by dividing revendes for a paniod by the number of hours worked on chient assignments during (he same panod,

(6] Beginning in the third quarter of 2018, the average billing rate per hour excludes the number of hours charged on mtemal assignments by consultants within Huron Ewrasia India o provide a more
meaningiul average biling rale charged to external clients, Prior year periods have been revisad for consislent presentation.

(6) Consists of leadarship coaches and thair suppert stafl within our Studer Group solution, consuliants who work variable schedules as neaded by our clients, and ful-ime employses who provide
software support and malmtenanca sarvices to our chients.
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Non-GAAP Measures

Wo also assess cur results of operations using certain non-GAAP financial measures, These non-GAAP fnandal measures differ from GAAP because the non-GAAP finandial
measurss we calkulate to measure eamings (loss) before interest, taxes, depreciation and amertization ("EBITDA"}, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA as a percanlage of
revenues, adjusted net mcome from continuing operaticns, and adjusted diuted earnings per share from continuing operations exclude a number of tems required by GAAP, each
discussed below. These non-GAAP financlal measures shoukd be considered in addition ta, and not as a substitute for or superier to, any measure of performance, cash flows, or
fiquidity prepared in accordance with GAAP. Our non-GAAP finandial measures may be defined differently from time to ime and may be defned differently than simiar terms used

by other companies, and accordingly, care shoukd be exercised In understanding how we define our non-GAAP financial measures.

Our management uses the non-GAAP finanial measures to gain an understanding of our comparative operating performance, for example when comparing such results with
previcus periods or forecasts. These non-GAAP financial measures are used by managemsnt in their financial and operating decision making because management beksves they
reflact aur ongoing busmess in a manner that akows for meaningful period-to-period compartsons. Managemsnt also uses these non-GAAP financial measures when publidy
providing our businass outiook, for internal management purposes, and as a basis for evalusting potential acquisibons and dispositions. We believe that these non-GAAP financial
measuras provide useful Information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating Huron's current operaling performance and future prospscis m the sams manner as
management does and in comparing in a consistenl manner Huren's current financial rasults with Huron's past fmandial resulls.

The recondiiations of these financial measures from GAAP to non-GAAP are as folows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

‘Revenues : S 795125 § 732570 % 726,272
Net ncome (loss) from continuing opsrations 5 13944 § (170.505) § 39.480
Add back: .

Income tax expense (benefit) 11,277 (51,999) 19.677

Interest expense, net of interest income 18,013 ' 18,613 16,274

Depreciation and amortization 8822 49,145 46,639
Eamings (loss} before 'ntérest. taxes, deprediaticn and amoﬂiiation (EBITDA} 83,056 (154,746) 122,070
Add back:

Restructuring charges 3,657 6,246 9,592

Cther losses {gains}, net {2,019) 111 {1,990

Goodwil mparment charges — 253,003 -

Cther non-operating expense (rcome;), net 5,807 (696) —

Foreign currency transaction losses (gains), net 475 (434} (11}
Adpsted EBITDA $ 90976 $ 104574 § 129,661
Adusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenues 11.4% 14.3% 17.9%
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Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
Net income (loss) from conlinuing operations . $ 13944 § (170,505) $ 35,480
Weighted average sharas - dilted 22,058 21,439 21424
Diuted eamings (loss) per share from continuing operalions $ 063 § (798 & 1.84
Add back
Amortization of intangible assets 23,955 35,027 33,108
Restructuring charges 3,657 6,246 9,592
Other losses (gains), net (2.019) 1,111 (1,990}
Goodwil impairment charges — 253,093 —
Non-cash interest on convertible notes 8,232 7.851 7,488
Other non-operating expense (income), net 5.807 (696) -
Tax effect (9.487) {91,557) (18,942)
Tax expense related to the enaciment of Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 1,749 8,762 -
Tax benefit refated to "check-the-box" election - {2,728) -
Total adustments, net of tax 31,804 217,109 29,256
Adjusted net income from continuing operations $ 45838 § 46604 % 68,736
Adjusted weighted average shares - diuted 22,058 21,627 21,424
Adpasted diuted earn'ngﬁ per share from continuing operations . g 208 3§ 215 % 32

These non-GAAP financial measures inchide adjustments for the folowing ems:

Amortization of intangible assefs: We have exduded the effect of amortization of intangible assets from the calcutation of adjusted net income from continuing operations presented
above. Amorlization of intangibles is inconsistent in s amount and frequency and is significantly affected by the timing and size of gur acquisitions.

Restructuring charges: We have incurred charges due 1o the restructuring of various parts of our business. Thase restructuring charges have primariy consisted of costs associated
with offics space consolidations, induding the acselerated depredation of certain leasshold improvements, and severance charges. We have excluded the effect of the restructuring
charges from our non-GAAP measures because the amount of each restructuring charge is significantly affected by the timing and size of the restructured business or component
of a business.

Other losses (gains), net: We have excluded the effects of the litigation settiement gain recorded in 2018 and the net remeasurement lossas refated 1o contingent acquisition
fiabidities in 2018 and 2017 and nat remeasurament gains related to contingant acquisition Kablties In 2016 to permit comparabiity with pariods that were not impacled by these
items.

Goodw# impairment chargas. We have exduded the effect of the goodwil impairment charges that occurred in 2017 as these are infrequent events and their exchusion permits
comparabiily wih periods that were not impacted by such charges.

Non-cash inferest on convertible notes: We Incur non-cash inferest expense relating to the implied value of the squity conversion component of our Convertible Noles, The value of
the equity conversion componant is treated as a deb! discount and amortized to nterest expense over the §fe of the Convertible Notes using the effactiva ntarest rate method. We
exclude this non-cash infarest expense that doss not represent cash interest payments from the calculation of adjusted net income from continuing operations as management
believes that this non-cash expense is nol indicalive of the ongoing performance of our business.

Other non-operating expense {income), net: Wa have excluded the effects of other non-operating income and expense Hems as they are nfrequent, management believes that
thess items are not indicative of the ongoing performance of our busimess, and ther exdusion permits comparability with periods that were not impacted by such items. The other
non-operating axpense for 2018 consists of the toss on the sale of the Middla East prathce within the Business Advisory segment in 2¢18. The other non-operating income for 2017
& primariy atiributable to a $0.9 milion gain on the sale of our Life Sciences C&O practics, partially offset by a $0.3 millon remeasurement koss recorded on a promissory note that
was amended in 2017.

Foreign currency transaction ksses (gains), net: We have exduded lhe effect of foreign curmency transaction losses and gains from the calculation of adpusted EBITDA because the
amount of each loss or gam is significantly affected by timing and changes in foreign exchanga rates.

Tax affect: The non-GAAP income tax adjustment reflects the moremental tax impact apphcable to the non-GAAP adjustments.
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Tax expense refated to the enactment of Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (*2017 Tax Reform”): We have exduded the mpadt of the 2017 Tax Reform, which was enacted in the
fourth quarter of 2017, The net tax expense recorded in 2018 was due 1o a vahation akowance for foreign tax credits and an adjustment o our withholding tax on outside basis
differences due tc cur change in assertion for permanent renvestment, which were partialy offset by U.S. faderal return to provision adustments refated to 2017 Tax Reform items
on our 2017 corporate tax return, The tax expense for 2017 was primariy due to the remeasurement of net deferred tax balances at the lower federal income tax rate, additional
one-tima incoms tax expense related to the transiion tax on accumulated foreign earnings, and withholding tax on outside basis differences due to our change in assertion for
permaneant reinvastment. The exclusion of the 2017 Tax Reform parmits comparabiity with prior periods. Refer o Note 16 "Income Taxes" within the notes to the consolidated
financiad statements for addiional informalion on the mpact of the 2017 Tax Reform,

Tax beneft refatad to “check-the-box" efection: We have exduded tha effact of a tax benefit, racorded in 2017, frem recognizing a previously unrecognized tax benafit from our
"chack-tha-box” slection made in 2014 to treat one of our wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries as a disregarded entity for LS. federal income tax purposes. The exdusion of this
discrete tax benefit parmats comparabiity with periods that were not impacted by this lem. Refer to Note 16 "Income Taxes™ within the notes to the consofidated financlal statements
for additional information on our "check-the-box" elections.

income tax expanse, Interest expense, net of imterest income, Depreciation and amortization: We have exchided the effects of Income tax expenss, nterest expanse, net of interest
income, and depreciation and amaortization in the calculation of EBITDA as these are customary exclusions as defined by the caleulation of EBITDA fo arrive at meaningful earnings
from core aperations exduding the efiect of sudh tems.

Adpusted weighted average shares - diuted: As we reported a nat boss for the year ended December 31, 2017, GAAP dikrted weighted average shares outstanding equals the basic
welghted average shares outstanding for that period. For the year ended Becember 31, 2017, the nen-GAAP adjustments described above resuked in adjusted net mcome from
continuing operations. Therefore, we induded the dilutive common stock equivalents In the calcudation of adjusted diuted weighted average shares outstanding for that period.

Yoar Ended December 31, 2018 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2017
Revenues

Revenues increased $62.6 milion, or 8.5%, to $795.1 milkon for the year ended December 31, 2018, from $732.6 milion for the year ended December 31, 2017. Revenues for
2018 included $6.4 milion of ncremental revenues due to the full year impact of our acquisition of Innosight, which was completed in March of 2017.

On January 1, 2018, we adopted ASC 606, Revenue from Contracfs with Customers, on a modified retrospective basis, which resultsd in changes 1o our accounting policy for
revenue recogniion, most notably for performance-based biling arrangements. For the year ended December 31, 2018, performance-based fee revenue was $48.1 milion
compared to $35.7 million in the same prior year period. Refer to Note 2 *Summary of Significani Accounting Policies” within the notes to our consolidated financial statements for
additional information on our adoption of ASC 606.

Of the overall $62.6 milion Increase in revenuas, $62.4 millon was drivan by our ful-time bilable consukants and $0.2 million was driven by our full-time equivalents.

The increase in fulk-ime bilable consullant revenues was attributable to strengthenad demand for services n all of our segments, as discussed below in Segment Resuks, and
reflected increases in the average number of ful-time bilable consuttants, the consultant utlization rate, and the average biing rate per hour in 2018 compared to 2017,

The increase in fuf-time equivalent revenues was attributable fo increases in ful-time aquivalent revenuas n our Education and Business Advisory segmenls, partially offset by a
decrease In ful-time equivalen! ravenues in our Healhcare segment, as discussed below in Segment Resukts; and reflected an increase in the average number of fulktime
equivakents, partialy offset by a decrease in revenue per ful-time equivalent.

Total Direct Costs

Qur fotal direct costs, ncluding amortization of intangible assats and software development costs, Increased $60.0 millon, or 12.9%, to $525.8 millon for the year endad

Decamber 31, 2018 from $465.7 milton for the year ended December 31, 2017, The overall $60.0 mi¥on increass in direct costs primariy related to a $36.3 millon increass n
performance banus expenss for our revenue-generating professionals and a $26.0 million increase in salaries and refated expansas for our revenue-generating professionats,
which was largely driven by better performance within some of our operating segments and increased headcount across all ssgments. Thesa Increasas were pariedy offset by a
$7.3 million decreass in intanglle asset amoriization expense. As a percentage of revenues, our total direct costs increased to 66.1% during 2018 compared to 63.6% during 2017,
primaridy due to the increase in performance bonus expense for our revenue-generating professionals as a percentage of revenues, parfially offset by the decrease in amortization
of Intanglble assets and revenus growth that outpaced the increase in salarias and refated expenses for our revenue-generating professionals.
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Total direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2018 included $2.8 mifion of amortizalion expense for mtangible assels, primarily representing customer conrads and software
acquired in business combinations, compared to $10.1 millon of amortization expense in 2017. The $7.3 milon decreasa in amorlization expense was primarily atributable to the
decreasing amortization expenss of customer contracts acquired in our Studer Group acquishion, due to the accelarated basis of amortization in prior pericds, as wel as certain
other intangible assets acquired in our Studer Group, HSM and Innosight acquisttions which have been fuly amortized. See Note 3 *Acquisitions™ and Note 4 “Goodwil and
Intangble Assets' withm the nofes to our consolidated financial statements for additional information about our intangible assets. Amortization expensa for the year ended
Dacember 31, 2018 also Induded $1.4 millon for amortization of capitalzed software development costs, compared to $0.8 mikon in 2017.

Operating Expenses and Other Losses (Galns), Net

Seling, general and administrative expenses increased $5.6 millon, or 3.2%, to $181.0 milion for the year ended December 31, 2018, comparad to $175.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017. The overal increase of $5.6 milion was primariy related to a $7.7 milon ncrease in performance bonus expense for our support parsonnel, which was
largely driven by betler performance within some of our oparating segments, a $1.2 millon inrease in practice administration and maeetings expenses, and a $1.1 millon mcrease n
promotion and marketng expenses. These increases were partialy offset by a $1.4 millon decreass in salaries and releted expenses for our support parsonnel, a $1.1 million
decrease in kegal expenses, and a $1.0 milion decrease in travel and entertanment expenses. As a percentage of revenues, safing, genaral and admnistrative expenses
decreased to 22.8% durng 2018 compared lo 23.9% during 2017, primarily due to the tems described above.

Restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2018 totaled $3.7 milion, compared to $6.2 milion for the year ended December 31, 2017. The $3.7 milion of
restructuring charges in 2018 primarily consisted of $1.1 million and $1.0 million related to workforce reductions in our Healthcare segment and our Business Advisory segment,
respectively, to befter akign rasourcas with market demand; $0.8 milion related to the accrual of remaining lease payments, net of estimated sublease incoma, and accelerated
depredation on leasehold improvements due fo exting a portion of our Middlaton, Wisconsin office ; $0.4 milion releted to updated lease assumptions and commission costs for our
San Frandsco office vacaled in 2017; and $0.3 milion related to the divestiture of our Middle East practice within the Business Advisory segment, During the second quarter of
20118, we sold our Middle East business to a former employse who was the practics leader of that busingss at the time. The $6.2 million of restructuring charges In 2017 Included
$3.7 millon refated to workforcs reductions to bettar align resources with market demand, of which $2.2 millon related to our Healthcare segment, $1.1 mlion related to our
Business Advisory segment, and $0.4 milion related to our corporate operations. The overal $6.2 milon of restructuring charges in 2017 also included $2.4 millon for offica space
reductions, which primarily consisted of the accrual of remaining lease obligations, net of estimated sublaase income, for our offices in San Francisco, Chicago and New York, and
accalerated depreciation on leasehold improvemsnis in our San Francisco office, See Nota 10 “Restructuring Charges” within the notes to our consolidatad financial statements for
further discussion of our restructuring expenses.

Other losses (gams), nél lotaled lo a nel gain of $2.0 million for the year ended Dacember 31, 2018, compared to a net loss of $1,1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.
The net gain in 2018 primariy consisted of a $2.5 milien ltigation settlement gain for the resakution of Huron's claim in a class action kawsuit, partially offset by $0.4 million of net
remeasurement losses due to an increase in the estimated fair value of our Kabltles for contingent consideration payments relaled to bushass acquisiions, The net loss in 2017
reprasents net remveasurement kases due to an increase in the estimated fair values of our Babililies for confingsnt consideration rekated (o business acquisitions. In cannection with
certaln business acquisitions, we may be required to pay post-dosing consideration to the selers if spediic financial parformanca targets are mel aver a number of years as
spexified In the refated purchase agreements, Sae Note 12 "Fair Value of Financial Instruments™ within the notes to our consolidated financial statements for additional information
on the far vake of contingent consideration Babilities.

Depredialion and amorlzation expense decreased $3.6 milion, or 8.5%, to $34.6 milion for the year ended December 31, 2018, from $38.2 million for the year ended
Dacember 31, 2017. The decrease was primarily atirbutable to dacreasing amortization expensa of the frade name acquired in our Studer Group acquisiion as well as certain
customer relationships acquired in olher business acquisitions, due to the accelerated basts of amortization In prior periods, parttaly offset by amoriization expense for intangble
assets acquired in the fnnosight acquisition. Intangible assel amortization included within operating expenses prmarlly relatas 10 certan cuslomer relationships, trade names, and
nan-competition agreements acquired in connection with our business acquisiions. See Note 3 "Acquisitions* and Note 4 "Goodwil and Intangible Assets® within the notes to our
consolidated financlal statements for additional information about cur intangible assets.

During 2017, we recorded $253.1 millon of non-cash pretax goodwill imparment charges. Of the $253.1 milion, $208.1 milion related 1o our Healthcare reporting unit and $45.0
millon related to our Enterprise Solutions and Analytics reporting unit which Is Included In our Business Advisory segment. These charges are non-cash in nature and do not affect
our liquidity or debt covenants. Ses the "Critical Accounting Policies” section below and Note 4 "Goodwil and Infangible Assels™ within the notes to our consolidated finandial
statements for further discussion of these charges.
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Operating Income {Loss)

Operating income increased $259.6 millon, to income of $52.1 milon for the year ended Decembar 31, 2018, from a loss of $207.5 milion for the year ended Decemnber 31, 2017,
The increasa is primariy attributable (o the $253.1 millon non-cash pretax goodwil impaiment charges recorded in 2017, See the "Critical Accounting Policies” seclion below and
Note 4 "Goodwil and Intangible Assets” within the notes to our consclidated finandial statements for additional information about the gocdwll Imparment charges. Operating
marghn, which Is defined as operating income (loss) expressed as a percantage of revenues, increased to 6.6% in 2018 compared to {(28.3)% In 2017. The increase in operating
margin was primariy aftributable to the goodwi impairment charges recorded in 2017,

Other Expense, Net

Total other expense, net increased by $11.8 milion to $26.9 milion for the year ended Dacember 31, 2018, from $15.0 millon for the year ended December 31, 2017, The
ncrease in {ofal other expensa, net was primarily attributable to a $5.8 milion loss on the divestiture of our Middle East practice within cur Businass Advisory segment, compared to
2 $0.9 milion gain on the divestiture of aur Life Saencas Compliance and Operations solution within our Business Advisory segment in 2017. During the second quarter of 2018, we
sokd our Middle East business to a former employee who was the practics leader of that business at the fime. The increasa in total other expense, net was also atfributable 1o a $1.6
milion loss in the market value of our investmants that are usad ta fund our deferred compensation liabifity, comparad to a $2.4 millon gain for the same prior year period; and $0.5
million of foreign currency transaction losses m 2018 compared $0.4 milion of gains in 2017,

Income Tax Expense

On December 22, 2017, the Prasident of the United Statas signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jabs Act {~2017 Tax Reform’), a tax reform bill which, among other items, reduced the
coporate federal income tax rate from 35% 1o 21% and moved from a worldwide tax system fo a termitorial system. As a result of the enactment of this legistation during the fourth
guarter of 2017, we estimated the remeasurement of our nat deferred taxes based on the new lower tax rate, as well as provided for addiional one-time income {ax expenss
estimates primariy related to the transition tax on accumulated forelgn eamings and eimination of foreign tax credlis for dividends that are subject to the 100 percent exemption in
our consolidated fnancial statements as of and for the year anded December 31, 2017, In 2017 and the first nine months of 2018, we recorded provisional amounts for cerlam
enactment-date effacts of 2017 Tax Reform by applying the guidance In Staff Accounting Bulletin {"SAB") No. 118 because we had not yet completed our enaciment-date
accounting for thess effedts.

As of December 31, 2018, we have now complated our acoounting for al of the enactment-date income tax effects of 2017 Tax Reform. For the year ended December 31, 2018,
we recorded tax expensae of $2.2 millon relatad to establshing a valuation allowance for foreign tax credits, a tax benefit of $0.6 milion refated to the U3, federal return to provision
adiustments for the rameasuremant of our net defarred taxes based on the new lower rate, and tax expanse of $0.2 millon related to withholding tax on autside basis differences
due o our change in assertion for permanent reinvestment. Thesa amounts are recorded as a component of income tax expense from continuing operalions.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, our effective tax rate was 44,7% as we recognized ncome tax expense from continuing oparations of $11,3 millon ¢n income from
continuing operations of $25.2 milkon. For the year ended Dacambar 31, 2017, our effeciive tax rate was 23 4% as we recognized income tax benefit from continuing operations of
$52.0 milion on a loss from continuing eperations of $222.5 milion.

The effectve tax rate for 2018 was less favorable than the statutory rate, indusive of state income taxes, of 26.2%, primariy due to $1.8 milon of discrets tax expense for valuation
alowances, primarily due to uncertainties relating to the abdity to utiize deferred tax assets recorded for foreign tax credits, which had an unfavorablg impact of 6.9% on the
effective tax rate; $1.2 milion of discrate tax axpanse for share-basad compensation awards that vested during 2018, which had an unfavorable impact of 4.9% on the effective tax
rate; $0.6 milion of additional 1ax expense related to disalowed execulive compensation deductions, which had an unfavorable impact of 2.5% on the effeclive tax rate; and 30.6
milion of additional tax expansa related to the change in far value of contingent consideration, which had an unfavorable impact of 2.4% on the effective tax rate.

The effactive tax rate for 2017 was less favorable than the statutory rate, inclusive of state incoms taxes, primarily due to the $65.0 millon non-deductble portion of the goodwil
impairmant charges related to the Healthcare and Enterprise Solutions and Analytics reporiing units recorded in 2017; $8.8 milion of discrete Income tax expense related to the
enaciment of the 2017 Tax Reform in the fourth quarter of 2017; and $1.8 million of discreta tax expense for share-based compensation relsted to the adoption of ASU 2016-09
improvements to Empioyee Share-Based Payment Accounting. These unfavorable discrete tems were partially offset by a $2.7 mAlon tax benefit recorded in the third quarter of
2017 related to a previously unrecognized tax benefit from our 2014 "check-the-box” election. Refer to Note 16 "Incene Taxes” within the notes to our consolidated financial
statements for additional information related to our income tax expensa.
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Net Income {Loss) from Continuing Operations

Net income from continuing operations increased by $184.4 milion, to net income from continuing operations of $13.9 millon for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to
a net loss from continuing operations of $170.5 mitkon for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase was primariy attributable to the $253.1 mihen of non-cash pretax
goodwil Imparment charges recorded in 2017. As a result of the increase in nat meome from continuing operations, diuted eamings per share from continuing operations for the
year ended December 31, 2018 was $0.63 compared to diuted loss per share from continuing operations of $7.95 for 2017, The non-cash goodwil impaiment charges had an
$8.4C unfavorable impact on diuted earnings per share from continuing operations in 2017.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBTDA

EBITDA ncreased $237.8 million, to earnings of $83.1 mélon for the year ended December 31, 2018, from a loss of $154.7 million for the year ended December 34, 2017,
Adjusted EBITDA decreased $13.6 milon, or 13.0%, to $91.0 miion in 2018 from $104.6 milion in 2017. The increase in EBITDA was primariy atiributable to the non-cash
goodwil impairmen charges of $253.1 millon recorded in 2017, The decrease n adjusied EBITDA was primardy due 1o the increase In performance bonus expense for our
revenue-generatig profassionals and support personnel.

Adjusted Net Income from Continuing Operatlons

Adjusted net income from continuing operations decreased $0.8 mifion, or 1.6%, to $45.8 millon for the year ended Decernber 31, 2018, compared to $46.6 milion for the year
endad December 31, 2017. As a resuk of the decrease in adjusted net ncome from continuing operations, adjusted diuted earnings per shars from continuing operations for 2018
was $2.08, compared to $2.15 for 2017.

Segment Results
Healthcare
Revenues

Heakhcare segment revenues inareased $7.9 millon, or 2.2%, to $364.8 milion for the year ended December 31, 2018, from $356.9 milBon for the year ended December 31,
2017.

For the year ended Decamber 31, 2018, revenues from fixed-fee arrangsments, time-and-expense arrangaments, performance-based arrangements, and software support and
maintenance and subscriplion arrangements represenied 65.6%. 16.0%, 11.7%, and 6.7% of this segment's revenues, respectively, compared to 67.7%, 16.1%, 8.7%, and 7.5%.

respactively, in 2017.

Of the overall $7.9 milion increase in revenues, $13.0 millon was attributable to an increass in revenues from our ful-time bilable congulants, partially offset by a $5.1 million
decrease in revenues generated by our ful-time squivalents.

The increase in revenue attributabla to our ful-time bilable consultants was primarily driven by increassd demand for our performance improvemsnt and technology and analytics
solutions and reflacted increases in the consukant vtiization rate, the average number of ful-ime bliable consultants, and the average bling rata. Performance-basad fea revenus
was $42.7 milion in 2018, and was recognized in accordance with ASC 606, which we adopted on a modified retrospective basls on January 1, 2018, Performance-based fee
revenue was $30.9 milkon in 2017, and was recognized in accordance with ASC 805, Revenue Recognition. Refer to Note 2 "Summary of Significant Accaunting Policies™ within the
notes to our consoldated financial statements for additional information on our adoption of ASC 606. The level of perfarmance-based fees sarmed may vary based on our dients'
risk sharing preferences and the mix of services we provide,

The dacrease in revenues attrbutabie to our fulk-time equivatants was primarily driven by lower revenues n our Studer Group solution, partially offset by an Increasad use of
contractors and part-time project consultants and an increase in kcense revenue; and reflected a decrease In revenue per ful-time equivalent, partially offsal by an increase in the
average number of ful-time equivalents in 2018 compared to 2017,

Operating Income

Heakhcare segment operaling mcome decreased $10.7 million, or 8.0%, to §108.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, from $118.8 milion for the year ended
December 31, 2017. The Healthcare segment operating margin, defined as segment operating income expressed as a percentage of segment revenues, decreased to 29.6% in
2018 from 33.3% n 2017. The decrease in this segment's operating margin was primarlly attributable to an inrease in parformance bonus expansa for both our revenue-
genérating professionals and support personned, as wel as aa increase in conlractor expenses and signing and retention bonuses for our revenue-generating professicnals, al 8%
percentages of revenus, partialy offsat by a decrease i intangible asset amortization expense.

The non-cash goodwil impaiment charge refated 1o our Healthcare segment discussad above within the consolldated results is not allocated at the segment leved because the
urderlying goodwil asset & reflective of our corporate Investment in the segments. We do not indude the
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impact of goodwil impairment charges in our evalualion of segment performance. See the "Critical Accounting Policies” section balow and Note 4 "Goodwil and Inlangibles Assets”
within the notes to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion of this charge.

Business Advisory
Revenuss

Business Advisory segment revenues rkreased $28.4 millon, or 13.7%, to $236.2 millon for the year ended December 31, 2018, from $207.8 mifion for the year ended
Decamber 31, 2017. Revenues for 2018 induded $6.4 million of incremental revenues due to the full pariod impadt of our acquisiion of Innosight, which was completed in March
2017.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, revenues from fixed-fee arrangements, time-and-expenss arangements, performance-based arrangements, and software support and
malntenance and subscripion arrangements represented 41.5%, 54.5%, 2.3%, and 1.7% of this sagment's revenues, respeciively, compared to 34.8%, 61.4%, 2.1%, and 1.7%,
respectively, in 2017. Performance-based fae reverwe for the year endad December 31, 2018 was $5.4 million compared to $4.5 million in 2017. Refer to Nate 2 "Summary of
Significant Accounting Poficies” within the notes to our consofidated financial statements for additional infarmation on our adeption of ASC 606, The level of parformance-based fees
samed may vary basad on our cients’ prefarences and the mix of services we provids.

Of the overall $28.4 millon increass n ravenuas, $26.8 milkon was attrbutable o our fulHtime bilable consuttants and $1.6 millon was attributable to our ful-time equivalents. The
increase in ravenues from our ful-tme bilable consultants was driven by Increasss In the average bling rate, the averags number of ful-time billabls consultants, and the consultant
utilizalion rale. The increase in revenues from our ful-tme equivalents reflected increases in the average number of ful-ime equivalents and revenue per fulk-time equivalent in
2018 compared to 2017,

Operating Income

Business Advisory segment operaling mcome increased by $4.0 milion, or 8.6%, to $50.6 million for the year ended Decamber 31, 2018, compared to $46.6 millon for the year
ended December 31, 2017. Segment operating margn decreased to 21.4% for 2018 from 22.4% for 2017. The decrease in this segment's operating margin was primariy
attributable {o an increase in performance bonus expense for our revenus-generating professionaks as a percentage of revenues, largely offset by revenue growth that outpaced
the increase in salaries and retated expenses for our revenue-generating professionals and decreases in salaries and related expenses for our support personnel, intangible asset
amortization expense, and contracior expense.

The non-cash goodwill impairment charge recorded in 2017 related fo the Enterprise Solutions and Analytics practice, which is part of the Business Advisory segment, discussed
above within the consolidated resuks, is not ablocated at the sagment level becauss the underltying goodwB asset Is reflactive of our corporate investment in tha segments. We do
nol inciude the impact of goodwil mpairment charges in our evakiation of sagment performance. See the "Critical Accounting Policies™ section below and Note 4 “Goodwil and
Intangibles Assats" within the notes to our consoidated financial statements for furthsr discussion of this charge.

Education
Revenues

Education segmant ravenues increased $26.3 milion, or 15.6%. to $194.2 milion for the year ended December 31, 2018, from $167.9 milion for the year ended December 31,
2017,

For the year ended December 31, 2018, revenues from fixed-fee arrangements, time-and-expense arrangsments, and software supporl and mamntenance and subscription
arrangements represented 20.4%, 72.5%. and 7.1% of this sagment's revenues, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2017, revenues from fixed-fee engagements,
time-and-expenss sngagements, performance-based angagements, and software support and malntenance and subscription arrangements represented 16.6%, 77.5%, 0.2%, and
5.7%, of this segment's revenues, respectively.

Of the overall $26.3 milion increase in revenuas, $22.5 milion was attributable to our full-tme bilable consuttants and $3.8 millon was attributable to our ful-time equivalents. The
Increase in revenuss from our full-ime bilable consultants reflecied increases in the average number of ful-ime bilable consultants and the consultant utiization rate, partially offset
by a decrease in tha average biling rate. The increase in revenues from our ful-time equivalents was driven by an increasaed use of our part-time project consuftants and an
inerease i ficanse revenuas; and reflected Increasas in the averags number of ful-time equivalents and revenue per ful-ime equivalent in 2018 comparad fo 2017.
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Operating Income

Education segment operating ncome Increased $7.9 millon, or 19.7%, to $48.2 millon for the year ended December 31, 2018, from $40.3 miflon for the year ended December 31,
2017. The Education segment operating margn ncreased to 24.8% for 2018 from 24.0% for 2017. The increase in this segment’s operating margin was primarily attriutable 1o
decreases i salares and refated expenses for our support personnel and contractor expanse, as well as revenue growth that outpaced the increase in performance bonus
expense for our revenue-generating professionals, partially offset by an increase in salaries and related expenses for our revenue genarating professionals as a percentage of
revenues.

Year Ended December 31, 2017 Compared fo Year Ended December 31, 2016
Revenues

Revenues Increasad $6.3 miion, or 0.9%, to $732.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, from $726.3 mifon for the year ended December 31, 2016. Revenues for 2017
included $43.9 milion from our acquisitions of Innosight and Pope Woodhead, which were completed in the first quarter of 2017, and $13.2 million of ncremental revenues due to
the ful year impact of our acquisitions of MyRounding and HSM Consuking, which were completed in the first and third quarters of 2016, respectively. Revenues for 2017 also
included a full period Impact of our acquisition of the U.S. assets of AD Strategies and revenues from our acquisiion of the international assets of ADI Strategles. These acquisitions
were compleled in May 2016 and April 2017, respechvely, and have since bean fully integrated into the Business Advisory segment.

Of the overall $6.3 miflon increass in revenues, $10.6 milion was attributable to our ful-time bilable consultants, partially offset by a $4.3 millon decreass in revenues attributable to
our ful-ime equivalents.

The increase in fulHime bilable consultant revenues was driven by an increass in the average number of ful-time bllable consukants, partially offset by decreases in the averags
billing rate and consukant utiization rate. As discussed below in Segment Results, this increase in ful-time bitable consukant revenues reflected our acquisitions of Innosight and
Pope Woodhead, as wel as strangthened demand for servicas in our Business Advisory and Education segments, partially offset by decreased demand for services in our
Healthcare sagment.

The decrease in ful-time equivalent revenues was primarily attributable to a decrease In the revenue from our Studer Group solution within cur Heakhcare segment as discussed
befow in Segment Resuks.

Total Direct Costs

Qur tolal direct costs, ncluding amortization of Intangible assets and software development costs, ncreased $13.0 millon, or 2.9%. to $465.7 millon for the year ended

Dacsmber 31, 2017 from $452.7 million for the ysar ended December 31, 2016. The averal $13.0 millon increase in direct costs primarily related to a $17.5 milion increass in
salaries and related expenses for gur revenue-generating professionals, which was largely driven by increased headcount from acquisitions and our continued investment In
revenus-generatihg consukants in our doud-based enterprise resource planning (ERP) implementation practices, partialy offset by a decrease in salanies and related expenses in
aur Healthcare segment as a resuk of headcounl reductions. Addiional increasas in direct costs induded a $3.3 milion increase i contractor expense and a $2.7 milion increase in
signing and retention bonus expense for our revenue-generating professionals. All of these increases were partially offset by a $5.6 milon decrease in performance bonus expense
for our revenue-generating professionals, a $4.0 milon decreass in ntangible asset amortization expense, and a $1.2 milion decreass in share-based compensation expense for
our revenue-generating professionals. As a parcentage of revenues, our total direct costs increasad {o 63.6% during 2017 compared to 62.3% during 20186, primariy dus to the
items described above.

Total direct costs for the year ended December 31, 2017 incuded $10.9 mi¥ion of amortization expense for ntangible assets, primariy representing customer contracts and
software acquired in business combnations, and internal software devalopment costs, compared to $15.1 milion of amortization expense in 2016. The $4.2 milbon decrease in
amortization expense was primarily atirbutable to the decreasing amortization expense of customer contracts acquired in our Studer Group acquisiion, due to the accelerated basis
of amortizaticn, and the customer contracts acquired as part of our acquisition of the U.S. assats of AD| Strategias which were fuly amortized in 2016, partially offset by the
amortization of Intanglble assets acquired in the acquisiions of Innosight and HSM Consulting. See Note 3 “Acquisitions” and Note 4 "Goodwil and Intangble Assets” whkhin the
noles to our consolidated financial statements for addtional information about our intangible assets.

Operating Expenses and Other Gains, Net

Selling, general and administrative expenses intreased $15.2 milion, or 9.5%, to $175.4 mi3ion for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $160.2 milion for the year
ended December 31, 2016. Seling, general and administrative expsnses for 2017 included $14.5 milion from Innosight and Pope Woodhead. Tha overal increase of $15.2 milion
was primarily retated to a $10.4 millon ncreass in salaries and related expenses for our support personnek, a $2.7 millon ncrease in fackties and other office-related expenses; a
$2.0 millon Increase in travel related costs, largely related to the operations of our arcraft purchased in connection with our Innosight acquisition; a $1.4 milion
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increase in third-party consulting expenses; a $1.0 millon increase in promotion and sponsership expenses; and a $0.9 mikon increase in signing and retention bonus expense for
our support personnel. These increases were partially offset by a $2.6 milion decrease in performance bonus expanses for our support personnel, a $1.1 million decrease in legal
axpanses, and a $1.0 m#on decreass in share-based compensation expanse for our support personnel. As a percentage of revenues, seflng, general and administrative expanses
mcreased fo 23.9% during 2017 compared to 22.1% during 2016, primariy due to the items described above.

Restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2017 totaled $6.2 milion, compared to $9.6 milion for the year ended Decambar 31, 2016. The $6.2 milkon of
restructuring charges in 2017 inciwded $3.7 milion refated to workforce reductions to better align resources with market demand, of which $2.2 milion related to cur Healthcare
segment, $1.1 milion related to our Business Advisory segment, and $0.4 milion refated to our corporate operations, The overall 36.2 milion of restructuring charges also included
$2.4 millon of office space reductions, which primarly consisted of the accrual of remaining lease obligations, net of estimated subleass income, due to relocating our San Francisco
office to a smaller space and consolidating our Chicago and New York offices, and accelerated deprecialion on leasehold improvements in our San Frandisco office, The $9.6 milion
of restructuring charges in 2416 primarily consisted of $7.3 milien related to workforce reductions, of which $5.8 miion refated fo our Heakhcare segment and $0.6 milion related
to our Business Advisary segment, both to belter akgn resources with market demand, and $0.9 million related to our corporate oparations primardy to adjust our Infrastructure to
abign with our Legal divestiture. The $9.6 milion of restructuring charges akso induded $1.5 million related to updated lease acorual assumptions, primarily for our Washington, D.C.
space vacated In the fourth quarter of 2014, and $0.8 milkon related to the wind down of our foredgn operations based In the Middle East and other exit costs. See Note 10
“Restructuring Charges” within the notes to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our restrucluring expenses.

Other gains {losses), net totaled a net loss of $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to a net gain of $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.
The net loss in 2017 and the net gain in 2016 represant the changas in the eslimated fair values of our Rabiities for contigent consideration related fo business acquisitions. In
connection with certain business acquisitlons, we may be required to pay post-dosing consideration to the selers if spacific financial performance targets are met over a number of
yaars as spedified in the related purchase agreements. Sse Note 12 "Fair Value of Finandial Instruments® within the notes to our consolidated financial statements for additional
nformation on the far value of contingent consideration Babilities.

Depreclation and amortization expense increased $6.7 milion, or 21.3%, to $38.2 milion for the year ended December 31, 2017, from $31.5 milion for the year ended

December 31, 2016, The increase was primarily atiributable fo amortization sxpense for intangible assets acquired in the Innosight, Pope Woodhead, and AD| Strategies
acquisiions, and an increase n amortization expense for a customer-refated intangble asset acquired in the Studer Group acquisition. Intangible asset amortization included within
operating expenses primarily relates to certain customer refationships, trade names, and nen-competition agreements acquired in connedlion with our business acquisitions, See
Nofe 3 "Acquisitions™ and Note 4 "Goodwil and Intangible Assats” within the notes to our consolidated financial statements for additional information about our intangible assets.

During 2017, we recorded $253.1 mifion of non-cash goodwil impairment charges. Of the $253.1 million, $208.1 million related to our Healthcare reporting unit and $45.0 milion
related to our Enterprise Solutions and Analytics reperting unit which is induded in our Business Advisory segment. These chargss are non-cash n nature and do not affect our
iquidity or debt covenants. See the "Critical Accounting Policies™ section below and Nole 4 "Goodwil and intangible Assels” within the notes to our consolidated financial statements
for further discussion of these charges.

Operating Income (Loss)

Operaling income decreased $281.7 milion, to a loss of $207.5 milion for the year endad December 31, 2017, from income of $74.2 milkon for the year ended December 31, 2016,
The decrease is primarily attributable to the $253.1 milion nor-cash pretax goodwill impairment charges recorded in 2017. See the "Crifical Accounting Policies” section below and
Note 4 "Goodwil and Intangible Assets" within the nates to our consolidated finandal staterments for additional information about the non-cash goodwil impairment charges.
Oparating margin, which is defined as operating incoma (loss} expressaed as a percentage of revenues, decreased 1o {28.3)% in 2017 compared to 10.2% in 2016. The decrease in
operating margin was primariy attributable (o the goodwil impairment charges, as wel as increases n salaries and related expenses for both our revenue-generaling professionals
and support personnel.

Other Expense, Net

Total olher expense, net decreased sightly to $15.0 millon for the ysar ended December 31, 2017, from $15.1 millon for the year ended December 31, 2016, The decrease was
pnmariy atiributable to a $2.4 millon gain on the market value of our nvestments that are used to fund our deferred compensation abiity, compared to a $1.2 milion gain in 2016,
as well as a $0.9 millon gain on the sake of our Life Sciencas Compkance and Opsrations solution ("LS C&C") within our Business Advisory segment in the second quarter of 2017,
and a $0.4 milion increase in foreign currency transaction gains. Thesa decreases were largely offset by a $2.3 milion ncrease in inferest expense, net of interest income due 1o
higher levels of borrowings and highar interest rates under our credit faclity during 2017 compared to 2016. See Note 4 *Goodwil and Infangible Assets® within the nates to our
consokdated financial statements for additional nformation on the sale of LS C&0.
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Income Tax Expense

For the year endad December 31, 2017, our effactive tax rate was 23.4% as we racognized income tax beneft from continuing cperations of $52.0 miion on a loss from confinuing
opsrations of $222,5 milion, For the year ended December 31, 20186, our effective tax rate was 33.3% as we recognized income tax expense from continuing operations of $19.7
milkon on mcome from contfinuing operations of $59.2 miflon. The effective tax rate for 2017 was lass favorabla than the statutory rate, ndusive of state incoma taxes, primarily due
to the $65.0 milon non-deductible portion of the goadwll impalrment charges related to the Healthcare and Enterprise Solrtions and Analylics reporting units recorded in 2017;
$8.8 miion of discrete income tax expense related fo the enactment of the 2017 Tax Reform in tha fourth quarter of 2017; and $1.8 milion of discrate tax expensa for share-based
compensation related to the adoption of ASU 2016-08 Improvements lo Emplyse Share-Bassd Payment Accounting. Refer to Note 2 "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies®
for additlonal information on the adoption of ASU 2016-09. These unfavorable discrete items were partialy offset by a $2.7 milion tax bensfit recorded in the third quarier of 2017
refated 1o a previously unrecognized tax beneft from our 2014 "check-the-box™ election.

On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs At (“2017 Tax Reform™), a tax reform bl which, among other tems, reduces the
current corporate federal income tax rate from 35% to 21% and moves from & workiwide tax system lo a territorial system. The rate reduction is effective January 1, 2018. As a
result of tha enactment of tha legislation in 2017, we estimated the remeasuremant of our net deferred taxes basad on the new lower tax rate, as well as provided for additional
one-time ncome lax expsnse estimates primarily refated to the transilion tax on accumulated foreign eamings and ekmination of foreign tax credits for dividends that are subject to
the 100 percent exemption in our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. Qur provisional analysis resutted m $8.8 miion of additional
ncome tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2017. Of the $8.8 milion, $7.3 millon redated to the remeasurement of our defarred tax balancas at the lower fedsral ncome
tax rate; $0.6 milion related to the (ransition tax on accumulated foreign earnings, net of apphcable forelgn tax credits; and $0.3 million related o withholding tax on outside basis
differencas dus to our change in assertion for permanent reinvestment. The impacts on our financial statements as of December 31, 2017, as a resuk of 2017 Tax Reform, were
considered preliminary and based on the informaton that was currently avalable at that time. These provisional resuks were subject to future adustments as adaltional analysis was
anbicipated based on technical corrections and regulatory mlerpretations to come. We expedted fo finalize the analysis as soon as practicable, but, n accordance with Staff
Accounting Bullstin ("SAB™) No. 118, which was issued as a result of 2017 Tax Reform, not later than one year from the enactment date. Changes fo our provisional analysis are
ncluded as an adjustment to tax expensa or benefit in the period the amounts are determined. As of December 31, 2018, we have completed cur accounting for all of the
enactment-date income tax effects of 2017 Tax Reform. See Note 16 “Income Taxes™ within the noles lo our consolidated financial staterments for further discussion of the
accounting impact of 2017 Tax Reform.

The effective tax rate for 2016 was lower than the statutory rate, indusive of state income taxes, primariy due to valuation alowance reductions, certain credits and deductions,
non-taxable meome, and a discrete fax benefit related to share-based compensation, partialy ofiset by non-deductble business expenses. In 2016, we refeased certain valuation
alowances primarty related to foreign tax credits, as we expect to have sufficient foreign source Income Lo utiize these credits before their expiration.

Net Income (Loss) from Continulng Qperations

Net Income frem continuing operations decreased by 5210.0 milion, to a net loss from continuing operations of $170.5 milion for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to
nel ncome from continuing operations of $39.5 milion for the year ended Decamber 31, 2016. The decreass was primarily attributable to the $253.1 milon non-cash pretax
goodwil impaiment charges recorded in 2017. As a result of the decrease in netincome from continuing operations, diuted loss par share from continuing oparations for the year
ended December 31, 2017 was $7.95 compared to diuted earnings per share from continuing operations of $1.84 for 2016. The non-cash goodwill Imparment charges had an
$8.40 unfavorable impact on diuted earnings per share from continuing operations in 2017.

Discontinued Operations

Net income from discontinued oparations for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $0.4 mition and primariy related to updated lease assumptions for vacated office spacaes
diractly refated to the sale of the Hurcn Legal segment. Net lboss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $1.9 mion and primarity relaled o
abligations for former employess, legal faes, and updated lease assumptions for vacated offics spaces directly related 1o the sale of the Huron Legal sagmant.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

EBITDA decreased $276.8 mikon, to a kss of $154.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, from earnings of $122.1 millon for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Adjusted EBITDA decrsased $25.1 million, or 19.3%, to $104.6 milion in 2017 from $129.7 milion in 2016, The decreass in EBITDA was primariy attributable to tha non-cash
gooawil impalrment charges of $253.1 milion recorded in 2017, The decrease In adjusted EBITDA was primariy due to the decreass in segment oparating income, as discussed
below in Segment Resuks, as wefl as an increase In corporate expenses primariy due o our acquisttions of Innosight and Pope Woodhead,
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Adjusted Net Income from Continuing Operations

Adjusted net Income from continuing operations decreased $22,1 milion, or 32.2%, to $46.6 milon for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $68.7 milion for the year
ended December 31, 2016. As a resuk of the decrease in adjusted net income from continuing operations, adjrsted diuted earnings per share from continuing oparations for 2017
was $2.15. compared to $3.21 for 2016.

Segment Results
Healthcare
Revenues

Healhcare sagment revenues dacreasad $68.0 milion, or 16.0%, to $356.9 milion for the year ended Dacember 31, 2017, from $424.9 milion for the year ended December 31,
2016. Revenues lor 2017 nduded $13.9 million of incremental revenues due fo the full year impact of our acquisitions of MyRounding and HSM Consulting, which wera completed
n the first and third quarters of 2016, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, revenues from fixed-fee engagements, ime-and-expense sngagements, performance-based arrangaments, and software support and
maintenance and subscription arrangements represented 67.7%, 16.1%, 8.7%. and 7.5% of this segment’s revenues, respaciively, compared fo 68.9%, 11.6%, 13.5%, and 6.0%,
raspectively, in 2016.

Of the overall $68.0 millon decrease In revenues, $65.5 mikon was attributable 1o a decreass In revenus from our ful-time bilable consultants, and $2.5 mikion was attributable to a
decrease in revenue generated by our ful-ime equivalents.

The decrease n revenue attributable to our ful-time billable consultants was primarily driven by decreasad demand for our performance improvement solution and reflecled
detreases n the average number of ful-time bilable consultants and the average biling rate, partially offset by an ncrease in the consuliant utlization rate. Performance-based fee
revenue was $30.9 milion in 2017 compared 1o $57.2 milion n 2016. The level of performance-basad fees earned may vary based on our clients' risk sharing preferences and the
mix of services we provide. Performance-based fee arrangements may also cause significant variations in revenues, oparating rasukts, and average bifing rates due to our level of
exscution and the timing of achievement of the parformance-based criteria.

The decrease in ful-lime equivalent revenues was primardy driven by a decreased demand for our Studer Group solution and reflected a decrease in revenue per fulktime
equivalent, partially offset by an increase in the average number of ful-time equivalents in 2017 compared to 2016,

Operating Income

Heallhcars segmenl opsrating income decreased $29.1 milion, or 19.7%, fo $118.8 mifion for the year ended December 31, 2017, from $147.9 millan for the year ended
December 31, 2016. The Healthcare segment aperating margin, defined as segment operating income expressed as a percentage of segment revenues, decreased to 33.3% n
2017 from 34.8% in 2016. The decrease in this segment's operating margin was primarily attributable to an ncrease, as a percentaga of ravenues, in salaries and refated expenses
for bath our support personnel and revente-genarating professionals, as wel as an increase in conlractor expanses, partialy offset by decreases in restructuring charges,
performance bonus expense for our revenue-generating professionals, and intangible assel amorlization expense, al as a percentage of revenues, in 2017 compared to 2016.

The nor-cash goodwill mpairmant charge related to our Healthcare segment discussed above within the consolidated results is not allocated at the segment level because the
undertying goodwil asset is refiective of our corporate investment in the segments. We do not ndude the impact of goodwil mpairment charges in our svakuation of sagment
performance. Ses the "Critical Accounting Policies” section below and Note 4 "Goodwil and Inlangibles Assels” within the notes lo our consoldated fmancial statements for further
discussion of this charge and our most recent goodwill impairment test parformed as of November 30, 2017. We will continue to evaluate goodwill for impairment during future
perieds. Any future significant dedine In the performance of the Heakhcare segment compared to our internal forecasts could result in another non-cash goodwil impairment
charge.

Business Advisory
Revenues

Business Advisory segment revenues increased $56.2 million, or 37.1%, to $207.8 milion for the year ended December 31, 2047, from $151.5 milkion for the ysar endad
December 31, 2016. Revenues for 2017 included $43.9 milion from our acquisitions of Innosight and Pope Woodhead, which ware completed n the first quarter of 2017,
Revenues for 2017 ake nduded a ful pariod impact of cur acquistion of the U.S, assets of AD| Stratagies and revenuas from our acquisition of the international assets of ADI
Strategies. These acquisitions were completed m May 2016 and April 2017, respactively, and have snce been fully ntegrated Into the Business Advisory segment.
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For the year ended December 31, 2017, revenues from fixed-fee engagements, time-and-expense engagements, performance-based engagements, and software support and
maintenance and subscription arrangements represented 34.8%, 61.4%, 2.1%, and 1.7% of this segment's revenues, respectively, compared to 19.8%, 74.6%, 4.1%, and 1.5%,
respectivaly, In 2016. Parformance-based fee revenus for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $4.5 milion compared to $6.2 milion in 2016. The level of performance-based
fess eamed may vary basad on our clents’ preferences and the mix of services we provide. Performance-based fee amrangements may cause significant variations in revenues,
operating results, and average biling rates dus to cur level of exacution and the timing of achievement of the performance-based criteria.

The overall $56.2 milion increase n revenues was primarily attributable to an ncrease in revenue generated by our ful-time biable consuliants, The increase in revenue from our
fuHime bilable consultants was primarly driven by our acquisitions of Innesight, ADI Strategies, and Pope Woodhead, ard reflacted an increasa in the average number of fulk-time
bikable consutiants, partialy offset by decreases in the average biing rate and consukant utiization rate.

Operating Income

Bushness Advisory segment operaling income mereased by $17.2 milion, or 58.6%. to $46.6 milion for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $29.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016. Segment operating margin ncreased 1o 22.4% for 2017 from 19.4% for 2016, The increase In this segmant's operating margin was primarly
atiributable to decreases in performance bonus expense and share-based compensation for our revenue-generaling professionals, as well as a decrease in conlractor expense.
These incraases to operating margin were partialy offset by increases in salaries and related expenses for our revenue-generating professionals; travel related cosis, largely
related to the operations of our aircraft purchased in connection with our Innosight acqulsttion; third-party consulting expensas; and signing and retention bonus expense for our
revenue-generalg professionals, all as a parcentage of revenues.

While the Business Advisory segment's revenues and operating incoms ncreased year-gver-year, the Enterprise Solitions and Analylics practice within this sagment experlenced a
dedine n revenues and oparating income 1n the fourth quarter of 2017 compared to the third quarter of 2017. During the first thiee quarters of 2017, the performance of
Enterprise Solutions and Analytics continued to reasanably meet our expectations. Howaver, both revenues and operating margin during the fourth quarter of 2017 fell short of our
expecistions resuking in a reduction in workforce within the reporfing unit during that quarter. As a result, our goodwi impairment test conducted as of November 30, 2017,
indicated that the fair value of the Enterpriss Solutions and Analytics reporting unit no longer exceeded its carrying value, and we recorded a $45.0 milion non-cash pretax goodwil
impaiment charge to write off the entire carrying value of ths reporting unit's goodwik.

This non-cash goodwl Impalmment charge is not alocated at the segment level because the underlying goodwil asset is refiective of our corporate nvestment in the sagments. We
do not include the impact of goodwll impairment chargas in our evakation of segment perfarmance. See the "Critical Accounting Polickes™ section below and Note 4 "Goodwil and
Intangiblas Assets" within the notes to our conscidated financial statements for further discussion of this charge.

Education
Revenues

Education segment revenues increased $18.1 millon, or 12.1%, to $167.9 milion for the year ended December 31, 2017, from $149.8 millon for the year ended Decembar 31,
216,

For the year ended December 31, 2017, revenues from fixed-fee engagements, time-and-expense engagements, performance-based arrangements, and software support and
maintenance and subscription arrangements reépresented 16.6%, 77.5%, 0.2%, and 5.7% of this segment's revenues, respeciively, compared lo 14,4%, 78.9%, 0.7%, and 6.0%,
respectively, during 2016.

Of tha overall $18.1 milion increase in revenues, $20.0 millon was attributable to an Increase in revenue generated by our ful-time bilabla consukants, partially offset by a $1.9
milion decrease in revenue genarated by our fulktime equivalents. The increass in revenues from our ful-ime bllable consuktants reflected an increase in the average number of
fulk-time bilable consukants and the consultant uthzalion rate, partially offset by a decrease in the average biling rate. The decreasa in revenue from our ful-time equivelents
reflected decreasas in the average number of ful-time equivalents and revenue per ful-time equivalent in 2017 compared to 2016,

Operating Income

Education segment operating income increased $2.0 millon, or 5.2%, 1o $40.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, from $38.3 mon for the year ended Decembar 31,
2016, The Education segment operating margin decreased to 24.0% for 2017 from 25.6% for 2016, The decrease in this segment's oparating margin was primariy attributable to
anincreass in salaries and related expsnses for our revenue-genarating professionals, which was largely drivan by our confinued mvastmant in revenue-generating consultants in
our doud-based enterprise resource ptanning (ERP) mplementation practices, and performance bonus expenses for our revenue-generaling professionals, all as a percentage of
revenues, partially offset by a decrease in projed costs.
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LIQUIDITY ARD CAPITAL RESCURCES

Cash and cash equivelents were $33.1 milion, $16.9 milion, and $17.0 milkon at Decamber 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respactively. As of December 31, 2018, our primary sources
of fiquidity are cash on hand, cash flows from our U.S. operations, and borrowing capacity avalable under our credi fagity.

Year Ended December 31,
Cash Flows (In thousands): 2018 2017 2016
| Net cash provided by operating activities ‘ : s 101658 $ - . 99795 § . 129,243
Net cash used in investing activities ) (18562) (128,948) (86,636)
 Net cash provided by {used in) financing activiies | S o (esesm) osgt (84,005}
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash N {208) 214 [£:
Netincrease (decrease) b cash and cash equivalents ' ' $ 16198 § - (118) § (41,410)

Operating Actlvities

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $101.7 milion, $39.8 milion, and $129.2 million for the years endad December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively. Qur
operating assets and liabies consist primarily of receivables from blled and unbiled senvices, accounts payable and accrued expensas, accrued payrod and refated benefils, and
deferred ravenues, The voluma of services randered and the refated bilings and fiming of collactions on those bilings, as well as payments of our accounts payable and salaries,
bonusas, and related bensfits to employaes affect thase account balances.

The sMght increase in cash provided by oparations In 2018 compared to 2017 was primariy attribulable to an increass in cash collections from dients, largely offsat by increased
vendor payments in 2018 compared to 2017.

The decrease in cash provided by operations in 2017 compared to 2016 was primariy afirbutable to lowsr net income, the collection of a $10.0 milion setement receivable in the
first quarter of 2016, and a decrease in cash collections from dients, partialy offset by decreased vendor and tax payments in 2017 compared to 2016.

Investing Activitles
Net cash used in nvesting aciivities was $18.6 miflion, $128.9 million, and $86.6 miBlon for the years ended Dacember 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.

The use of cash in 2018 primarily consssted of $8.9 milion for purchases of property and equipment, primariy related to purchases of computers and network equipment; $6.1
milion for paymants related to nternally developed software; $2.3 millon for payments related to the divestiture of our Middle East practice within the Bushess Advisory segment;
and $2.0 millon lor contrbutions to our life insurance policies which fund our deferred compensation plan.

The uss of cash in 2017 primariy consisted of $106.% milion for purchases of businessas and $24.4 milion for purchasas of properly and equipment, primariy related to leasehokd
mmprovements and purchase of furniture and fixtures for new office spaces in certain locations.

The usa of cash in 2016 primarily consisted of $69.1 milion for purchases of businesses and $13.9 milion for purchases of property and equipment.

We estimate that cash utilized for purchases of property and equipment and software in 2019 wil be approximately $15 milion to $20 milkon, primariy consisting of leasehold
mprovements for certain office locatians and software development costs,

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $66,7 millon for the year ended December 31, 2018. During 2018, we borrowad $204.3 miion under our credit fackty and mada
repayments on our credi faclity of $259.8 miion. We also paid $12.0 millien to the sellers of certain businesses we acquired for achieving spsecified financial performance targets in
acoordanca with the related purchase agreaments. Of the $12.0 million, $7.0 milion is classified as a cash outfiow from financing actities and represents the amount paid up to the
initial fair value of the contingent consideration kability recorded as of the acquisition dates. The remaining $5.0 millon is dlassified as a cash outflow from operating activites.

Net cash provided by financing acthitles was $28.8 mllion for the year ended December 31, 2017. During 2017, we borrowed $277.5 mélon under our credlt facity, primarly to
fund our acquisitions of Innosight and Pope Woodhead and our annual performance bonus payment, and made repayments on our credit faciily of $240.7 milkon.
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Net cash used in financing activities was $84.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. During 2016, we borrowed $200.0 m¥on under our cradit faciity, primarily to fund
the acquisiions of HSM Consulting and ADI Strategies and our annual performance bonus payment, and we made repayments on our credit faciity of $224.0 million. We also
repurchased and refired $55.3 millon of our common stock under our Share Repurchasa Program, as discussed below.

Share Repurchase Program

We currently have a share repurchase program permiting us to repurchase up to $125 millon of our commen stock through October 31, 2019 (the "Share Repurchase Program”).
The amount and timing of the repurchases will be determined by managemsant and wil depend on a varlaty of factors, Incuding the trading price of our commeon stock, capaciy
under our credi facilty, general market and business condilions, and applcable legal requirements. In 2016, we repurchased and retired 982,192 shares for $55.3 milion. No
shares were repurchased under this program in 2018 or 2017. As of December 31, 2018, $35.1 milion remains available for share repurchases.

Financing Armangements

At Dacember 31, 2018, we had $250 million principal amount of our 1.25% convertible senior notes outstanding, $50.0 milion outstanding under our senior secured credil fadlily,
and $4.4 milien outstanding under a promissory note, as discussed below.

1.25% Convertible Senior Notes

In September 2014, we issued $250.0 millon principal amount of the Convertible Notes in a private offering, The Convertible Noles are senior unseaured obigations of the
Company and will pay interest semi-annually on Aprl 1 and October 1 of each year at an annual rate of 1.25%. The Convertble Notas will mature on Oclober 1, 2019, unless
earlier repurchased by the Company ar converted in accordance with ther terms. We expect to refinance the principal amount of the cutstanding notes at maturity with the
barrowing capadity avaiable under our reveiving credil faciity.

Upon conversion, the Convartible Notes will be sattled, at our election, in cash, shares of the Company’s commeon stock, or a combination of cash and shares of the Company’s
common slock. Our current intent and policy is to seftle conversions with a combination of cash and shares of common stock with the principal amount of the Convertble Notes paid
in cash, in accordance with the setiement provisiens of the Indenture.

The iitial conversion rate for the Convertible Notes is 12,5170 shares of our common stock per $1.,000 principal amount of the Convertible Notes, which is equal to an initial
convarsion price of approximately $79.89 per share of our common stock.

In connection with the issuance of the Convertible Notes, we entered nto convertitle note hedge fransactions and warrant transactions. The convartible note hedge transactions
are intended to reducs the potentlal fulure ecenomic diution associated with the conversion of the Convertible Notes and, combined with the warrants, effectively ratse the price at
which economic dikttion would occur from the inillat conversion price of approximalely $79.89 to approximately $97.12 per share,

The carrying amount of our Convertible Notes due 2019 as of December 31, 2018, was $242.6 mfion, which represents the $250.0 mion princpal amount net of unamortized
debt discount and issuance costs, and is induded in current maturities of kong-term debt on the consolidated bakancs sheat as of December 31, 2018. The carrying amount of our
Convertible Notes due 2019 as of December 31, 2017, was $233.1 milion and was induded In bong-term debt, net of current portion on the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2017.

For further information, see Nots 6 *Financing Amangements” within the notes to our consolidated financial statements. For a discussion of certain risks and uncertainties related 1o
the Convartible Notes, see Part Htem 1A. "Risk Factors.”

Senior Secured Crodil Faciy

The Company has a $500 milion senior secured revolving credit facilty, subject to the ferms of a Second Amended and Restaled Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 2015, as
amended to dale {as amended and modified the “Amended Credit Facty™), that becomes due and payable in full upon maturity on March 23, 2023. The Amended Credit
Agresment providas the option 1o increase the revohving credit faclity or establish term loan faciities in an aggregate amount of up to $150 miflon, subjed o customary conditions
and the approval of any lender whose commkment woukd be Increasad, resulking in a2 maximum available principal amount under the Amended Credit Agreement of $650 mikion.
The initial borrewings under the Amended Credit Agreement were used to refinance borrowings outstanding under a prior credit agreement, and futire borrowings under the
Amendsd Credk Agresment may be used for working capital, capilal expenditures, acquissions of businesses, share repurchases, and general corporate purposes.

Fees and interest on barrowings vary based on our Consobdated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement). At aur option, borrewings under the Amanded
Cradit Agreament wll bear interest al one, two, three or si-month LIBOR or an alternats base rate, in each case plus the appkcable margi. The applcable margin wil fluctuate
between 1.25% per annum and 2.00% per annum, in tha case of
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LIBOR borrowings, or between 8.25% per annum and 1.00% per annum, in the case of base rale loans, based upon our Consolidated Leverage Ratio at such time.

Amounts borrowed under the Amendad Credit Agreement may be prepaid at any ime without premium or penalty. We are required to prepay the amaunts outstanding under the
Amended Credit Agresment in certain circumslances, induding a requirement to pay all amounts cutstanding 90 days prior to the Converible Indebtedness Maturity Date (as
defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) unless (1) the Convertible Indebtedness Maturity Date & waked or extended to a kater date, (2) the Company can demaonstrate

(a} Liquidity (s defined In the Amended Credlt Agreement) in an amount at least equal to the principal amount due on the Convertible Indebtedness Maturity Date, and (b} financial
covenanl complance after giving effect to such payments and any additional indebtedness incurred on a pro forma basis, or {3) this requirement is waived by the Required Landers
(as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement). In addition, we have the right to psrmanently reduce or ferminata the unused portion of the commiments providad under the
Amended Credit Agreement at any time.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains usual and customary representations and warranties; affirmative and negative covenants, which include lmitations on ens, investments,
additional indettedness, and restricted payments; and two quarterly financial covenants as folows: {i) a maximum Consolidated Levarage Ratio {defined as the ralio of debt to
conscidated EBITDA) ranging from 3.50 to 1.00 to 4,00 to 1.00, depending on the measurement pariod, and (i) a minimum Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio (defined as the
ratio of consolidated EBITDA fo nterest) of 3.50 fo 1.0). Consoldated EBITDA for purpesas of the finandal covenants ks calculated on a continuing operations bass and includes
adjustments to add back non-cash goodwil imparment charges, share-based compensalion costs, certain nen-cash restructuring tharges, pro forma historical EBITDA for
businesses acquired, and other spedfied fems in accordance with the Amended Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with thess finandial covenants
with a Consokdated Leverage Ratio of 2.83 to 1.00 and a Consalidated Interest Coverage Ratio of 11.03 to 1.00.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains restricted payment provisions, induding a potential limit on the amount of dividends. Pursuant to the terms of the Amanded Credi
Agresment, if cur Consoldated Leverage Ratio s greater than 3.00, the amount of dvidends and other Restricted Payments (as defined in the Amended Credi Agreement} we
may make is imited to an amount up to $75 milion plus 50% of cumulative consolidated nat incoma (as defined i the Amended Credit Agreemsnt) from the closing date of the
Amended Credi Agreement plus 50% of the net cash proceads from equity issuances after the dosing date of the Amended Cradit Agreament

Borrowings outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement at Decemnbyer 31, 2018 totaled $50.0 million. These borrowings carried a weighted average interest rate of 3.7%,
ncluding the impact of the Interest rate swap dascribed m Note 11 “Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity™ within the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Borrowings outstanding under the Amended Cradit Agreement at December 31, 2017 were $105.0 millon and carmied a weighted average interast rate of 3.7%, induding the
mpact of the interest rate swap described in Note 11 *Derivative Instruments and Hedging Acthvity” within the notes to the consolidated finandal statements. The borrowing capacity
undar the revolving credit faclty s reduced by any outstanding borrowings under the revohing credit faciity and outstanding letters of credit. At December 31, 2018, we had
outstanding letters of credit totaling $1.6 milion, which are primarily used as security deposits for our office facfiies. As of December 31, 2018, the unused borrowing capacity under
the revolving credit faclity was $448.4 mifion.

For further information, see Note 6 "Finanding Arrangements” within the notes to the consofdated financial statements. For a discussion of certain risks and uncertainties refated to
the Amended Credit Faciity, see Part —Hem 1A. "Risk Factors.”

Promissory Note due 2024

On June 30, 2017, in conjunction with our purchase of an aircrafi related 1o the acquisilion of Innosight, we assumed, from the sellers of the aircraft, a promissory note with an
outstanding principal balance of $5.1 mifion. The principat balance of the promissory note is subject to scheduled monthly principal payments until the maturity date of March 1,
2024, at which time a final payment of $1.5 mBon, plus any acorued and unpaid interest, wil be due. Under the terms of the promissory note, we wil pay inferest on the outstanding
pringipal amount at a rate of one-month LIBOR plus 1.97% per annum, The obligations under the promissory note are secured pursuant to a Loan and Arcraft Security Agreement
with Banc of Amerlca Leasing & Capital, LLC, which grants the lender a first priority security interest in the aircrafl. At December 31, 2018, the outstanding principal amount of the
promissory note was $4.4 millon. As of Decambar 31, 2018, the aircraft had a carrying amount of $5.8 milion. At Decembar 31, 2017, {he culslanding principal amounl of the
promissory note was $4.9 milion, and the aircraft had a carrying amount of $6.5 milian.

For further information, see Nole 6 “Financing Arrangements™ within the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Future Needs

Qur primary financing nead has bean 1o fund our growth. Our growth strateqgy is to expand our servics offerings, which may require investments In new hires, acquisitions of
complementary businesses, possible expansion into other gecgraphic areas, and relaled capital expenditures. We believe our internally generated iquidity, together with our
avaiable cash, the borrowing capacky avalable under our revolving credi faclity, and access to external capital resources wil be adequate to fund our long-term growth and capital
needs arising from cash commitments and debt sarvice obligations. Our abifity to secure short-ferm and long-term financing in the future will depand on sevaral
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factars, nouding our future profitability, the quality of our accounts recevable and unbiled services, our relative levels of debt and equity, and the overall condition of the credit
markets.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
The folowing 1able represents our significant ebfigations and commitments as of December 31, 2018 and the scheduled years of payments (in thousands),

Payments Due by Period
_________ S Total 2019 2020-2021 2022-2023 Thereafter

Convertble seriof notes—principal snd mterest™ -~ 253425 § 253126 § 00— §  — § =
Long-term bank borrowings—principal and interest @ 59,078 2,136 4,272 52,670 —
Promésory note—pricpalend erest ® 5,045 R T -
Oparating laase obgations # 86,521 13,701 24,3114 21473 27,033
Contingentoonseraton® . L T 2 I
Purchase oblgations ™ 14,479 11,032 Ja7 - -
Transion fax on acumubated forgign eamings® 568 e w0 w2 o1
Deferred compensation ® 18,445
Unéeﬁaintaprﬁtﬁ);""' . ) | L 034 S o

Total contractual obligations $ 449736 % 290727 % 4944 % 75612 § 28,974

{1} In September 2014, wa issuad $250 milion principal of 1.25% convertible senior notes due 2019, We pay cash interest on the outstanding notes at an annual rate of 1.25%
semk-annually on Aprl 1 and October 1 of each yaar until October 1, 2019, at which time we will repay any accrued and unpaid interest and the principal amount of all
outstanding notes. We expect to refinance the principal amount of the outstanding notes at maturity with the borrowing capacity avaiable under our revolving credit faciity.

{2) The Interast payments on long-term bank borrowings are estimated based on the principal amount outstanding and the interest rate in effect as of December 31, 2018. Actual
future nterest payments will differ dus to changes in our borrewings outstanding and the interest rate on those borrowings, as the nterest rate varies based on the fluctuations
in the varlable base rates and the spread we pay over those base rates pursuant to the Amended Credit Agresment. Refer to "Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Note 6
*Financing Arrangements” within the notes to our consolidated financlal statements for more Information on owr outstanding borrowlngs.

{3) The interest payments on the promissory note are astimated basad on the principal amount cutstanding, scheduled principal payments, and the interest rate In effect as of
Decamber 31, 2018. Actual future inferest payments may differ due to changes in the principal amount outstanding and the interest rate on that principal amount, as the
interest rate varias based on the fluctuations in the one-month LIBOR rate. Refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Note 6 “Financing Arrangements” within the notes
1o our consolidated financial statements for more information on the promissory note.

{4) Wa lease our faciities under operating lease arrangesments expiring on various dates through 2028, with various renewal options. We lease office facilties undar non-
cancelable operating leases that indude fixed or minimum payments plus, n some cases, scheduled base rent increases over the term of the lease.

{5) In connection with certain business acquisitions, we may be required to pay post-closing conskieration 1o the seflers if specific fnandial parformance targets are met over a
number of years as spedified in the related purchase agresments. As of Dacember 31, 2018, the estimated fair value of the contingenl consideration liabilty was $11.4 million,
The maximum amount that may be paid under contingent consideration Babifities existing as of December 31, 2018 |s $41.9 milion.

{8) Purchase obligations inchsde agreements fo purchase goods or services that are enforceable, are legaly binding, and specky al significant terms, incuding fixed of minimum
quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the fransaction. Purchase obligations do not include agreements that are
cancelabls without penalty,

{7} As aresuk of the 2017 Tax Reform, we are required to pay a one~time fransition tax on our accumulated forelgn earnings as of December 31, 2017, which were primariy
generated by our operalions in Canada. We have the option to pay this Rability in installiments ovar the next eight years as reflacted in the table above, and the payments may
be offset with certain foreign tax credits.

{8} Included in deferred compansation and other abilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018 is a $18.4 miion abligation for deferred compensation. The
specific payment dates for the deferred compensation are unknown; therefore, the related balances have not been reflacted in the *Payments Dus by Period” section of the
table. This deferred compensation kablty ks funded by corresponding deferred compsnsation plan assets. Refer to Note 14 “Employee Benefit and Daferred Compensation
Plang” within the notes to our consokdated financia! statements for more Information on our deferred compensation plan.
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{9) Our kabiities for uncertain tax positions are classified as non-current, Induded in the balancs is $0.1 milien for the accrual of potential payment of intersst and penalties. We
are unable to reasonably estimate the timing of future payments as & depends on examinations by taxing authorities; as such, the related balance has not been refiecled in the
“Payments Due by Perlod” section of the table.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
We ara not a party to any material off-balance sheet arrangements.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and resufts of operations are basad upon our consolidaled financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with acoounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). Cur significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2 *Summary of
Significant Acoounting Policles,” within the notes to our consolidated financial statements. Wa regularly review our financial reporting and disclosure practices and accounting pelcies
to ensure that our finaryal reporting and disdosures provide accurate information relative te the current economic and business emvirenment. The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make assessments, estimates, and assumptions that affect the reperted amounts of assets and liabikies and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilties as of the data of the finandial statements, as wel as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the raporting period.
Critical acocounting policies are those pelices thal we balieve present the most complex or subjective measurements and have the most potential to impact our finandial position and
operating resulis. While al decislons regarding accounting policies are important, we bebeve that there are five accounting policies that could be considered critical: revenue
recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilad sarvices, business combinations, carrying values of goodwil and other intangible assets, and accounting for incoma taxes.

Revenue Recognition

On January 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Custorers (ASC Topic 606), on a modified retrospective basis to
all open contracts, as modified, as of that date. Adoption of the new standard resutted in changes to our accounting policy for revenua recognition, most notably for performance-
based blling arrangements. Adopting ASC 606 on a modified retrospaciive basis had no impact on our consolidated financial statements i the prior periods presented. Refer to
Note 2 “Summary of Significanit Accourting Policies,” within the notes to our consolidated finandial statements for additional infermation on our adoption of ASC 606.

We generate substantially al of our revenuas fram providing professional services to our ciients. We also gensrale revenues from software bcenses; software support, maintenance
and subscriptions to our doud-based analytic tools and solutions; speaking engagements; conferences; and publications. A single contract could include one or multiple performance
obligations, For those contracts that have multiple performance obligations, wa allocate tha total transaction priee to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone
sefiing prica, which is determined based on our overal pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other faciors,

Revenue is recognized when control of the goods and services provided are transferred to our cusiomers and in an amount that reflects the consideralion we expedt 1o be entied
to in exchange for those goods and services using the following steps: 1) identify the contract, 2) identify the performance obigations, 3) determing the transaction price, 4) alocate
the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and 5} recognize revenue as or when we satisfy the performance obligations.

We typically satisfy our performance obligations for professional servicas over time as the related servicas are provided. The performance obligations related to software support,
manntenance and subscriptions to our doud-based analytic tooks and solutions are typically satisied evenly over the coursa of the service perled. Cther performance ebligations,
such as certain software lcenses, speaking engagements, conferences, and publications, are satisfied at a point in fime

We generate our revanues undar four types of blling arrangements: fixed-fee {induding software license revenue), time-and-expenss, performance-based, and software support
and maintenance and subseriptions.

In fixed-fee billng arrangamants, we agree to a pre-established fee in exchanga for a predetermined set of professional services, We sat the fees based on our estimates of the
costs and timing for completing the engagements. Wa generally recognize revenues under fced-fee bilng arrangaments using a proportienate performance approach, which is
based on work completed to-date versus our estimates of the total senvices to be providad under the engagement. Contracts within our Studer Group solution indude fixed-fee
partner coniracts with multiple performance obligations, which primariy consist of coaching services, as well as speaking engagements, conferences, publications and software
products {"Partner Contracts™). Revenues for coaching services and software products are generally recognized on a siraight-ine basis over the length of the contract. AR other
revenues under Partner Contracts, mchuding speaking engagements, conferences and pubbications, are recognized at the time the goods or servicas are provided. Estimates of total
engagement revenues and cos! of services are monitored regularly during the term of the engagement, if our estimates indicate a polential loss, such loss is recognized in the
periad in which the loss first becomes probable and reasonably astimable.
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Wa slsc genarate revenuss from software icensas far our revenue cycs management software and research administration and compliance software. Licenses for our revenue
cytle management software are sold only as a component of our consulting projects, and the sarvices we provide are essential to the functionalty of the software. Therefore,
revanuss from these softwares licenses are recognized ovar the term of the related consulting sarvices contract. License revenue from our research administration and complance
software is gereraly recognized in the month in which the software is defvered.

Time-and-expense biling arangements require the dient to pay based on the number of hours worked by our revenue-generating professionals at agreed upon rates, Time-and-
expense arrangements ake indude certan speaking engagements, conferences, and publications purchasad by our chients outside of Partnar Conltracts within our Studer Group
sclution. We recognize revenuss under time-and-expense arrangsments as the related servicas or publications are provided, using the right to Involcs practical expadient which
allows us fo recognize revenus in the amount that we have a right to nvoice based on the number of hours workad and the agreed upon hourly rates or the value of the speaking
angagements, conferences or publications purchased by our dients.

In performancs-based biling arrangements, fees are tied to the attainment of contractually defined objectives. We enter into performance-based engagements in essentialy two
forms. First, we generally eam fees that are directly refated to the savings formally acknowledged by the dient as a result of adopting our recommendations for mproving
operational and cost sffectiveness In the areas we review. Sacond, we have performance-based engagements in which we earn a success fae when and if certain predefined
outcomes occur, We recognize revenue under performance-based bifing arrangements using the folowing steps: 1) estimats variable consideration using a probabiity-weighted
assessment of the fees to be eamad, 2) apply a constraint to the estimated variable consideration to limit the amount that could be reversed when the uncertainty is resolved (the
*constraint”), and 3) recognize revenue of estimated variable consideration, net of the constraint, basad on work completed to-date versus our estimates of the total services to be
provided under the engagement.

Clients that have purchased one of our software icenses can pay an annual fee for software support and maintenance. Wa atso generate subscription revenue from our doud-
based analytic tooks and selutions, Seftware support and maintenance and subscription-based revenues are recognized ratably over the support or subscription period. These fees
are biled in advance and inckuded in deferred revenuas untl recognized.

Provisions are recorded for the estimated realization adjustments on al engagements, including engagements for which fees are subject to review by the bankrupicy courts,

Expense reimbursements that are bilable io dients are included in {otal revenues and reimbursable expenses. Under foed-fee biling arrangements, we estimats the tolal amount of
reimbursable expenses to be incurred over the courss of the engagement and recognize the estimated amount as revenue using a proportionate performance approach, which is
based on work completed to-date versus our estimates of the total servicas fo be provided under the engagement. Under time-and-expensa bilg arrangements we recopnize
reimbursable expenses as revenue as the related services are provided, using the right to invoice practical expedient. Reimbursable expenses are recognized as expenses in the
parkid In which the expense Is ncurred. Subcontractors that are billed to dients at cost are ako nduded in reimbursable expsansas. When blings do not specifically identify
rembursable expenses, we allocate the portion of the billngs equivalent to these expenses to reimbursable expenses.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Unbllled Sarvices

We maintain alowances for doubtful eccounts and for sarvices performed but not yet billed based on several faciors, including the estimated cash realization from amounts due
from clients, an assessment of a chant's abiity to make required payments, and the historical percentages of fee adustments and write-offs by age of receivables and unbiled
senvices. The alowances are assessed by management on a regular basis. These eslimates may differ from actual results. If the financial condition of a client deteriorates in the
future, impacting the dient’s ability to make payments, an increase to our alowance might be required or our allowancs may not be sufficient 1o cover actual write-offs.

We record the provision for doubtful accounts and unbiBed services as a reduction in revenue to the extent the provision refates to fee adustments and other discrationary pricing
adjustments. Ta the extent the provision refates to a cient's nablity to make raquired paymants on accounts receivables, wa record the provigion 1o saling, general and
administrative expenses,

Business Combinatlons

The assets acquired and §abilities assumed in a business combination, including identffiable intangble assets, are recorded at their astimated fair valuss as of the acquisition date.
Goodwll is recorded as the excass of the fair value of consideration transferred, nduding any contingent consideration, over the fair value of the net assets acquired. We base the
far values of identifiable intangible assets on detailed valuations that require manegement to make significant judgments, astimates, and assumptions, such as the expected futura
cash flows to be derived from the Intangible assets, discount rates that reflect the risk factors assoclated with future cash flows, and estimates of useful Eves.
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We measure and recognize contingant consideration at far value as of the acquisition dale. Ye estimate the fair value of contingent consideration basad on either a probabikty-
weighted assessment of the spedfic financial performance targets being achieved or a Monte Carlo simulation moded, as appropriate. Thesa far valie measurements require the
use of significant udgments, estimates, and assumptions, ncluding financial parfermance projections and discount rates. The fair value of the contingent consideratlon Is reassessed
quarterly based on assumptions used in our latest financial projections and input provided by practice leaders and management, with any change in the fair value estimale recorded
in eamnings m that period. Increases or decreases in the fair value of contingent consideration kabities resulting from changes m the astimates or assumptions coukd materialty
impact the finandal statements. See Note 3 "Acqulsitions” within the notes to our consolidated financial statements for additional Information regarding our acquisttions.

Carrying Values of Goodwill and Other Intangibles Asseis

We test goodwil for impairment, at the reporting unit level, annually and whenever events or circumstances make & more fkely than not that an impairment may have occurred. We

perform our annual goodwil impairment test as of Novamber 30 and monitor for interim friggering events on an ongoing basis. A reporting unit is an operating segment or one level
below an operating segment (referred to as a component) o which goodwil is assigned when nitially recorded. We assign goodwil {o reporiing units based on our integration plans
and the expacted synergies resulting from the acquisiion. At the time of cur November 30, 2018 annual goodwil impairment test, we had five reporting units with goodwill balancas:
Heatthcare, Education, Business Advisory, Strategy and Innovation, and Life Sciencss. The Businass Advisory, Strategy and Innovation, and Life Sciences reporting units, along with
the Enterprise Solutions and Analytics reparting, which does not have a goodwil balance, make up cur Business Advisory operating segment,

Under GAAP, wa have the option to first assass qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of current events or dreumstances would lead to a determination that it is
more liely than not that the far vakse of one of our reporting units is greater than s carrying value. If we determing it s more lkely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
greater than lis carrying value, no further testing is necessary. However, if we condude otherwise, then we are required to perform a quantitative impairment test by calculating the
fair value of the reporting unit and comparing the fair value with the carrying value of the reporting unk, If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a non-cash
impairment charge is recorded n an amount equal to that difference with the loss not fo exceed the total amount of goodwil allocated to the reporting unit.

Wo have the option fo bypass the qualilative assessment for any reporting unit and proceed diractly to performing the quantfitative goodwil impairment lest.

For reporting units whare we perform the quantitative test, we determine the fair value using a combination of the income approach and the market approach. For a company such
as ours, the ncome and market approaches will generally provide the most reliable indications of fair value because the value of such companies is dependent on their abiity to
generate earnings.

The following is a discussion of our goodwill impairment analysis performed during 2018.
2018 Annual Goodw# Impairment Analysis

Pursuant to our policy, we performed our annual goodwil mpairment test as of November 30, 2018 on our five reporling units wilh goodwil balances: Healthcare, Education,
Busmess Adwsory, Strategy and Innovation, and Life Sdences. We performed a quakative assessment over all reporting units to determine # it was more lkely than not the
respactive fair valuas of these reporting units were less than their carrying amounts, incuding goodwil,

For our qualkative assessment, we considered the most recent quantitative analysis performed for each reporting uni, which was as of November 30, 2017, including the key
assumptions used within that analysis, the indicated far values, and the amount by which those fair values exceeded their carrying amounts. Onae of the key assumptions used within
the prior quantitative analysis was our internal financial projections; therefore, we considered the actual performance of each reporting unit during 2018 compared to the internal
fmancial projections used, as well as specific outlooks for each reporting unit based on our most recent internal finandal projections. We alsc considered the market-based valuation
multiples used in the market approach within gur prior quantitative analysis, which were derived from gukdeline companies, and nefed that the valuation multicles generally Increased
over the past year, We also reviewad the currenl carrying value of each reporting unit in comparison to the carrying values as of the prior quanlitative analysis. In addition, we
considersd various factors, ncuding macroeconomic conditions, relevant industry and market trends for each reporting unit, and other enlity-spediic avents, that could indicate a
potential charge in the fair value of our reporting units or the compasition of their carrying values, Based on our assessments, we determined that it was more likely than not that
the fair values for each of our reporting units exceeded therr respective carrying amounts. As such, the goodwil for our reporting units was not considered impaired as of November
30, 2018, and a quantitative goodwill impairment analysis was not necessary.

The qualitativa assessment of our reporting units requires us to make significant judgments, estimates, and assumptions. While we believe that the estimates and assumptions
underlying our analysis are reasonable, there is no assurance that the actual future earnings or cash
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fiows of our reporting units will be consistant with our projections. We wil monilor any changes to our assumptions and will evaluate goodwil as deemed warranted during future
periods. Any significant decine in our operations could result in non-cash goodwil impairment charges.

The carrying values of goodwil for each of our reporting units as of December 31, 2018 are as folows (in thousands):

Carrying Value
Reporting Unlt of Goodwill
Heathcae  ~° . L o R X
Education 102,829
BushessAdvory .. | L 16,094
Strategy and Innovation 87,411
o Sgonces o L 10.200
Enterprise Sokutians and Analytics h ) —
X Tptal . | .. . X ) | ‘ .. . ‘. ; 25

intangible assels represent purchased assets that lack physical substance but can be distinguished from goodwil Our intanghble assels, net of accumulated amortization, totaled
$47.9 milion at December 31, 2018 and primarily consist of customer relationships, trade names, customer contracts, technolegy and software, non-competition agreements, and
publishing content, all of which were acquired through business combinations. We evaluate our intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in drcumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. No imparment charges for intangible assets were recorded in 2018.

Income Taxes

Our ncome tax expansa, deferred tax assets and kabdkies, and reserves for unrecognized tax benefits reflact management's best assessment of estimated future taxes to be paid.
In determining our provision for income 1axes on an interim basis, we estimate our annual effective tax rate based on nformation avallable at each interim period.

Deferred tax assets and kabiities are recorded for future tax consequances atirbutable to temporary difiarances betwesn the financlal statement carrying amounts of existing
assels and liabiies and therr respective tax bases. These deferred tax assets and abities are measured using enacted 1ax rates expecied to apply lo taxable income in the years
in which those temporary difierences are expected to be recoverad or seftled. Deferred tax assais are reduced by a valration allowance when, n management's opinion, it is more
Rkely than not that some portion or the entire deferred tax asset wil not be realized,

Our tax positions are subject to income tax audits by federal, state, kocal, and foreign tax authorities. A tax benefil from an unceriain position may be recognized in the financial
statements only if it is more likely than not that the position is sustainable, based on its technical merits. We measure the tax benefit recognized as the largest amount of benefit
which i3 more Bkaly than not to be reaized upon settlement with the taxing authority. The estimate of the potential outcome of any uncertain tax issue is subject to management's
assessment of relevani risks, facts and crcumstances existing at that time.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Refer 1o Nole 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policias™ within the notes to the consobdated financial statements for information on new accounting pronouncements.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Wo are exposed to market risks primarily from changes in Interest rates and changes in the markst value of our nvestments.
Market Risk and Interest Rafe Risk

The value of our Convertible Notes is exposed to inlerest rale risk. Generally, the fair value of our fixed interest rate Convertble Notes wil ncrease as mierest rates fal and
decrease as interest rates riss. In addition, the fair value of our Convertible Notes is affected by our stock price. The carrying value of our Convertible Notes was $242.6 millon as
of Decamber 31, 2018, which represents the Rabiity component of the $250 milion principal balance. The estimated fair value of our Convertible Notes at December 31, 2018

was $242.9 millon, and was determined based on the quoted bid price of the Convertible Noles in an over-the-counter market as of the last day of trading for lhs year ended
Decamber 31, 2018, which was $97.176 per $100 principal amount. At Decembar 31, 2017, the carrying value of our Convartible Notes was $233.1 milion, and the estimated falr
value of our Convertible Notes was $232.6 millon, which was determined basad on the quoted bid price of the Gonvertible Notes I an ovear-the-counter marke! as of the last day of
trading for the year snded December 31, 2017, which was $93.031 per $100 principal amount,
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Concurrent with the issuance of the Convertible Notes, we entered into separate convertible note hedgs and warrant lransactions. The convertible note hedge transactions are
ntendad fo reduce the potential future economic diution assodiated with the conversion of the Convertible Notes and, combined with the warrants, effectively raise the price at
which acenomic dilution would accur from the initial conversion price of approximately $79.89 to approximately $97.12 per share. Under the converlible note hedge transactions, we
have the option fo purchase a total of approximately 3.1 milkon shares of our common stock, which is the number of shares iniially issuable upon conversion of the Convertible
Notes in ful, at a price of approximately $79.89, which corresponds to the initial conversion price of the Convertible Notes, subject to customary anti-dikitien adjustments
substantlally similar o those in the Convertble Notes. Under the warrant ransactions, the hclders of the warrants have the option to purchase a total of approximately 3.1 milion
shares of our common stock at a price of approximately $37.12, H the awerage markat value per share of our common stock for the reporting period exceeds the strike price of the
warrants, the warrants will have a diutive effect on our eamings per share.

We have exposure to changes in interest rates associated with borrowings under our bank credit faciity, which has variable nterest ratas tied to LIBOR or an alternate base rate, at
our option. At Decamber 31, 2018, we had borrowings outstanding under the credit faciity totaling $50.0 milion that carriad a weighted avarage interest rate of 3.7% induding the
mpadt of the interest rate swap described below. As of December 31, 2018 these variable rate borrowings were fuly hadged against changes in mterest rates by the interest rate
swap described below, which had a notional amount of $50.0 millon at December 31, 2018. As our variable rate borrowngs were fully hedged as of December 31, 2018, a change
in the interest rate would have no mpact on our consolidated financial statements. At December 31, 2017, our borrowings cutstanding under the credit faciity totaled $105.0 milion
and carriad a weighted average interest rate of 3.7%, induding the effect of the interest rate swap described below, which had a notional amount of $50.0 mien as of December
31, 2017. A hypothetical 100 basis point change in the interest rate as of December 31, 2017, wouid have had a $0.6 milion effect on our pretax ncome, on an annualized basis,
ncluding the effact of the interest rate swap.

On June 22, 2017, we entered into a forward interest rate swap agreement effective August 31, 2017 and ending August 31, 2022, with a national amount of $50.0 miion, We
entered Into this derivative Instrument to hedge against the nterest rate risks of our variable-rate borrowings. Under the terms of the interest rate swap agreement, we raceiva from
the counterparty interest on the notional amount based on one-month LIBOR and we pay to the counterparty a fixed rate of 1.900%.

We also have exposure to changes in intarest rates assodated with the promissary note assumed on June 30, 2017 in connection with our purchase of an aircraft, which has
variable interest rates tied to LIBOR. At December 31, 2018, the outstanding principal amount of the promissory note was $4.4 millien and carried an intarest rate of 4.3%. A
hypothetical 100 basis point change in this inferest rate would not have a material effect on our pretax incame. At Decamber 31, 2017 the culstanding princlpal amount of the
promissory note was $4.9 millon and carried an interest rate of 3.2%. A hypothetical 100 basis point change in the inlerest rate as of December 31, 2017 woukd not have had a
material effect on our pretax ncome.

We do not use derivative instruments for trading or ather speculative purposas. From time to time, we nvesl excess cash in short-term marketable securilies, These investments
principaly consist of overnight sweep accounts. Due 1o the short maturity of these investments, we have conduded that we do not have material market risk exposure.

We have a non-inferest bearing convertible debt nvestment in a privately-hald company, which we account for as an avakable-for-sale debt security. As such, the investment is
carried at fair value with unrealized holding galns and losses exdudad from eamings and reported in other comprehensive incoms. As of Decamber 31, 2018, the fair valus of the
nvestment was $50.4 miion, wilh a total cost basis of $27.9 million. Al December 31, 2017, the fair value of the nvestment was $39.9 milon, with a total cost basis of $27.9 mikon.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and supplementary data begin on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluatlon of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chiaf Finandial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disdosure controls and
procedures {as such ferm is defined n Rules 13a-15{e) and 15d-15(e} under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended {the “Exchangs Act™)) as of December 31, 2018.
Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officar and Chief Finandlal Officer have concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, our disdosure controls and procedures were
effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we fie or
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submit under the Exchange Act, and such information is accumulated and communicated to management as appropriate to alow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management's Report on Intemnal Control Over Financlal Reporting

Cur management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined In Rules 13a-15() and 15d-15(f) under
the Exchange Act) for the Company. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supanvision of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, and effected by the Company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance ragarding the reliabiity of fnancial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and inckides those policies and procadures that:

{i} Pertain fo the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

(i) Provide reasonable assurance that ransactions are racorded as necessary to permi preparation of financial statements i accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and
expenditures of the Company are being made only In accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

(Wi} Provide reasonable assurance regarding pravention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or dispostion of the Company’s assats that could have a material
effect on the finandal statements,

Due to s inherent imitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subjecl to Lhe risk that controls may becoma inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deleriorate.

In connection with the preparation of this report. our managemant, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officsr,
corducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 using the criteria sel forth by the Committes of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission {(*COSO") in internal Controf - Integrated Framework (2013). As a result of that evaluation, management conduded that our nternal
control over fihancial reporting was sffective as of December 31, 2018,

The affectiveness of the Company's nternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has been audited by PricewatarhouseCoopers LLP, an ndepandent
regisiered pubiic acoounting firm, as slated in their repert appearing on page F-2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes In Intemal Control over Financlal Reporting

There has been no change In our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15{f) under the Exchange Act) during the three
months ended December 31, 2018 that has materially affected, or i reasonably ikely to materially affect, our internal control over finandial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.

PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
Directors, Executlve Offlcers, Promoters and Control Persons

The informaticn required by this ltem is incorporated by reference from portions of our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of stockholders to be fled with the SEC
pursuant fo Regulation 14A by April 30, 2019 (the “Proxy Slatement™) under “Nominees to Board of Directors,” “Directors Not Standing For Election” and *Exscutive Officers.”

Compllance with Section 16{a) of the Exchange Act
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement under “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdiance.”
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Coda of Business Conduct and Ethlcs

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the *Codae”) that is applicable to all of our employees, officers and directors. The Code is available on the Corporale
Governance page of our inveslor relalions websile at Lhyronconsukinggroyp.com. If we maka any amendments to or granl any waivers from the Code which are required 1o be
disclosed pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we wil make such disdosures on our website.

Corporate Governance

The nformatian required by this item is incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement under "Board Meetings and Committees.”

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Executive Compensation

The information required by this item s incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement under “Executive Compensation.”

Compensatlon Committes Interlocks and Insider Participation

The information required by this item is incorporaled by reference from a partion of the Proxy Statement under “Compensation Committee Interocks and Insider Participalion.”
Compensatlon Committes Report

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement under “Compensation Commlttee Reporl”

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table summarizes nformation with respect to equity compensation plans approved by shareholders as of December 31, 2018. We do not have equity compensation
plans that have not been approved by sharehclders.

Number of Shares
Number of Shares Remalning Avallable
to be Issued Upon Weighted Average for Future Issuance
Exerclse of Exercise Price of (excluding shares in
Plan Gategory QOutstanding Options Outstanding Options 1" column}
[Equity compensaton pans approvéd by shareholders: o -
2004 Omnibus Stock Plan i 17680 § 27.82 —
2012 Omibus Incenthe Plan @ - o . %617 $ g RE) 813,338
Stock Ownership Participation Program B e - 88,872
Equly compansation plans not approved by sharaho’ders - ‘  NA " ONiA L ' NIA
Total 154297 § 30.52 902,210

(1) Our 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan was approved by the existing sharehoklers prior to our initial pubkic offering. Upon adoption of the 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan, we terminated
the 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan with respact o future awerds and no further awards will be granted under this plan.

(2)  Qur 2012 Omnibus [ncente Plan was approved by our sharehoklers al cur annual meeting held on May 1, 2012, At our annual meetig held on May 2, 2014, our
shareholders approved an amendment to the 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan to ncrease the number of shares reserved for issuance thereunder by 850,000 shares. At cur
annual meeting held on May 5, 2017, our shareholders approved an amended and reslated 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan which increased the number of shares authorized
for issuance by 804,000 shares.

{3)  Our Stock Ownership Participation Program was approved by our sharehelders et our annual meeling held on May 1, 2015.
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Security Ownership of Cartaln Beneficlal Owners and Managemant

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement under “Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,”
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

Cortain Relationshlps and Related Transactions

The information required by this lem & ncorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement under "Certain Refationships and Related Transactions.”

Director Independence

The information required by this ilem s incorporated by refarence from portions of the Proxy Statement under *Nomnees to Board of Directors,” "Directors Not Standing For
Election,” and "Board Meetings and Committees.”

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.
Tha information required by this Rem ks incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statsment under “Audit and Non-Audtt Fees.”
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(a) Documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
1. Financial Statements—Qur independent registered public accounting frm's report and our Consolidated Financial Statements are listed below and begin on page F-1
of this Form 10-K.
Report of Independont Registered Publc Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consoldated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Incoma
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Noles fo Consalidated Financial Statements

2. Finandial Statement Schedules—The financial statement schedules required by this ftem are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying
notes.
3 Exhibit Index
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Flled Fumished Period
Number  Exhibit Description herewith herswith Form Ending Exhibit Filing Date
31 Third Amended and Reslatad Certificate of Incorporaton of 10-K 12131/2004 3.1 211612005
Huron Consulting Group Inc,
32 Amended and Restated Bvigws of Huron Consuling Group 8-K 3.1 107282015
Ing,
4.1 Specrnen Stock Certificate, 51 4.1 10/5/2004
(File No. 333
115434}
42 nfure (ingludin mof N ith ¢ 8K 41 9/16/2014
Company's 1.25% Convertible Senior Notes dus 2013,
f r 1 I
nsuftin n kN
2s fruste,
101 Office Lease, daled December 2003 between Union 51 101 10/5/2004
Tower nd Hur nsuli v r {Fie Ne, 333
known as Huron Consuking Group LL.C). 115434)
10.2 Amendad and Restated Huren Consukling Groyp Inc, 2604 58 10.1 5/5/2010
Omnitus Stocx Plan,
103 Huron Consuling Group [ng. Deferr j 10-K 12/31/2008 1012 212412009
jve Japuar 009
10.4° Senior Managemeni Agreement by and between Huron 8K 101 11612017
Consulting Group Inc, ang John D, Kelly,
10.5* Amended and Restated Senigr Management Agreement by 8-K 10.2 11612017
ang between Huron Consuling Groug In, and James H.
Reth,
10.6" j emsnt Agresment by and n Huron &K 10.3 11612017
ng Gr n li
107 Senior Management Aareement by and between Huron 8K 104 11612017
Conguking Group Inc. and Diana E. Ratekin.
10.8 Eirst Amendment to Legse by and batween Huron 10-K 12i31/2012 10.17 212112013
i } i dated
August 23, 2004.
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Exhlblt Flled Fumished Perlod
Number  Exhiblt Description herewith  herewith Form Ending Exhlblt Fillng Date
10.9 Second Amendment to Lease by and between Huron 10-K 120312012 1018 212112013
Congyking Services L1 C and Union JTower, LLC. dated
March 14, 2007,
10.10 Third Am uren 10-K 12/31/2012 10.19 22112013
Consytty } i ad
Apri 2. 200,
10.1 Eourth Amendment to Legse by and between Huran &K 101 142013
December 31, 201
10,12* Form of the Huron Consulting Group |ng, 2012 Omnibus 10-K 12312012 10.20 272112013
Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Agreement.
10.13 ' i 8-K 10.2 9/512014
10.14 8K 10.3 9/512014
dated s of Seplember 4, 2014, by and betwean Huron
Consuliing Group Inc. and J,P. forgan Securties LLC as
London Bran
10.15 Base |ssuer Warrant Transaction Gonfirmation, dated as of 8K 104 8152014
September 4. 2014, by ang betwean Huron Consulting
Group Inc, and Bank of America, N.A,
10.16 Base |ssuer Warranj Transaction Confirmatien, dated as of 8K 10.5 91512014
Septemoer 4, 2014, by and betwean Huron Consulting
oup_Inc, and J.P, Mor rili
JPMoraan Chase Bank, Netignal Assodation, London
Brang.
10.17 Addkignal Converiitie Bond Hedge Transaclion 8K 10.1 9/18/2014
Confrmation f nd
twee! j I
Ameria NA
10.18 Additionat Convertible Bord Hedge Transaction BK 10.2 9/16/2014
Confirmation. dated as of September 10, 2014, by and
gen Huron Cohsuyliin n P
Seoyritles LLC. as an agent for JPMorgan Chase Bank.
National Association, |.ondon Branch,
10.19 itjgn r ransaction Confrmation, dale 8-K 10.3 9116/2014
a5 of Geotember 10, 2014, by and between Huron
Copsyking Grouo In¢, and Bank of America, N.A,
10.20 it ssuer Warrant Transacli nfrmation 8K 10.4 9/16/2014
as of Jeotember 10, 2014, by and batween Huron
Congutting Group Ie, and )P, Moraan Securities LLC, as
ank, Nats iation
10.21* 10-K 1213172014 10.31 212412015
10.22* uren Consyking Group Ing. 2012 Qmn 10-K 1213172014 10.32 21242015

Ingentive Plan Performance Stock Unit Agreement,
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhlblt Filed Fumished Period
Number  Exhibit Description herewith  herewith Form Ending Exhihlt Flling Date
10.23" Form of the Huran Consulting Group Inc, 2012 Omnbuys 10-K 121312014 10.33 212412015
tve Plan S Oofion A
10.24* F I in n n 10-K 123112014 10.34 2124/2015
ncent; n NEQ Performance Stock Unit Agreemant.
10.25 Second Amended and Raestated Credit Agreament, dated 8-K 10.1 41212015
M 31,2015 C 19 C
s Borrow in subsidiaries as rantors, the
Lenders Party Harsto and Bank of America, N.A., as
ini i n r n rgan
h nk, N s ication Ageni, PNC Bank, Bank
ion n Merril L ierce, Fenner
mith Ingorporatad an iti
10.26 men R eCLri r nt, da 8-K 10.2 4/212015
asof March 31, 2095,
10.27 nd Amended and ted Pledge Agreement, dated 8-K 10.3 4/2/12015
s of March 31, 2015,
10.28* ron sulting Group |ne, Stock Ownership Paridpation DEF 14A Appendix A 372012015
Program
10.20* Huren Consulting Group Inc, 2012 Omnibus Incentivé Plan, DEF 14A Appendix A 3/27/2017
as amended and restated effective May 1, 2017,
1030 AmendmentNo.1 of the Second Amended and Restated 8K 10.1 30612017
Credit Agreement, dated as of February 28 2017, by and
among Huron Consutting Group Int,, as Borrower, certain
o G B f America. N
ministrative Agent for an bahalf of the Lenders
1031 Amendment No.2 of the Second Amended and Restated 10-0 013012017 10.1 1112017
Credit Agreement, dated as of October 24, 2017, by and
among Hyron Consuting Group Ing,, as Borrower, certan
subsidiaries, as Guarantors, and Bank of America, N.A as
Administrative Agani for and on behalf of the Lenders
10.32 i 8-K 101 32012018
211 List of Subsidiaries of Huron Consulting Group |ne, X
231 Consent of PricewaterhouseGoopers LLP. X
311 orfification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuan X

13a-14 15d-1 sao te uranl to Secti 2
of the Sarhanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhlbk Filed Fumished Period
Number  Exhibit Description herewith herewith Form Ending Exhibit Flling Date
312 Certification of the Chief Finangal Officer, pursuant to Rule X
Oxle f 2502
321 Certification of the Chisf Executive Officer, purstiant to 18 X
[ ted pursuant to Section 906
f the Sar f

322 ffication of ief Financi r X

U.5.C. Section 1 a rsuant t i

of the Sarbangs-Odey Ad of 2002,
101.INS XBRL Instance Document. X
101.8CH  XBRL Taxonamy Extension Schema Document. X
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Caleulation Linkbase X

Document,
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Dotument. X
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extansion Presentation Linkbase X

Document.
101.0EF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. X

ITEM 16.

Indicates the exhibt & a managsment contract or compsensatory plan or arrangemant,

FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,

thergunto duly autrorized.

Huron Consutting Group Inc.

(Registrant)
Slanature Title Date
s/ JAMESH.ROTH Chief Executive Officer and Director 22612019

James H. Roth

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints James H. Roth, John D, Kelly, and Dlane Ratekin, and
each of them, his or her frus and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any
and all capacitias, fo sign any and all amendments to this report, and to fie the same, with all and any other regulalory authority, grantivg unte said atlorneys-in-fact and agents,
and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to al infents and
purposes as he or she might or could do In person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that sakd attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or their substitutes, may tawfulty do or
cause to be dene by virtue heraof.

Pursuant to the requiremants of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the folowing persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
ndicated.

Slanature Title Date
isi  JAMES H. ROTH Chief Executive Officer and Director 2i26/2019
fsl  JOHN F. MCCARTNEY Non-Exscutive Chairman of the Board 212612019

John F. McCariney

Isf GEORGE E. MASSARO Vice Chairman of the Board 2/26/2019
Geerge E. Massaro
fs/  JOHN D. KELLY Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer {Principal 2i2612018
John D. Kely Financial Officer)
{s/ ELLEN P. WONG Chiaf Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Gfficer) 212612019
Elen P. Wong
/s/  JAMES D. EDWARDS Director 212612019
Jamas D. Edwards
{s/ H.EUGENE LOCKHART Director 212612018
H. Eugene Lockhart
is/ JOHN S. MOCDY Drrector 212612019
John S. Moody
/s HUGH E. SAWYER Direcior 22612019
Hugh E. Sawyer
s/ DEBRA ZUMWALT Diractor 2i26/2019
Debra Zumwalt
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stackhalders of Huron Consulting Group Inc.
Opinions on the Financlal Statements and internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Huron Consulting Group Inc. and its subsidarnies (the “Compary™) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the misted consalidated
statement of operstions and other comprehensive income (ss), statement of stockholders' equity and statement of cash flows for each of the Lhres years in the period ended Decernber 31, 2018,
inchuding the related notes {collectively refered to as the "consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company’s inlema control aver fnancial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based
on criteria established in Intemal Cortrol - Infegraled Framework (2013) issued by the Committes of Spansoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In 6ur opinion, the consolidated financial slatements referred to above present fairly, in all matera respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years In the penod ended Dacember 31, 2018 In confarmity with accounting principles generally accepied in the United States of
America, Also in our oplnion, 1he Company maintaned, | sl material respacts, effective ntemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, basad on critenia established in Infemal Comtrol -
Integrated Framework (2013} issued by the COSO.

Change in Accounting Principie
As drscussed in Nots 2 fo the consolidatad financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for revenue from contracts with customers as of January 1, 2018,

Basis for Opiniens

The Company's management is responsible for hese consokdaled financlal statements, for maintalning effective nkemal control over financial reporting, and for its gssessment of the effectiveness of
intermal control over financial reporting, inchuded In Management's Report on Interral Control over Financial Reporting appeaning under Item 8A. Our responsbiity is o express opinions on the Company's
consalidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We & a publlc accounting fim registersd with the Public Company Accourting
Oversighl Board (Uniled States) (PCAOB) and are required to be indepandent with respect to the Camparyy In accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and requiations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCACE.

We contucied our audits in accondance with the standards of the PCAQB. Thosae slandards require that we plan and perform the audits to oblain reasonable assuranca about whather the consolidated
financial statements are fres of material misstaternent, whether due o emor or fraud, and whether effective intemal contral over financial reporting was maintaned in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial stetements inclusied performing procaduras to assass the risks of materla misstatement of the consalidated financial statements, whether due to amror or fraud,
and parforming procedures that respond to thosa risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarting the amounts and disclosures in the consalidated financial statements. Cur
awdis also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating lhe overall presentation of the consolidated fnancia slalements. Our
awdit of internal condrol over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of intemal contral over financial leporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exisls, and testing and evalualing
the design and operating effectiveness of intermal control hased on the assessed risk. Our audls also mcludad performing such other procedures as we considered necessary In the clrcumstances. We
befieve that our awdits providae a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Dofinition and Limitations of Internaf Control over Financis Reporting

A comparny's inlemal conlrol over financial reporting is a process designed te provide raasonable assurance regarding the: reliablity of financial reporting and the preparalion of financial stalemenls for
extemal purposes in accordancs with generally accepled accounting principles. A company's ntamal contrd over fimancial reporting includes those policies and procadures that (i) partain 1o the
mainlenance of records that, in reesonable detall, accuretely and faity reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (b) prowide masonable assurance that transaclions are
recorged as necessary to permit preparation of finencial staternents in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditires of the company are being made onfy in
accordance with suthorizations of management and directors of the compariy; and (i) provide reasonable assurance reganding prevantion or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial stalements,

Becauss of its inherant rritations, intermal contral over financial reperting may nol prevent or detect missialements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness o fulure periods are subject 1o the
fisk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or thal the degree of compliance wilh the palicies or proceduras may deteriorate.

Is/ PricowaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chicago, [linots

February 26, 2019

Wa have served as the Company's auditor since 2002,
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Assots
Currend assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables from clients, net
Unbillad services, net
Income tax receivablo
Prepaid axpanses and othar cument assets
Total curent assets
Property and equipmenk, net
Deferrad income taxes, net
Longerm nvestment
Other non-curment assets
Intangible assets, nat
Goodwil
Total assets
Liabllities and stockholders’ equlty
‘Curment kabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other curent lablities
Agccrued payroll and related benefits
Actrued comtmgent consideration for business acquisitions
Current maturities of long-em debt
Deferred revenues
Todal current iabilities
Non-current lisblitles:
Defarred compensation and olher liahiities

HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
{In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Accruad contingant considaration for busiress ecquisitions, net of cument portion

Long-tem dabd, net of curment portion
Defemed laase incantives
Deferred income taxas. net
Totd non-curment llabltties
CommItments and contingencies
Stockholders' squity

Common stock; $0.01 par vatue; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 25,114,739 and 24,560,468 shares issuad at December 31, 2018 and

December 31, 2017, respectively

Treasury stock, at cost, 2,568,288 and 2,443,577 shares at December 31, 2018 and Decomber 31, 2017, respectively

Additional paid-n capilal

Retained samings

Accumulated other comprehensive incoma
Totd stockholders' equity

Tolal Babilties and stockholders’ equity

Decomber 31, 2018 Docember 31, 2017
$ BT S 16,909
109,677 101,778

§9613 57.618

B.612 4,039

13,922 10.951

232,991 191,285

40,374 45,541

2,15 16,752

50,429 38,904

30,52 25,375

47,857 7231

645,263 645,750

$ 1049532 § 1,036,928
$ 10020 § 9,194
17,27 19,643

109,825 73,638

9,99 8515

243,132 501

8,130 27916

418,305 139,457

20,875 20,695

1,450 14,313

53,853 342507

13,693 15,333

vl 1,087

50,603 394,145

L 241
{124,794 (121,994

452573 43,2%

196.106 180,443

16.495 16,370

540,624 503,316

$ 1040532 % 1,036,828

The accompanying notas are an integral part of the consofdated fnancial statements.
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Revenues and reimbursable expensas:
Revenuas
Rednbursable expenses

Total revenues and reimbursable expanses

Diract costs and reimbursable expenses (exciusive of depreciation and amortization shown in cperating expenses):

Direct costs

Amortlzation of Intangible assels and software development costs

Resmbursable expenses
Total direcl costs and reimbursable expenses
Oparating expenses and other lossss (gains), net
Selling, general and adminstrative expenses
Restructuring charges
Other losses {gains}, nal
Depreciaion and amorization
Googwill impeiment charges
Tolal operaling expertses and olher losses (gains), nat
Operating income (loss)
Other Income (axpenss), net
Interest expanss, net of Inferest income
Other income {expense), net
Total other expense, net
Income (lass} from continuing operations before taxes
Income Lax expanse (banefit)
Nel income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss} from descontinued cparations, ret of tax
Net lncome (loss)
Net eamings (loss) par basic share:
Net ncoms (less) from continuing operations
Income (ioes) from discontinued operations, het of tax
Net income [loss)
Net samings {loss) per diited share:
Net income {loss) from continuing cperations
Income (loss) from descondinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss)

Weighted average shares used in calculating eamings per share;

Basic
Diuted
Comprehensiva income {loss):
‘Net income {loss)
Foreign currency translation adustments, net of tax
Unreallzed galn (loss) on investment, net of tax

Unreatized galn (foss} on cash flow hedging instruments, net of tax

‘Other comprehersive income
Comprehensive incoma (kss)

HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands, except per share amounts}

Year Ended December 31,
216
$ 795,125 § 732570 % 6,272
82874 75,175 nne
877,999 807,745 797,984
521,537 454,806 437,55
4247 10932 15,140
2,923 75.4% 71,749
608,707 541,174 524,445
180,383 175,364 160,204
3,657 6,246 9,592
@.m8) 11411 (1.990)
34,575 B8.213 31499
— 253‘[:93 —_—
217,1% 474,027 199,305
52,006 {207, 456) 74,234
{19.013) (18,613) (16,274)
(7.862) 3,565 1,197
{26,875) (15,048) (15.077)
5,21 1222.504) 59,157
"7 (51,999) 19,677
13,044 (170,505) 79,480
{296) 38 (1,863}
3 13646 § amnnn  $ 617
$ 064§ 79§ 1.87
{0.01) 0.02 0.09)
5 063 § 78n 8 1.78
$ 063 S 795 3 1.4
(0.01} 0.02 0.08)
$ 062 S e s 176
21,706 .43 21,084
22,058 HAH 21424
$ 13646 § (17110 § 37,617
(1,894) 1.602 &4
1772 4,724 ery
167 42 63
6,125 6,755 30
$ 19771 8 (163.362) $ 37647

The accompanyng notes are an integral part of the consofidated financial statements.
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‘Balance st Decamber 31, 2015

Comprehensive income

Issuance of commeon stock in connection with:
Restricted stock ewards, net of
cancalations
Exercise of stock options

Share-based compensation

Shares redoernad for employee tax withhokiings

Income tax beneflt on share-based

compensation

Share repurchases

Balanca at Decambar 31, 2016

Comprehanstve Income

Issuance of common stock in connaction with:
Restricted stock awards, net of
cancellations
Business acquisition

Share-based compensation

Shares redeermad for employee lax wilkhokdings

Cumutalive-effect adustment from adogrion of
ASU 201608

Cumulalive-effect adustment from adogrtion of
ASU 201802

‘Balance at Decomber 31, 2017

Comprehansive income

Issuance of comman stock in connection with:
Restricted stock awerds, net of
cancellations
Exercise of stock options

Share-based compensation

Sheres redeamed for employse tax withhaldings

Cumuative-sffect adustment from adoption of
ASU 2014-09

Balance at December 31, 2018

HURON CONSULTING GROUF INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
{In thousands, except share amounts})

Common Stack Treasury Stock Accumulated
Additional Other

Padin Retaned Comprehensive Slockhakdars'

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Eamings Income Equity
24,085,154 § 241 {2262080) § (103734) § 438367 $§ 386 § 3585 & 652,325
7617 )] 37,647
390,48 4 (70.419) (4,508) 4,504 —
4,706 123 13
17,8929 17,929
(88.414) (4,953) (4,953}
27 27
{982.192) {10) (55,255} {55.265)
3478016 % 235 (2420913} § (113195 § 4058% § 351483 § 3615 % 648,033
(170,417 6,795 {163,362)
¥9.248 4 {58.211) (3.953) 3949 —
221,558 2 4,558 9,560
14,419 14,419
(112,011 (4,846) (4,646)
435 {435} —
(488) {488)
40882 § 241 (2591,135) § {1219%) § 434256 § 180443 § 030 503.316
13.646 6,125 19,771
279430 3 5,986 387 (390} —
40,000 — 937 937
17,770 17770
(86,813) (3,181 {3.187)
2,017 2017
4418252 % 244 (2671962) § (124794} & 452573 § 196106 § 164% § 540,624

The accompanying notes are an integrs! part of the consofidated fancial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUFP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2018 m7 18
‘Cash flows from operating activities: ;
Net income (less) $ 13,646 $ (70,11n  § 37617
‘Adustments 10 reconcie net Income floss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciaiion and amortization ' 0,311 50,089 4816
Share-based compensation 18,818 14,838 16,577
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs 10,313 10,203 9,608
Goodwill impament charges - 253,003 -
Alowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services 657 327 4,250
Defarred income taxes ' ' 10,117 (53.753) 1189
Loss {gain) on sala of businesses 5,807 (931} -
Change in fair vale of contingent. consideration isbifties 381 IREC (1.990)
Changes in operaling assels and libiities. net of acquisitions and divestitures:
(Increase) decreass in recaivablss from clents ) (10,509) 1,650 1,440
(Increase) decrease in unbited servicas (11.084) 4332) 2,443
(Increase) decrease in cument Incoms tax receivable ! payable, net _ {2.607) A0 4.410)
(Increase} decrease m other assels {1.361) {366) 11,904
Increase (decrease) n accounts payable and accrued lisbifties 8.212) 3T BA4)
Increase (decrsase) in accrued payroll and rekaled benelils 35481 {10,966) 3,044
Increass {decrease) n defermed revenues 3o 217 3,898
Nel cash provided by operaling activiiies 101,658 9,795 129,243
(Cash flows from investing activities: '
Purchases of property and ecuipment, ref (8.936) (24.402) (13.9%)
Investment in We insurance poiicies 7 _ . {2.087) (1626 o)
Distrbutions from life insurance policies - 2,889 —
Purchases of businesses, net of cash acquired {215) (106,915) (69,133)
Capitalizalion of intemally developed software (6.065) (1.370) 1,086)
Proceads from nole recaivable 1,040 1177 -
Divestitures of businesses, net of cash soid (2.345) 1,499 (448)
Nel cash used in Irvesting activites (18,562) (128,948) (86,636)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Procesds from exercises of stock options 937 - 123
Shares redeemed for employse tax withholdings (3,187 4,846) 4.953)
Share repurchases ) ) ) - - ) (55,263)
Proceads from bormowings under credit faciity 204,300 277,500 200,000
'Repayments of debt e 074 (224,000)
Payments for debt issuance costs _ {1,385) {408) —
Deferred acquisition payments 7.554) (2680) . -
Net cash provided oy (Used in) financing activities {66,690) 28,821 (84,085)
Effect of exchang rate changes on cash (208) 214 78
Net Increass {dacreass) In cash and cash equivalents 16,198 (118) {#1,410)
Cash and cash equivalents al bagimring of Iha period ' 16,909 17,027 58,437
Cash and cash equivalents a end of the period $ 33107 8§ 16908 § 17.027
-Supplemental disdosure of cash flow information:
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Proparty & equipment expendiiures and capitaized software inchided in accourts payable snd accrued axpenses 3 238§ 1567 % 4,461
Promissory note assumed for purchase of property and equipment b - % 5113 % -
Cortlingant conskderation related to business acquisitions 3 22 8 15489 § 8754
Common stock issued related to business acqusitions 3 - % 950 3§ —
Cash paid duting the year for. i _ o
Interest $ 80887 % 9068 § 6,470

Income taxes $ 333§ 539 § 24,584



HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

1. Description of Business

Huron s a global consukancy that helps dients drive growth, enhance performance and sustan keadership in the markets they serve. We partner with dients lo develop strategies
and mplemant sofutions that enable the transformative changa our dients need to own their future.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policles
Basls of Presentation and Princlples of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the finandal position al Decomber 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of operations and cash flows for 1he years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2018,

The consolidated finandal statements incude the accounts of Huron Consulting Group Inc. and ils subsidiaries, al of which are wholly-owned. Al nlercompany balances and
transactions have been eiminated in consolidation. Certain amounts reported in previous years have been redassifiad to conform to the 2018 presentation.

During the second quarter of 2018, we identified an error on our previously reported consolidated balance sheet and statement of operations as of and for the three months ended
March 31, 2018 which increased revenues and unbilled servicas, net by $0.6 millon and net income by $0.4 miion. This error refated to the application of the proportionate
performance approach for recognizing revenues for fixed-fee engagements in our Middle East practice within the Bushess Advisory segment. This error was corrected in the
sacond quarter of 2018 by decreasing revenues and unbillad services, net by $0.6 milion, and resulled in a $0.4 milion decraasa to net ncome in the second quarter of 2018, This
arror, which was not materlal to the first or second quarter of 2018 results, had no Impact ¢n our consolidated balance sheet or statement of operations as of and for the six manths
arded June 30, 2018.

On January 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standard Update (*ASU") 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Cusiemers, on a mod#fied retrospective basis. For additional
nformation on the adoption of ASU 2014-09, refer to our revenue recognition policy and new accounting pronouncements balow,

Usa of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts that are reported in the
consofidated financial statements and accompanying disclosures. Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions,

Revenue Recognltion

We generate substantlaly al of our revenues from providing professional services to our ciients. We also generate revenues from software Bcanses; software supporl, maintenance
and subscriptions to our doud-based anakytic tools and sokutions; speaking engagements; conferences; and publications. A single contract could Incude one or multiple performance
obligations. For those coniracts that have multiple performance oblgations, we allocate the total transaction price to each performance obligation based on its refative standalone
seling price, which is determined based on our overal priing cbjectives, taking info consideration market conditions and other factors.

Revenue is recognized when control of the goods and services provided are transferred to our customers and in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect te be entited
to in exchanga for those goods and sarvices using the following steps: 1} identify the contract, 2) ideatify the parformance obligations, 3) determine the fransaction price, 4) alocate
the transaction price to the performance obligalions in the contract, and 5) recognize revenue as or when we salisfy the performance obligations,

We typlcally satisfy our performance cbligations for professional services over time as the related services are provided. The performance cbligations refated to software support,
maintenance and subscriptions to our doud-based analytic tooks and solutions are typically satisfied evenly over the coursa of the service period. Other performance obligations,
such as certain software liconses, speaking engagements, conferencas, and publications, are satisfied at a point in time

We generate our ravenues under four types of billing arrangements: fixed-fee {induding software cense revenue), tme-and-expense, performance-based, and software supporl
ard mantenance and subscriptions.

In fixed-fes biling arrangements, we agree to a pre-estabishad fes in exchange for a predetermined set of professional services. We set the fees based on our estimates of the
costs and timing for complating the engagements. We generally recognize revenues under fixed-fes blling arrangements using a proportionate performance approach, which is
hasad on work completed to-date versus our estimates of the
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HURON CONSULTING GROUF INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts In thousands, except per shars amounts}

total services fo be provided under the engagement. Contracts within our Studer Group sokition indude fixed-fee partner contracts with multiple performance obligations, which
primarily consist of coaching services, as wel as speaking engagements, conferences, publications and software products (“Partner Confracts”). Revenues for coaching services
and software products are generally recognized on a straight-ina basis over the langth of the contract. Al other revenues under Partner Contracls, induding speaking
engagements, conferences and publications, are recognized at the time the goods or services are provided. Estimates of total engagement revenues and cost of services are
monitored regularly during the term of the engagement. If our estimates indicate a potential loss, such loss is recognized in the period in which the loss first becomes probable and
reasonably estimable.

We also generate revanuas from software Bcenses for our revenue cycle management software and research administration and comphance software. Lisenses for cur revenue
cycle management software are sold only as a component of our consulting projects, and the services we provide are essantial to the functionalty of the software. Therefore,
revenues from these software kcansas are recognized over the term of the related consulting services contracd. License revenue from our research administration and compiance
software is generally recognized in the month in which the software is delivered.

Time-and-expense biling arrangements require the dient to pay based on the number of hours worked by our revenue-generating professionals at agreed upon rales. Time-and-
expense arrangements also include cerlai speaking engagements, conferences, and publications purchased by our cients outside of Partner Contracts within our Studer Group
solution, We recoghize revenues undar time-and-expense arrangements as the related services or publications are provided, using tha right to Involce practical expedient which
aflows us to recognize revenue in the amount that we have a right 1o invoice based on the number of hours worked and the agreed upon hourly rates or the value of the speaking
angagements, conferences or publications purchased by our clients,

In performance-based biling arrangaments, feas are tied to the attainment of contractualy defined objectives. We enter into performance-based engagements In essantialy two
forms, First, we generally earn fees that are diractly refated o the savings formally acknowledged by the cllsnt as a result of adopting our recommendations for Improving
operational and cost effectiveness in the areas we review. Second, we have performance-based engagements in which we earn a succass fee when and if certain predefined
outcomes ocour, We recognize revenue under performance-based biling arrangements using the following steps: 1) estimate variable consideration using a probabiity-weighted
assassmant of the fees to ba earned, 2} apply a constraint to the estimated variabla consideration to limit the amount that could be reversed when the uncertainty is resobved {the
“constrant”), and 3) recognize revenua of estimated variable conskderation, net of the constrainl, based on work completed to~date versus our estimates of the lolal servicas to be
provided under the engagemsnt.

Clients that have purchased one of our software licenses can pay an annual Tee for software support and maintenance. We also generate subscription revenus from our doud-
based analytic tools and solutions, Software support and maintenance and subscription-based revenues are recognized ratably over the support or subscription period. Thase fees
are blled In advance and included in deferred revenues untd recognized,

Provisions are recorded for the astimated realization ad|ustments on all engagements, incuding engagemsnts for which fees are subject to review by the bankruptey courts.

Expense reimbursements that are bilable to chents are included In total revenues and reimbursable expenses. Under fixed-foe biling arrangements, we estimate the total amount of
reimbursable expanses to be incurred over the course of the engagement and recognize the estimated amount as revenue using a proportionate performance approach, which is
based on work completed to-date versus our estimates of the total services to be provided under the engagement. Under time-and-expense biling arrangements we recognize
reimbursable expsnses as revenue as the related services are provided, using the right to invoice practical expedient, Reimbursable expensas are recognized as expenses in the
petlod in which the expense i incurred. Subcontractors that are blled fo chents at cost are akso Induded in reimbursable expenses. When bilings do not specificaly idenlify
reimbursable expenses, we alocate the portion of the bifings equivalent to these expenses to reimbursable expenses,

The payment terms and conditions in cur customer contracts vary. Differences between the timing of blings and the recognition of revanue are recognizad as either unbilled
services of deferred revenues in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, Revenues recognized for services performed but not yet biled to dients are recorded as unblied
services. Revenues recognized, but for which we are not yet entitied to bl because cartain avents, such as the completion of the measurement period or client approval, must
oceur, are recorded as contract assets and incuded within unbilled senvices. Client prepayments and refainers are classifisd as deferred revenues and recognized over future
periods as earned in accordance with the applicable engagsment agreement.

Capitaiized Sales Commissions

Sales commissions earned by our sales professionals are considered maremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a confract with a customer. Sales commissions with an
expected amoritzation period greater than one year are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis
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over the period of the associated contract. We electad to apply the practical expedient 1o expense sales commissions as incurrad when the expectad amortzation period i one year
or lass. Amoriization expanse is recorded to diract costs. The amount of capitalized sales commissions amortized during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $0.2 milion.
Unamortized sales commissions were $0.4 mifon as of December 31, 2018.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Unbllled Services

We malntain allowances for doubtful accounts and for services performed but not yet billed based on several factors, induding the estimaled cash realization from amounts due
from dlients, an assessment of a chent's ability to make required payments, and the historical percantages of fee adustments and wrlte-offs by age of receivables and unbiled
sarvices, Tha allowances are assessad by management on a regular basis. These estimates may differ from actual results. If the financial condition of a dient detsriorates in the
futura, impacting the client’s ability to make paymants, an increase to our allowanca might be required or our alkavance may not be sufficient to cover actual write-offs,

We record the provision for doubtful accounts and unbiled services as a reduction in revenue to the extent the provision refates to fee adustments and other discretionary pricing
adjustments, To the extent the provision relates io a diient's inabilty to make required paymenls on accounts receivables, we record the provision to seling, general and
administrative expansas.

Dlrect Costs and Relmbursable Expenses

Direct costs and reimbursable expenses consist primarily of revenue-generating employee compensation and ther related benefits and share-based compensation costs, as wall as
commissions, the cost of outside consultants or subcontractors assigned to revenue-generating activities, technology costs, other third-party costs directly atiributable to our
revenue-generating activities, and drect expenses to be rembursed by dients. Direct costs and reimbursable expenses incurred on sngagements are expensed in the period
ncurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly kquid Investments, incuding overnight investments and commercial paper, with original maturities of three months or less to be tash squivalents.
Concentrations of Credit Risk

To the extent receivables from dlients become delinguent, collection activiies commence. No single dient balance is considered large enough to pose a material credit risk. The
aklowances for doubtful accounts and unbiled services ara hased upon the expacted abiity to coect accounts raceivable and bll and collect unbiled services. Management does not
anticipate incurring losses on accounts receivable in excass of established alowances. See Noie 18 “Segment Infermation” for conceniration of accounts receivable and unbilled
S0rvices.

Wa hold our cash in accounts at mulkiple thrd-party fmancial institutions. Thess deposits, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. We review the credit ratings of thesa financial

institutions, reqularly monitor the cash balances in these accounts, and adjust the balances as appropriate. However, these cash balances could be mpacted if the underlying
finandlal Institutions fall or are subject to other adverse conditons in the financial markets.

Long-term Investment

Qur fong-term investment consists of our convartible debt invesiment n Shorelght Holdings, LLC. We dassifled the Investment as avaBable-for-sale at the time of purchase and
resvaluate such dassication as of each balance sheet date. The mvestment ks carried at fair value with unreaiized holding gains and losses reported in other comprehansive
ncome. If the investmant is in an unrealized loss postion, we assass whather the nvestment is other than temporariy impared. We consider impairments to be other than
temporary if they are relaled 1o significant cradit delerloration or i & is liely we will sel the security before the recovery of its cost basis. We hava not identified any other than
temporary impalrments for our convertible debt investment. In the event there are realized gains and losses or declines in valus Judged to be other than temporary, we will record
the amount in earnings. See Note 12 “Fair Value of Financial Instruments” for further information on our convertiole debt investment.

Fair Valua of Financial Instruments

See Note 12 “Far Value of Finandal Instruments” for the acoounting policies used to measure the far vale of aur financial assets and kabiles that are measured at fair value on a
recurting basis.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of property and equipment is computed on a straight-ne basis over the estimated useful
ivas of the assets, Software, computers, and refated squipment are depreciated over an estimated useful fe of two to four years. Furniture and fidures are depreciated over five
years. Arrcrafl are depreciated over ten years. Leasehokd mprovements are amortizad over the lessar of the estimated useful ife of the asset or the mitial term of the lease.

Software Development Costs

We incur internal and external software davelopment costs related to our doud computing applications and softwara for internal use. We capitalize these software development
costs incurred during the applcation development stage. Costs refated to preliminary project aclivities and post implementation activities are expensed as incurred. Onca the project
is substantially complete and ready for its intended usa these costs are amortized on a straight-ine basis over the technology's estimated useful ife. Acguired technology assets are
nitialy recorded at far value and amortized on a straight-lne basis over the estimated useful Ke.

We also incur internal and external software development costs relatad to our software products that wik be sokd, leased, or otherwise marketed. We expsnse these software
development casts untl technological feasihiity has been established. Thersafter and unti the software is available for general refease to customers, these software development
cogls are capltalzed and subsequently reparted at the lower of unamortized cost or net realizable value. These capitalizad development costs are amortized in proportion to currant
and future revanus for each produst with an annual minimum equal to the straighi-live amortization over the remaining estimated economic ife of the product.

We dassify capitalized software development costs as other non-current assets on our consoldated balance sheet Unamortized capitaized software devefopment costs were $7.3
millon and $2.0 milon at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respaciively, During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, we amortized $1.4 milion, $0.8 milon, and
$1.1 mibon, respactively, of capitalzed software development costs.

Intangible Assets Other Than Goodwil

Identifiable intangie assets are amortized over their expected useful ives using a method that reflects the economic benefit expacted to be derived from the assets of on a straight-
ine basis. We evakiate the recoverabilty of intangible assets periodically by taking into account events or circumstances that may warrant revised esimates of useful ives or that
rdicate the asset may be impared.

Impzimment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-ved assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed for impairmentl whenever avents or changes in circumstances indicate that the camying
amount of an asset may not ba racoverable. Events refating to recaverability may incude significant unfavorable changes in bushess conditions, recurring losses, or a significant
dedine In forecasted operating resulis over an extended peried of ime. Woe evaluatae the recoverabiity of long-Bved assets based on forecasted undiscounted cash flows. No
impairment charges for long-fved assats were recorded in 2018, 2017, or 2016.

Goodwill

For acquisitions accounted for as a business combination, goodwil represents the excess of the cost over the falr value of the net assets acquired. We ars requred to test goodwil
for impairment, at the reporting unit level, annually and when events or circumsiances indicate the fair value of & reporting unit may be below its carrying value. A reporting unil is an
operatihg segment or one level bekow an operating segment (referred to as a componsnt} to which goodwil is assigned when infially recorded. We assign goodwil to reporting
units based on our Integration plans and the expected synergies resulting from the acqulsition. We have six reporting units: Heakhcare, Education, Business Advisary, Enterprise
Solutions and Analytics, Strategy and Innovation, and Life Scences, The Business Advisory, Enterprise Solutions and Analytics, Stralegy and Innovation, and Life Sciences reporting
units make up our Business Advisory operating segment.

We test goodwil for impairment annually and whenaver avents or crcumstances make it more likely than not that an impaiment may have occurred. We parform our annual
goodwil imparment test as of November 30 and monitor for interim triggering events on an ongoing basis.

Pursuant te our policy, we performed the annual goodwil mpairment test as of Movember 30, 2018 and determined that no impairment of goodwil existed as of that date. Further,
we evaluated whether any events have cccurred, or any circumstances have changed since November 30, 2018 that would indicate goodwil may have becoms impaired shce our
annual impairment esl. Based on our evalation as of December 31, 2018, we determined that no indications of imparment have arisen singe our annual goodwll imparment test.
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Business Combinatlons

We use the acquiskion method of accounting for business combinations. Each acqured company's operating results are included in our consoldated financial statements starting on
tha date of acquisition. The purchase price is equivakent to the fair value of considaration transferred, Tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and labilties assumed are
recorded at fair value as of the acquisiion date. Goodwil is recognizad for the excess of purchase price over the net fair value of tangible and intangible assets acquired and
labiitios assumed. Contingent considaration, which is primariy based on the business achleving certain performances targets, is recognizad at s fair value on the acquistiion dale.
and changes in fair value are racognized in eamings urtil settled. Refer to Note 12 “Fair Value of Finandal Instruments” for further nformation regarding our contingent acquis#ion
fability balancss,

Deferred Lease incentlves

We record the portion of the deferred lease incentive fiabiity that we expect to recognize ever a perlod greater than one year as a non-current Babdity. The non-current portion of
the deferred lease incentive Eabiiity totaled $13.7 milion and $15.3 milion al Decamber 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and was primarily generated from tenant improvement
allowances and rent abatement. Deferred lease ncentives are amortized on a straight-Ine basis over the ife of the leasa. The portion of the deferred lease ncentive corresponding
to the rant paymants thal wil be pald within 12 months of the balance sheet date is classified as a current Fabiity. We monilor the dassification of such liabikties based on the
expaclation of their uliization periods.

Income Taxes

Current tax abilities and assets are recognized for the eslimated taxes payable of refundable, respectively, on the tax returns for the current year. Defarred tax assets and labiities
are recognized for the future tax consaquences atiributable to difierences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assels and liabilties and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax assets and Rabiites are measured using enacled tax rates sxpeded to apply to taxable income in the years in which thosa temporary differences are expected
to be recovered or settied. To the extent that deferred tax assets will not ikely be recovered fram future taxable income, a valuation alowance is establshed against such deferred
tax assets.

Refar lo Nole 16 “Income Taxes™ for further Information regarding ncomes taxes.
Share-Based Compensatlon

Share-basad compensation cost is measured based on the grant date far valus of the respective awards. We generafy recognize share-based compensation ratably usng the
straight-ine attribution methad; however, for thosa awards with performance criteria and graded vesting features, we usa the graded vesting atirbution method. It is our pofcy o
account for forfeitures as they occur.

Sponsorship and Advertising Costs

Sponsorship and advertising costs are expensed as ncurred. Such expenses for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 lotaled $7.9 milion, $6.6 miion, and §7.1
milion, respectively, and are a component of saling, general and administrative expenses on our consohdated statement of earnings,

Convertible Ssnior Notes

In September 2014, we issued $250 milon principal amount of 1.25% convertble senior notes due 2019 (the “Convertible Notes”) in a privale offerihg. We have separated the
Convertble Notes into labilky and equity components. The carrying amount of the Sability component was determined by measuring the farr value of a similar Rabikty that does not
have an associated convertible feature. The carrying vakie of the equity component representing the conversion option, which is recognized as a debt discount, was determined by
dedudting the fair value of the liabiity component from the proceeds of the Canvertible Notes, The debt discount is amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method
over the term of the Convertble Notes. The equity companent wil not be remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification. Refer to Note 6
*Financing Arrangements” for further nformation regarding the Convertible Notes.

Debt lssuance Costs

We amortize the costs we incur to obtain debt financing over the cantractual Ife of the related debt using the effective interest method for non-revahving debt and the straight-line
mathod for revoving dabL The amortization expense ks induded in interest expense, net of interest incoma in our statement of earnings. Unamortized debt issuance costs
attributable 1o our revolving credit facty are incuded as a component of other non-current assats, Unamortized dabl issuance costs attributable to our Convertible Notes are
recorded as a deduction from the carrying amount of the debt Eabiky.
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Fareign Currency

Assels and kabifties of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the Untted States Dollar (USD) are transkated into the USD using the exchange rates in effect at period
end. Revenus and expense ilems are translated uging the average exchangs rates for the period, Foreign currency translation adjustments are induded in acoumulated other
comprehensive income, which is a component of stockholders' equity.

Foregn currency ransaction gains and fosses are ncuted in other income, net on the statement of eamings. We recognized $0.5 million of foreign currency ransaction losses in
2018, 30.4 milion of foreign currency transaction gains in 2017, and de minimis foreign currency fransaction gains in 2016.

Segment Reporting

Segments ars defined as componants of a company that engage in busness aciivities from which they may eam revenues and inour expenses, and for which separate finandal
information is available and is evaluated regularly by the chief operating dedision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and I assessing
perfermanca. Our chief operating dectsion maker manages the busingss under thres operating segments, which are repertable segments: Heakfwars, Business Advisory, and
Education.

New Accounting Pronouncemants
Recsntly Adopted

In August 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU™) 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging {Topkc 815): Targeted
Improvements lo Accounting for Hedging Activities. The amendments to the guidance Improve and simpify rules for hedge accounting to better present the economic resulls of an
entlty’s risk management actviies in its financial statements and improve the disclosures of hedging arrangements. Addilonally, ASU 2017-12 simpifies the hedge documentation
and effectiveness assessment requirements. We elactad to early adopt this ASU effective January 1, 2018. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB lssuad ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments - Overall {Sublopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Lisbéties. The
amendments lo the guidance enhance the reporting model for financial instruments, which incudes amendments to address aspecis of recognition, measurement, prasentation,
and discosure, We adopied this ASU effedlive January 1, 2018. The adoplion of this guidance did nod have an impacd on our consoldated fnancial staterents.

In May 2014, the FASE lssued ASU 2014-08, Rewsnue from Contracts with Customers. as a new Topic, ASC 606, which superseded ASC 605, Rewenus Recogndion. The new
revanue racognition standard provides a five-step analysis of transactions to datsrmine when and how revenue is recognized. The core principle is that a company should recognize
revanue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expedts to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. We adopted ASC 606 effective January 1, 2018 on a modified retrospective basis to & open conlracts, as modified, as of thal date. Adoption of the new
standard resulted in changes to our accounting policy for revenue recognition, most notably for performance-based biling amangements, and sales commissions. Refer to our
accounfing pokicies section above for additional nformation on our new accounting policias for revanue recognition and capitelzed sales commissions, Adopting ASC 606 on a
medifiad retrospective basts had no impact on eur consalidaled financial statements in the prior periods presanted. Upon adoption, we recorded a $2.0 milion cumulative-affedt
adjustment to record a net ihcrease to retained eamings for the portion of performance-based biling arrangements that have baen earned as of the adoption date but for which we
had not recognized as revenue under previous revenue recognition guidance, the capaization of sales commissions pakd on open contracts as of the adoptien date, and the
related tax affects.
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The Impadt of the cumulative effect adustment on our consolidated bakance sheet upon adoption was as folows:

As of Cumulatlve Effect As of
December 31, 2017 Adjustment January 1, 2018

Assets } .

Unbiled services, net $ 57618 § 2,36% % 59,887
‘_Prepéid-expense_s and other current assels 3 1081 § 104 $ 11,055
Deferred income taxes, net $ 16752 § 627y % 16,125
‘Other non-currant assets $ 25375 § 70§ 25,545
Equity |

Retained earnings 3 180443 % 2016 % 182,459

(1) The cumulative-affect adjustment related to the portion of perfermance-based biling arangaments that have been eamad as of the adoption date bul for which we had
nof recognized as revenue under previous revenua racogniion guidance was recordad as a contract assat within unbilled services, net on our consolidated balance sheet.
Refer to Note 6 "Revenues™ for additional nformation on our contract assels.

The impact of adoption on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018 and consoldated statements of operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018
was as follows:

Balance Sheet As of December 31, 2018

As reported under ASC ~ As computed under ASC Effect of Adoptlon

606 605 Increase/{Decraase)

Assets )
Recsivables from dients, net § 109677 § 107932 & 1,745
'"Unbilled sarvices, net : $ 69613 § 58,122 % 11,491
Income tax recetvable $ 6612 § 9024 % (2,412)
Preba'd expenses and other current assets $ 1392 § 13725 % 197
Deferred income taxes, net $ 2153 % 2780 % (627}
Other non-current assats 3 0525 § 30291 § 234
Liabilitles
Defarrad revenues $ 28130 § 26,385 § 1,745
Equity
Retained eamings : 196,106 § 187,223 § 8,883
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Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2018

As reported under ASC ~ As computed under ASC Effect of Adoptlon
. _ S 606 _ 605 Increasel{Decrease)
Revenues " S - $ ) 795,125 § ‘786,003 $ 9122
Direct costs $ 521537 % 521,694 § (157)
poretomombrgeneosins s om0 s v s o
Income tax expense S i 11,277 8,665 2412
Netincome fom continuing operatons 8 L L
_‘l-Eam'ngs per share fro<n% continuing obérations_-b#sic - y ) 7 $ ._ _ 064 3 _ . 0.32 . P __ 073.-’2_"
lEam'l]g.spgmhare from continuing operations - diuted $ _ 083 § 032 § ) 031

1 The change in revenues due o the adoption of ASC 606 refates to revenue recognized for performance-based fee billing arrangements within our Healthcare segmenl.

Not Yet Adopted

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, as a new Topic, ASC 842, which supersades ASC Topic 840, Leases, and sets forth the principles for the recognition,
maasurement, presentation, and disckosure of leasas for both lessses and lessors. ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to classify leases as either finance or operating leases and to
racord on the balance sheet a right-of-use asset and a lsase Rabiity, equal to the present value of the remaining lease payments, for all leases with a term greater than 12 months
regardiess of lhe lsase dassification. The lease dassification wil determine whather the leass expense is recognized using an effective interest rate method or on a straighl-line
basis over the farm of the lease. ASU 2016-02 wil be effective for us beginning January 1, 2019 and requires the usa of a modified retrospective transition method for existing
keasas. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted improvements, which provides an optlonal transiion method that allows entities to inftlally apply
ASC 842 at the adoption date and recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings on the adoption date. We wil elect to adopt ASC 842 using
the new transition method provided by ASU 2018-11. We wil slact the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard, which
among other things, allows us to carryforward the historical lease classification. We wil also elect the practical expedient to keep leases with an initial term of 12 months or less off of
the balance sheet. Whis we sre stll finalizing the impact this guidance will have on our consolidaled fnancial statemants, based on our lease portfolio as of December 31, 2018, we
currently expect the adoption of this quidance to result in an nitial leasa kabikty balance batween 368 milion to $78 milion, and an nital right of use asset balance between $50
milion to $60 milion. The difference between these two amounts wil be recorded as a decreass lo our deferred lease incentive fiabiiity and restructuring charge liability.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Vaise Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework - Changes o the Dischosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement, which modifies cartain disclosure requirements related to far vakie measurements, ASU 2018-13 will be effective for us baginning January 1, 2020, with early
adoption permitted. We do not expact this guidance to have an impact on the amounts reported on our consolidated financial statemants, and we are currently evaluating tha
potential impact this guidance wil have on our disclosures within the notes to our consolidated financial statements,
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3. Acquisitlons
2017
Pope Woodhead and Associates Limited

On January 9, 2017, we completed our acquisition of Pope Woodhead and Associates Limited ("Pope Woodhead"}, a U.K.-based consuking firm providing markst access
capabilities to assist chients in developing vakie propositions for innovative medicines and technologies. The acquistion expands our e sciences strategy expartise and strengthens
our abilty to lead clients through complex payer and regulatory environments. Pope Woodhead's results of operations have been Included In our consolldated fnancial statements
and the results of opsrations of our Business Advisory segment from the date of acquisition,

ADH Strategies, inc.

On April 1, 2017, we completed our acquisttion of the international assets of ADI Strategles, Inc. {"AD| Strategies®) in Dubai and India. Wa acquired the U.S. assats of AD
Strategios in the sacond quarter of 2016, ADI Strategies is a leading enterprise performance managemenl, risk managemenl and busness inleligence firm. The international
rasults of opsrations of AD| Strategies have been nduded in our consolidated financial statements and resuls of operations of the Business Advisory segment from the date of
acgulsttion. During the sacond quarter of 2018, we sold our Middle East practica, which primarily consisted of the international assets of the ADI Sirategies acquisition, 1o a former
employes who was the practice leader of that bushess at the tme,

The acquisitions of ADI Strategies and Pope Waeodhead are not significant to our consolidated financial statements individually or in the aggregate as of and for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2017.

innosight Holdings, LLC

On March 1, 2017, we acquired 100% of the membership Interasts of Innosight Holdings, LLC ("Innosight™). lnnesight is a growth strategy firm focused on helping companies
navigate disruptive change and manage strategic transformation. Together with Innosight, we use our strategle, operational, and technolegy capabililies to help clients across
muliiple Industries develop pioneering solutions to address disruption and achleve sustained growth.

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for Innosight was $113.6 millon, which consisted of the folowing:

Fatr value of consideration trangferred March 1, 2017

ICash - = S o . C : ' ' $ s
Commeon stock 9,560
Contingent consideration kablity - ' : . s 12,050
Net working capital adjustment 1,272
~ Total consideration transfefred o o ' o o s 113,607

We funded the cash component of the purchase price with cash on hand and borrowings of $89.0 millon undar our senior secured cradi fackty. We lssued 221,558 shares of our
common sock as part of the consideration transferred, with an acquisition date fair value of $9.6 millon based on our commeon slock's dosing price of $43.15 on the date of
acquisition. The contingent consideration kability of $12.1 milion represents the acquisition date far value of the contingent consideration arrangement, pursuant to which we may
ba required to pay additional considaration to the selers if spacific financial performance targets are met over a four-year term. The maximum amount of contingent consideration
that may be paid is $35.0 mibon, See Note 12 "Fair Vakie of Financial Instruments” for additional information on the valuation of contingent consideration labilities.

The acquisition was accounted for using the acqulsition method of accounting. Tangible and identifiable ntangible assets acquired and liabiities assumed were recorded at fair value
as of the acquisition date.
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Tha folowing table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the falr value of assets acquired and kabilities assumed as of the acquistion date.

March 1, 2017

Assets acquired:
Accounts recenvable $ 1.752
Unbiled services 1.881
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 488
Property and equipment 419
Intangible assets 18,015
Liabilities asaumed:
Accounts payable 531
Accrued expensas and other current liabiities 894
Accrued payroll and related benefils 883
Deferred revenues 30

Tolal identifiable rat assels 26,197
Goodwil 87 410

Total purchasa price $ 113,607
The following table sats forth the componants of identifiable intangble assats acquired and their estimated usseful kves as of the acquisition date.

Useful Life In
Fair Value Years

Customer relationships $ 9,500 6
Trade name 6,000 6
Custemer contracts 1,000 1
Non-compete agreements 1,300 5
Favorable lease contract 215 1

Total intangble assels subject to amortezation $ 18,015

The weighted average amortization period for the identifiable intangible assets shown above is 5.6 years. Customer relationships and cuslomer contracis represent the far values
of the underlying retationships and agreements with Innosight customers. The trade name represents the fair valee of the brand and name recognition associated with the
marketing of [nnowght's servica offerings. Noncompate agreements represent the valwe derived from preventing certain Innosight executives from entering into of startng a simiar,
compsting business, The favorable lease contract reprasents the difference between the fair value and minimum lease obligations under the current outstanding lease. Goodwil s
recognized for the excass of purchase price over the net fair valus of assats acquired and Rabiities assumed, and largely reflects the expanded market opportuniies expected from
combining the service offerings of Huron and Innesight, as well as the assembled workforcs of Innosight. Goodwil recognized in conjunction with the acqulsition of Innosight was
recorded in the Business Advisory segment. Goodwil of $87.4 mifion s expected to be deductible for ncome tax purposes.

innosight's results of operations have been induded in our consoldated statements of eperations and resulis of operations of our Business Advisory segment from the date of
acquisftion, For the year ended December 31, 2017, revenues from Innasight were $34.3 milion and opersating loss was $0.9 milion, which nduded $3.4 milion of amoriization
expanse for intangible assets acquired. In connection with the acquisition of Innosight, we incurred $1.7 millon of transaction and acquisdion-rafated expenses in 2017. These costs
are recorded in seling, general and admnstrative expenses.
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The follewing unaudited supplemental pro forma nfermation summarizes the combined rasuks of operatlons of Huron and Innosight as though the companies were combined on
January 1, 2016.

Year Ended
December 31,
2017 2016
Revanues H 741695 & 769,114
Net income (loss) from continuing operations o _ $ (16736 5 . - 42780
Net income (loss) from continuing operations per share - basic $ (7.79) % 2
Netincome {ioss) from continuing operations per share - dted . § Gy s 198

The historizal financial information has been adjusted to give effect to pro forma adjusiments conslsting of intangible asset amortization expense, acquisition-related costs, interest
expense, and the related incoma tax sffects. The unaudited pro forma informalion above ncludes adjusiments to indude additional expense of $0.6 millon and $11.4 million for the
years ended Dacember 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Addilonally, the historical finandal information has been adjusted to give effect fo the shares issusd as considerabon. All of
these adjustments are based upon currently avaiable information and certain assumptions. Therafore, the pro forma consolidated results are nol necessarlly indicative of what our
consolkdated results of operations actually would have baen had we completed the acquisition on January 1, 2016. The historical rasulls induded in the pro forma consolidated
results do not purport to proiect future results of operations of the combined companies nor do they reflect the expectad realization of any cost savings or revenue synergies
associated with the acquisition.

2016
MyRounding Sohutions, LLC

On February 1, 2016, we completed the acquisiiion of MyRounding Solutions, LLC ("MyReunding™), a Denver, Colorado-based firm specializing in digital health solutions fo improve
patient care. The MyRounding application is designed to standardize, automate, and track rounding activity, allowing nurses and staff to improve the care and experience of patients
In real time. Tha addition of MyRounding expands the integration of our software and consulting solutions and strengthens our transformation services for heafthcars prowders. The
results of operations of MyRounding have been nduded in our consoldated financial statements and the results of operations of our Heakthcare segment irom the date of
acquisition.

AD! Strategies, Inc.

On May 1, 2016, we compleled the acquisition of the U.S. assets of ADI Strategies, Inc. {"AD| Strategies"), a leading enterprisa performance management, risk management, and
busness inteligence firm focused on implementing the Crade enterprise apphication suke. The resulis of operations of AD| Strategies have been included in our consokdated
financial statements and the results of operations of our Business Advisory segment from the date of acquisition.

Haalthcara Servicas Management, Inc.

On August 1, 2016, we completed the acquisiion of Healthcare Services Management, Inc. {"HSM Consulting®), a firm specializing in heatthcare informaticn tschnology and
management consulting. The resuks of operations of HSM Consulting have been Included in our consolidated financial statements and resulks of operations of our Healthcare
segment from the date of acquisilion.

The acquisiicns of MyRounding, ADI Stralegies, and HSM Consuling are not significant te our consolidated financial statements individually or in the aggregate as of and for the
twetve months ended December 31, 2016.

F-17




Table of Content
HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

4, Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The table below sets forth the changes in the carrying amount of goodwil by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Business
Healthcare Advisory Educatlon Total

Balance as of Decembar 31, 2016:

Goodwll 3 636802 § 203137 § 102906 $ 942 845
Accumulated mpairment lossas — (142,983) — (142,983}
Goodwlll, net as of Dscembar 31, 2016 $ 636,802 % 60,154 % 102906 § 799862
Goodwill recorded in connection with business combinations ™! 8 88,183 10,252 98,443
Goodwil impairment charge (208,081) {45,012) — (253,093)
Goodwil reallocation @ — 10,794 (10,794} -
Goodwil ablocated to disposal of business ™ — (568) — (568)
Foreign currency translation — 641 465 1,106
Balance as of Decamber 31, 2017:

Goodwll 636,810 302,187 102,829 1,041,826
Accumulated impairment losses (208,081} (187,995) — {396,076)
Goodwill, net as of December 31, 2017 $ 428728 % 114192 § 102829 % 645,750
Goodwill recorded in connection wikh business combinations ™ - 186 - 186
Fereign currency translation — (673} — {673)
Balance as of December 31, 2018

Goodwil 636,810 3,700 102,829 1,041,339
Accomulated impairment losses (208,081} (187,995} — (-396,076)
Goodwill, net as of December 31, 2018: $ 428,729 ¢ 113705 § 102829 § 645,263

(1) Refer to Note 3 "Acquisitions” for additenal information on the goodwill recorded in connection with business combinations.

{2) In 2017, we reorganized our internal financial reporting structure, which management uses to assess parformance and allocate resources, by moving our Life Scences
practica from the Education and Life Sciences segment 10 the Businass Advisory segment. The remaining Education and Life Sciences sagment is now referred to as the
Education segment. The Life Sciences pracice is a separate reporling unit for purposes of goodw® impairment testing. See Note 18 “Segment Information® for additional
information on our reportable segments.

{3) In 2017, we sold our Life Sciences Compliance and Operalions practice ("L#e Sciences G&0") to a third-party, and aliccated a portion of goodwil within the Life Sciences
reporting unit to the disposad business based on the relative fair values of Life Scences C&0 and the remaining reporting unit. The allocated goodwil of $0.6 milkon was
written off and induded In the galn on sale of Life Scences C&0. The sale of Life Sciences C&O did not meet the criteria for reporting separatsly as discontinued
operations. In connection with the sale, we recarded a 50.9 milion gain which is mduded in other income, net in our consolidated statements of operations.

2018 Annual Goodwill Impalrment Test

Pursuant to our policy, we performed our annual goodwill impairment lest as of November 30, 2018 for our five reporting units with goodwil balancas: Healthcare, Education,
Busness Adwisory, Strategy and Innovation, and Life Sciences. We performed a qualikative assessmenl over all reparling units to determine if it was more ikely than not the
respeciive fair values of these reporting units were less than their carrying ameunts, inchding goodwil.

For our qualitative assessment, wa considered the most recent quantiative analysis performed for each reporting unit, which was as of November 30, 2017, inchuding the key
assumptions used within that analysis, the indicated fair values, and the amount by which those fair values exceeded their carrying amounts. One of the key assumptions used within
the prior quantitative analysis was our intemal financial projections; therefore, we considereqd the actual performance of each reporting unil during 2018 compared to the internal
finandial projections used, as well as specific outiooks for each reporting unit based on our most recent intemal fnandial projections. We also considered the market-based valuation
multiples used in the market approach within our pricr quantitative analysis, which were derivad from guidelina
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companias, and noted that the valuation multiples generally ncreased over the past year. We also reviswed the current cammying value of each reporting unit in comparison to the
carrying values as of the prior quantitative analysis. In addition, we considered various factors, induding macrosconomic conditions, ralevant industry and markel trends for each
reporting unit, and other enlity-specific events, that could indicate a potential change in the farr valus of our reporting units or the compasition of their carrying values. Based on our
assessmants, we determined that it was more lkaly than not that the fair values for each of our reporting units excaeded thet respective carrying amounts. As such, the goodwill for
our reporting units was not considered impaired as of November 30, 2018, and a quanitalive goodwd imparment analysis was not necessary.

Further, we evaluated whether any events have occurred or any drcumstances have changed since November 30, 2018 that woukd indicale goodwil may have become impaired
since our annual impairment test. Based on our evaluation as of December 31, 2018, we determined that no indications of impairment have arsen since our annual goodwil
mpairment test.

The resulks of an imparment analysis are as of a point in time. Thera ks no assuranca that the actual future garnings or cash flows of our reporting units will be consistent with cur
projections. We will menitor any changes to our assumptions and wil evaluate goodwil as deemed warranted during future perlods. Any signdicant decline in our operations could
resull in non-cash goodwil mpairment charges.

Second Quarter 2017 Goodwill Impalment Charge

During the second guarter of 2017, we performed a goodwil impairment anatysis for our Healthcare reporting unit as our Heakhcare business was experlendng a prolonged period
of dediining revenues at the fime, primarity driven by softness in our revenue cyde offering within our performance improvement solution. This soflness was atirbulable to
decreased demand for our services, the winding down of some of our larger projects, and a trend toward smaller projects, as well as fewer large integrated projacts, Based on
forecasts prepared in the second quarter of 2017 in connection with cur quarterly forecasting cyde, we determined that the kely time frame to improve the financial results of this
segment would take longer than orignally anticipated. As such, we conduded, during the second quarter of 2017, that the fair value of the Healthcare reporting unit may no longer
exceed fts carrying value, In connsction with the preparation of our fimnancial statements for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, we performed an interim impaimment test on the
Healthcare reporting unit

Our goodwill mpairment test was performed by comparing the far value of the Heakhcara reporting unk to iis carrying value and recognizing an impairment charge for the amount
by which the carrying valus exceaded the fair value. To estimate the far value of the Healthcare reporting unit, we refied on a combination of the income approach and the market
approach, utiizing the guidaline company method, with a fifty-fitty welghting. Based on the estimated fair value of the Healthcare reporting unit, we recorded a $208.1 milion non-
cash pretax goodwil Impakment charge in 2017 to reduce the carrying value of goodwil in our Healthcare reporting uni.

2017 Annual Goodwill Impairment Test

Pursuant te our policy, we performed our annual goodwil impairment test as of November 30, 2017 for our six reporting units with geodwill balancas al the tima: Healthcare,
Education, Business Advisory, Enterprise Soluticns and Analytics, Strategy and Innovation, and Life Sciences. We elected to bypass the quakative assessment and proceeded
directly to the quantitative goodwill impairment test,

For each reporting unlt, we reviewad goodwil for impairment by comparing the far value of the reporting unit to its carrying value, incuding goodwil. In estimating the fair value of
each reporting unit, we refied on a combination of the income approach and the market approach, utiizing the guideline company method, with a fifty-fitty weighting, Based on the
results of the goodwil mparrment test, we determined that the fair vale of the Heakhcars, Education, Business Advisory, Strategy and Innovation, and Life Sciences reporting units
exceeded its carmying value by 40%, 120%, 115%. 33%, and 14%, respactively. As such, we conduded that there was no indication of goodwil impairment for these five reporting
units, However, the results of the quanfitative imparment test indicated that the fair value of the Enterprise Solutions and Analytics reporting unit did not exceed its carrying value.
Based on the estimated fair value of the Enterprise Solutions and Analytics reporting unit, we recorded a $45.0 milion non-cash pretax charge to reduce the carrying vahse of this
raporting unit's goodwil to zero.

Our Enterprise Solitions and Analytics reporting unit was established with the acquisition of Blue Stone Internatienal, LLC in 2013, Since that time, we completed five additional
business acquisitions within the reporting unit, most recently the acquisttions of the U.S. assats and International assets of AD| Strategies in May 2016 and April 2017,

respactively. We record the assels acquired and kabiities assumed in business combinations, including identifiable intangitle assels, at thetr estimated fair values as of the acquisition
date, and goodwll is recorded as the excess of the far value of consideration transferred, inckuding any contingent consideration, over the fair value of the net assets acquired.
Therefore, the inltial accounting for an acquisition resuks in its fair value equaling its carrying value. Due 1o this reporting unil’s relatively low hoadroom, In the event that the financial
performance of the reporting uni did not meet our expeciations during 2017, we could be required to take a non-cash impairment charge as a result of any goodwil impairment
1est. During the first three quarters of 2017, the performance of Enterprise Selutions and Analytics continuad 1o reasonably meet our expectations. However, both revenues and
operating margin during the fourth quarter of 2017 fall shert of our expadations resuling in a reduction in workforce within the reporting unit during that
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Quartor. Further, In connection with our annual burdgat procass for 2018, which coindded with our annual goocdw Impakment tes! during the fourth quarter of 2017, we detarminad
that the reporting unit's expecled fulure revenue growth rales and aperating margin would be kwsr than previously anticipated for this reporting unit. As a resutt, our goodwil
impairment test indicated that the fair vatue of the Enterprise Solutions and Analytics reparting unit no longer exceeded its carrying value, and we recorded a $45.0 milion non-cash
pretax charge to write off the entire carryihg valus of this reporting unik's goodwll.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the fofowing:

As of December 31,
2018 2017
Gross Gross

Useful Life Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

in Years Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Customer relationships 41013 $ 98235 § 60462 % 106,195 51,588
Trade names 5t06 28,930 23,181 28,016 18,415
Cusiomer'cqnn'ads N _ 4 — - 25154 24751
Technology and softwara 3o 5,694 2,842 9,340 5,098
Non-competition agrasments 305 3,650 2241 5163 2637
Publishing contenit 3 - — 3,300 3,163
Favorable lease contract 3 720 646 720 425
Total $ 137,229 % 89372 § 178,888 § 106,577

Identifiable intangible assats with finite fves are amartized over thair estimated useful ives. Customer relationships and cuslomer contracts, as well as certain trade names and
technology and software, are amortized on an acCelerated basis to correspond to the cash fiows expected to be derived from the assets. All other intangible assets with finite Ives
are amortized on a Sfraight-ine basts.

Intangible assals amortization expense was $24.0 milion, $35.0 mifion, and $33.1 milion for the years ended Decembar 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, raspactively. The table below
sats forth the estimated annual amortization expense for each of the five susceading years for the intangble assals recorded as of December 31, 2018.

Estimated
Year Ending December 31, Amortization Expense
2019 $ 17,208
2020 $ 12,083
2021 $ 8,064
2022 3 6,090
2023 $ 3512

Actual future amortization expense could differ from these estimated amounts as a result of future acquistions, dispositions, and other faclors.
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5. Property and Equipment, Net

Deprecation expense for property and equipment was $13.4 mifion, $13.3 millon, and §12.5 milion for the years ended Dacember 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.

Property and squipment, net at Decamber 31, 20418 and 2017 consisted of the folowing:

As of December 31,

2018

2017

Leasehoid 'rnprovements_ )

45,062

a4

s

. 5§.1,16E' :}::s';.; i

L rage

46216

45244

- 16434
7.541

S 25

Buntwsand fwres 10 o T s
Aircraft

Property and equipment
‘Acoumulated deprocatin and amortizaton ..t T U w0 ke e

123,367

Ve (820w

115,685
T (70,144)

Eranert and cament, nt L ST i ,s

40,374

s

45,541
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6. Financing Amangements

A summary of the carrying amounts of our debt folows:

As of December 31,
2018 2017
1.25% convertble senior notes due 2019 L S 242617 § 233140
Senlor sacured crodd fadilty 50,000 105,000
Promissory note due 2024 B o 4,368 " 4968
Total long-term debt $ 206,985 ¢ 343,008
Current maturifies of long-term debt , o T (4313 . (501)
\ Long-term debt, net of current portion 3 53853 3§ 342,507
Below is a summary of the scheduled remaining principal payments of our debt as of December 31, 2018.
Principal Payments of Long-
Term Debt
019 3 250515
2020 3 529
2021 ] s 544
2022 $ 559
023 o ) $ 50575
Thereafier t3 1,646

Convertible Notes

In September 2014, the Company issued $250 million principal amount of 1.25% convertitde senior notes due 2019 (the "Cenvertible Notes™) In a private offeting. The Convertible
Notes are governed by the terms of an indenture between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee {the "Indenture”), The Convertibke Notes are sanior
unsecured obligations of the Company and will pay interest semi-annually on Apri 1 and October 1 of each year at an annual rate of 1.25%. The Convertible Notes wil mature on
Qctober 1, 2019, unless earlier repurchased by the Company or converted in accordance with their terms. We expact to refinance the principal amount of the outstanding notes at
maturity with the borrowing capacity avalable under our revolving credit fachty.

Upon conversion, the Convertibla Notes wil be setflad, at our glaction, m cash, shares of the Company's commeon stock, or a combination of cash and shares of the Company's
commen stock, Our current intent and policy is to setlle conversions with a combination of cash and shares of common slock with the principal amounit of the Convertible Notes paid
n cash, in accordance with the settlement provisions of the Indentura.

The initial conversion rate for the Convertible Notes is 12.5170 shares of our common steck par $1,000 principal amount of the Convertible Notes, which is equal to an initial
conversion price of approximately $79.89 per share of our common stock. The conversion rate will be subject to adustment upon the occurrence of certain specified events but wil
not be adjusted for accrued and unpaxd Interest, excapt in cartaln Imited crcumstances desaribed in the Indanture. Upon the occurrence of a “make-whole fundamental change”
{as defined in the Indenture) the Company will, in certain croumstances, increase the conversion rate by a number of additional shares for a holder lhat elects to convert s
Convertible Notes in connection with such make-whole fundamental change. Additionadly, if the Company undergoes a “fundamental change" (as defined in the indenture), a holder
wil have the option to require the Company to repurchass all or a portion of s Convertble Notes for cash at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Converlible Notes
being repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid interest. As discussed below, the convertible note hedge transactions and warrants, which wers entered into in connection with the
Convertible Notes, effectively raise the price at which economic diution would cecur from the Inftial conversion price of approximately $79.89 to approximately $97.12 per share.

Holders of the Convertible Notes may convert ther Convertible Notes at thair option at any time prior to July 1, 2019, only under the following crcumstancss:
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. during any calendar quarter {and only during such calendar quarter) commencing after December 31, 2014 if, for each of at kast 20 trading days (whether or not
consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading day period ending on, and induding, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter, the last
repoftad sale prica of the Company's common stock for such trading day is equal to or greater than 130% of the applcable conversion price on such frading day;

during the five consecutive business day period immediately following any five consacutive trading day peried {such five consscutive trading day period, lhe
“measuremant period”) in which, for each trading day of the measurement period, the “trading price” (as defined In the indenture} per $1,000 principal amount of the
Convertble Notes for such trading day was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s commaon stock for such trading day and the
applicable conversion rale on such trading day; or

' upon the occurrence of specified corporate transaclions described in the Indenture.

On or after July 1, 2018 until the closa of business on the second scheduled frading day mmediataly preceding the maturlty date, a hokder may convert all or a partion of its
Convertible Notes, regardiess of the foregeing drcumstances.

We have saparaled the Convertble Notes into [iabilky and equity componenis. The carrying amaunt of the fability component was determined by measuring the Tar vabue of a
simitar Bability that does not have an associated convertible feature, assuming our non-convertible debt borrowing rate. The carrying vakue of the equity component representing the
convarsion option, which is recognized as a debt discount, was determined by deducting the farr value of the Rabilty component from the proceeds of the Convertible Netes. The
debt discount is amortlzed to interest expense using an effective interest rate of 4.751% over the term of the Converible Notes. As of December 31, 2018, the remaining e of the
Convertble Notes is 0.8 years. The equity compenent wil not be remeasured as long as & continues to meet the conditions for equity cassification.

The transaction costs related to lhe issuance of the Convertble Notes were separaled into Babiity and equity components basad on thei relative values, as determined above,
Transaction costs atiributable to the Eability component are recordad as a deduction to the camying amount of the Eabiity and amortized to interest expense over the term of the
Convertible Noles; and fransaction costs attributable to the equity component are netled with the equity component of the Convertible Notes in stockholders' equity, Total debt
issuance costs were approximately $7.3 milion, of which $6.2 milion was allocated 1o Babiity issuance costs and $1.1 milion was alkocated 1o equily issuance costs.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Convartible Notes consisled of the following:

As of December 31,

2018 2017

Lisbity component - o . | _ L -
Proceeds $ 250,000 % 250,000
Less: debt discount, net of amortization o _ ' i T (6438) . (14.668)
Less: debt issuanca costs. net of amortization _ o o N {947) (2,192)
Netcamyngamount ’ | \ 5 22617 § 283140
Equity component " $ 39287 % 39,287

{1) Inchided in addiional paic-in capital on the consolidated balance sheet.

The following tabde presents the amount of interest expense recognized related to the Convertible Notes for tha periods presanted.

Year Ended Dacember 31,

2018 2017 2016
Contraciual Interest coupon ' $ 3125 S 3425 § 3,125
Amortization of debt discount 8.232 7,851 7,488
Amortization of debt issuance costs ? o 1245 1,228 L1
Total interest expense $ 12602 § 12200 § 11,814

In connection with the lssuance of the Convertible Notes, we entered into convertible note hedge fransactions and warrant transactions. The convertible nots hedge transactions
are intended to reducs the potentlal future econemic diktion assocated with the conversion of the
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Convertble Notas and, combined with the warrants, effectively raise the price at which economic diution woukd occur from the initial converslon price of approximately $79.89 to
approximately $97.12 per share, For purposas of the computation of diuted earnings per share in accordance with GAAP, dilution wll accur when the average share price of aur
common stock for a given period exceeds the conversion price of the Convertible Notes, which nttialy is equal to approximately $79.89 per share. The convertible note hedge
iransactions and warrant transactions are discussed separately below.

. Converiible Note Hedge Transactions. In connection with the issuance of tha Convertibla Notes, the Company entered into convertible note hedge transactions
wheraby the Company has call options to purchase a total of approximately 3.1 milion sharses of the Company's common stock, which is the number of shares inidally
issuable upon conversion of the Convartible Nees in full, at a price of approximately $79.83, which corresponds to the initial conversion price of the Convertible Notes,
subject to customary anti-diution adjustments substantially simbar to those in the Convertible Notes. The convertble note hedge transactions are exarcisabde upon
conversion of the Convertlble Notes and will expire In 2019 if not eariier exarcised. We pald an aggregate amount of $42.1 millon far the convertible note hedge
transactions, which was recorded as addibional paid-in capilal on he consolidated balance sheats. The convertible note hedge transachions are separate transactions
and are not part of the terms of the Convertibla Motes.

. Warrants. In connection with the issuance of the Convartible Notes, the Company sold warrants whereby the holders of the warrants have the option to purchase a
total of approximately 3.1 mlllon shares of the Company's common stock at a strie price of approximately $97.12. The warrants wll explre Incrementaly on 100
differeni dates from January 6, 2020 to May 28, 2020 and are exercisable at each such expiry dats. If the average market value per share of our common slock for the
reporting period exceeds the sirke price of the warrants, the warrants wil have a dilutive effect on our earnings per share. We received aggregate proceeds of $23.6
milien from the sale of the warrants, which was recorded as additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheets. The warrants are saparate transactions and
are not part of the terms of the Convertible Notes or the converthbile note hedge ransactions.

The Company recorded an intial deferred tax Eabity of $15.4 million in connection with the debt discount assodiated with the Convertible Notes and recorded an inftial deferred tax
asset of $16.5 millon In connaction with the convertible note hedge fransactions. The deferred tax Eabiity and defarred tax assst are incuded in deferred income taxes, net on the
consolidated balance sheets.

Senlor Secured Credlt Facility

The Company has a $500 milion ive-year senior secured revolving credi faclity, subject Lo the terms of a Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreament daled as of March 31,
20185, as amended to date (as amended and modified the “Amended Credit Facllty”), that becomes due and payable In ful upon maturity on March 23, 2023. The Amended Credit
Agreement provides the option o increase the reveiving credit faciity or astablish term loan faclities in an aggregate amount of up to $150 mikon, subject to customary conditions
and the approval of any lerder whose commitment would be increased, resuking in a maximum avaiable principal amount under the Amended Credit Agreement of $650 milion.
The Inttlal borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement were used 1o refinance borrowings outstanding under a prior credit agreement, and future borrowings under the
Amended Credit Agreemant may be used for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions of businesses, share repurchases, and general corporate purposes.

Fees and Interest on borrowings vary based on our Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defmed in the Amended Credit Agreement). At our option, borrowings urder the Amended
Credit Agreement will bear nterest at one, twa, thres of six-month LIBOR of an akernata base rate, in each case plus the applicable margin, The applcable margin wil fluctuate
betwean 1.25% per annum and 2.00% per annum, n the case of LIBOR borrowings, or between 0.25% per annum and 1.00% par annum, in the case of base rate loans, based
upan cur Consokdated Leveraga Ratio at such time.

Amounts borrowed under the Amended Credit Agresment may be prepaid at any tme without premium or penalty. We are required to prepay the amounts outstanding under the
Amended Credit Agreement in certain circumstances, nduding a requirement to pay all amounts outstanding 3¢ days prior to the Convertible Indebtedness Maturity Date (as
defined in the Amended Credit Agreement} unless {1) the Convertible Indebtedness Maturity Date is waived or exianded fo a later date, (2) the Company can demonstrate

{a) Liquidky {as defined in the Amended Credit Agreamant) it an amount at least equal to the principal amount due on the Convertible Indebtedness Maturity Date, and (b) financial
covenant compliance after giving effect to such payments and any additional indebtedness incurred on a pro forma basis, or (3) this requirement is waived by the Required Lendars
{as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement). In addition, we have the right to permanently reduce or terminate the unused portion of the commitments provided under the
Amendad Credit Agreement at any time.

The loans and obligations under the Amanded Credit Agreement are secured pursuant to 8 Second Amended and Restated Security Agreement and a Second Amended and
Restated Pladge Agreement {the "Pledge Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. as collateral agent, pursuant to which the Company and the subsidiary guarantors grant Bank of
America, N.A_, for the ratable benefit of the lenders under
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the Amended Credit Agreement, a first-priority lien, subject to permitted Sans, on substantially al of the personal property assets of the Company and the subsidlary guaranlors, and
a pledge of 100% of the stock or cther equity interasis in al domeslic subsidiaries and 65% of the stock or other equity interests in aach “material first-tier foreign subsidiary” (as
defined in the Pledge Agresmant}.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains usual and customary representations and warranties; affirmative and negative covenants, which inchide imitations on sens, invesiments,
addiional indebtedness, and restrictad payments; and twe quartarly finandial covenants as folows: (i) a maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio (dafined as the ratio of debt o
consolidated EBITDA) ranging from 3.50 to 1.00 to 4.00 to 1.00, depending on the measurement period, and () a minimum Consolidated Interest Coveraga Ratlo (defined as the
ratio of consolidated EBITDA to interest) of 3.50 to 1.00. Censolidated EBITDA for purposes of the finandial covenants is calculated on & continuing operations basis and incudes
adjustmants to add back non-cash goodwll impairment charges, share-hasad compensation costs, certain non-cash restructuring chargaes, pro forma historical EBITDA for
businesses acquired, and cther spedfied items in accordance with the Amended Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2018, we were in compfance with thase financial covenants
with a Consolidated Leverage Ratio of 2,83 fo 1.00 and a Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio of 11.03 to 1.00.

Borrowings outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement at December 31, 2018 totaled $50.0 milion. Thess borrowings carried a weighted average interest rate of 3.7%,
including the impadt of the interest rate swap described in Note 11 “Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity.” Borrowings outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement at
December 31, 2017 were $105.0 milion and carried a weightad average interast rate of 3.7%, inchuding the impact of the interest rate swap described in Nots 11 "Derbvathve
Instruments and Hedging Activity.” The borrowing capacity under the revolving credt facilty is reduced by any outstanding borrowings under the revohing credit facdity and
outstanding letters of credit. At December 31, 2018, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling $1.6 milkon, which are primariy used as securlty deposits for our office faciities. As
of Dacember 31, 2018, the unused borrowing capacity under the revoking credit faclity was $448.4 million,

Pramissory Note due 2024

In 2017, in conjunction with our purchase of an aircraft related to the acquisiion of Innosight, we assumed, from the sellers of the aircraft, a promissory note with an outslanding
principal balance of $5.1 mMon. The principal balance of the promissory note is subject to scheduled monthly principal payments until the maturity date of March 1, 2024, at which
time a final payment of $1.5 milkon, plus any accruad and unpaid nleresl, wil be due. Under the terms of the promissory nede, we wil pay interest on the ouistanding principal
amount at a rata of one-month LIBOR plus 1.97% per annum. The obligations under the promissory note are sacured pursuant to a Loan and Aircraft Security Agreement with
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC, which grants the lender a first priority security interest in the aircraft. At December 31, 2018, the outstanding principal amount of the
promissory note was $4.4 milion. As of December 31, 2018, the aircraft had a carrying amount of $5.8 milion. At Decermber 31, 2017, the culstanding principal amount of the
promissory note was $4.9 milion, and the aircraft had a carrying amount of $6.5 million.

7. Capital Structure
Preferred Stock

Wa are authorized to issue up to 50.000,600 shares of preferred stock. Qur certificate of incorporation authorizes our board of directors, without any further stockholder action or
approval, to issue these shares In one or more dasses or series, to establish from time to tme the number of shares to be nduded In each class or series, and to fix the rights,
praferencas and privieges of the shares of sach wholly unissued class or series and any of its quaFfications, Bmitations or restrictions. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, no such
preferred stock has been approved or ssued.

Common Stock

We are authorized to issue up to 500,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share. The holders of common stock are entitied to ong vote for each share held of
record on each matter submitled lo a vote of stockholders. Subject to the rights and preferences of the holders of any series of preferred stock that may at the time be outstanding,
holders of common stock are entitied to such dividends as our board of drectors may declare. In the avent of any liuidation, dissolution or winding-up of our affairs, after payment
of all of our debts and liabiies and subject to the rights and preferences of the hokders of any series of preferred sock that may at the time be outstanding, holders of commaon
stock wll be entitied fo receive the distribution of any of our remaining assats.
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8. Revanues

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 we recognized revenues of $795.1 milon, $732.6 milien, and $726.3 miion respactively. Of the $795.1 mikon
racognized in 2018, we recognized revenues of $10.8 mikon from obligations satisfied, or partially satisfied, in prior periods, of which $7.2 millon was due 1o changes in the
astimates of our variable consideration under performance-based blling arrangements and $3.6 miion was primariy dus to the release of alewances on unbiled services due to
sacuring coniract amendments.

As of December 31, 2018, we had 3316 milion of semaining performancs obligations under engagements with orignal axpected duraticns greater than one year. These remaining
performance obligations exclude obligations under contracts with an original expacied duration of one yaar or less, variable consideration which has baen exduded from the total
transaction price due to the constraint, and performance obligations under time-and-expense engagements which are racognized in lhe amount invoiced. Of the $91.6 milion of
performance obligations, we expect to recognize approximately $74.9 mlion as revenue in 2019, $12.1 millon h 2020, and the remaining $4.6 millon thereafter. Actual revenue
recognition could differ from these amounts as a result of changes in the estimated timing of work to be performed, adjstments to estimated variable consideration in performance-
based arrangements, of other factors.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

The payment terms and conditions in our customer contracts vary. Differences between the timing of billngs and the recogniion of revenue are recognizad as either unbiled
sarvices or deferred revenues in the consolidated balance sheets.

Unbiled senvices induds revenwes recognized for services performed but not yet biled to dients. Senvices performed that we are nol yet entilled 1o bil because cerlain events, such
as the completion of the measurement period or chent approval in performance-based engagements, must oceur are recorded as confract assets and induded within unbiied
sarvices, net. The contract asset balance withm unbllad servicas, net was $9.1 million as of December 31, 2018 and $2.4 milion as of January 1, 2018, upen adoption of ASC 606.
The $6.7 million increese primarily reflects timing déferencas betwsen the completion of our performance obigations and the amounts biled or bilable fo chents in accordance with
therr contractual biling terms. Refer to Note 2 "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for additional information on the adoption of ASC 606,

Client prepayments and retainers are classified as deferred revanues and recognized over future periods in accordance with the applicable engagemant agreement and our
revenua recognition policy. Our deferred reverwes balance as of December 31, 2018 and Dacsmber 31, 2017 wag $28.1 millon and $27.9 miion respectively. The $0.2 million
increase primarily reflects immg differences betwesn cient payments in accordance with their contract terms and the completion of our performance obligations. For the twebve
months ended December 31, 2018, $23.5 milion of revenues recognized were induded in the deferred revenue balance as of December 31, 2017.
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9. Eamings Per Share

Basic eamnings par share excldes diution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period, exduding
unvestad restrictad commeon stock. Diuted earnings per share reflects the potential reduction in earnings par share that could occur ff securities or other contracts o issus commoen
stock were axercised or converled into common stock under the treasury stock method. Such securities or olher contracts indude unvested restricted stock awards, oulslanding
common stock options, convertible senior notes, and outstanding warrants, to the axtent diutive. In periods for which we report a net loss from continuing operations, dilted
welghted average common shares outstanding excludes al potential common stock equivalents as ther impact on diuted net loss from continuing operations per share would be
antrdiutive.

Eamnings {loss) per share under the bask and dilted computations are as folows:

Year Ended Dacember 31,

2018 2017 2016

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 8 13944 3§ (170.505) $ 39,480
Income (loss) from discontinued oparations, net of tax (298) 388 (1.863)
Net income (loss) $ 13646 % (170,117) § 37617
Weighted average common shares ouistanding—basic 21,706 21,439 21,084
Weighted average comman stock equivalents 352 — 340
Weighted average common shares outstanding—diuted 22,058 21438 21,424
Net earnings {loss) per basic shars;

Nst income {loss) from contlnuing operations $ 064 ¢ (795 % 1.87
Income (loss) from disconfinued operations, net of tax {0.01) 0.02 {0.09)
Net income {joss) $ 063 & (793 % 1.78
Net earnings {loss) per diuted share:

Net income {loss) from continuing operations $ 063§ (7.95) $ 1.84
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (0.01) 0.02 (0.08}
Net Income (foss) $ 062 & (793 % 1.76

The number of anti-diutive securities excuded from the computation of the weighted average commaon stock equivalents presented above were as follows

As of Dacember 31,
2018 2017 2016
Unvestad restricted slock awards - 636 2
Qutstanding common stock options - 194 -
Convertible senior notes 3128 3,129 3,129
Warrants related to the issuance of convertible sanior notas 3,129 3.129 3129
Total anti-diutive securitios 6,258 7,088 6,260

See Note 6 "Financing Arrangements” for further information on the convertible senior notes and warrants related to the issuance of convertble notes.

We currently have a share repurchase program permitting us to repurchase up fo $125 millon of our commen stock through October 31, 2019 (the "Share Repurchase Program).
Tha amount and timing of the repurchases will be determined by management and will depand on a varisty of factors, including the trading price of our common stock, capacity
under our credit faciity, genaral market and business condifions, and applicable legal requrements. No shares were repurchased under this program in 2018 or 2017. In 2016, we
repurchased and refired 982,192 shares for $55.3 mibon. As of December 31, 2018, $35.1 milfion remains available for share repurchases.
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10. Restructuring Charges
In 2018, we incurred $3.7 millon of pretax restructuring expenss. This expsnse primarity consisted of the folowing charges:

Severance - We incurred $2.1 millon of severanca expense as a resul of workforce reductions to better align resources with markel demand. Of the $2.1 milion, $1.1 milion
related to ouw Heakhcare segment and $1.0 milion related te our Busness Advisory segment.

Office exd costs - We incurred $1.3 milion of office exit costs. Of the $1.3 milion, $0.8 mi¥lon related to the accrual of remaining lease payments, net of estmated sublease income,
accefarated depreciation on leasehokd improvements, and moving expensas due to exting a portion of our Middleton, Wisconsin office; $0.4 milkon related to updated lease
assumptions, commission costs, and moving expenses for our San Francisco office vacated in 2017; and $0.1 mitlion related to updated lease assurmptions for our Chicago office
consoidation.

Other - We incurred $0.3 mion redated 1o the divestiture of cur Middle East practice within the Business Advisory segment i the second quarter of 2018. During the second
quarter of 2018, we sold our Middle East practice to a former amployss who was the practice leader of that business at the time, and we recorded a $5.8 milion loss which is
ncluded in other income (expense), net in our consclidated statements of operations.

Of the $3.7 million pretax restructuring charge, $1.1 millon was ralated to our Healthcare segment, $1.0 milion was related o our Business Advisory segment, and $1.6 milion was
redated to our corporate operations.

In 2017, we incurred $6.2 million of pretax restructuring expense, This expanse primarly congisted of the folowing charges:

Severance - We ncurred $3.7 million of saverance expense as a result of workforce reductions to better align resources with market demand. Of the $3.7 million, $2.1 milion
retated to our Healihcare segment, $1.1 million related to our Business Advisory segment, and $0.4 milion related to our corporate operations,

Office exil costs - Wae incurred $2.4 million of office exit costs primarily refated to the accrual of remaining lease obligations, net of estimated subleasa incoms, due to relocating our
San Francisco office to a smaller space and consoldating our Chicage and New York offices, and accelerated depreciation on leasehold improvements for our San Francisco office.

Of the $6.2 millon pretax restructuring charge, $2.1 milfon was refated to our Heakhcare segment, $1.1 miflon was refated 1o our Business Advisory segment, and $2.9 milion was
retated to our corporate operations,

In 2016, we incurred $9.6 million of pretax restructuring expense. This expense consisted of the folowing charges:

Severanca - We ncurred $7.3 million of severance expanse as a result of worlkdorcs reductions, of which $5.8 milion was refated to our Healthcare sagment and $0.6 millon was
retated to our Business Advisory segment 1o better agn our resources with market demand and $0.9 mion was refated to our corporate infrastructure as a resuk of our Huren
Legal dvestiture.

Offico oxl costs - We incurred $1.5 million of office ext costs primarlly related to our Washington, D.C. spaca that we vacated in 2014. During 2016, we entared Into a sublease
agreement and adjusted our Washington, D.C. lease accrual to reflect the terms specified in the sublease agresmant.

Other - We also incurred $0.8 milion of restructuring expensa related to the wind down of our forsign consulting operations based in the Middle East and other exit costs.

Of the $9.6 milion pretax restructuring chargs, $5.8 milion was related to our Healthcare segment, $3.2 milion was related 1o our corporate operations, and $0.6 milion was
refated to our Business Advisory segment.
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The fable below sats forth the changas in the carrying ameunt of our restructuring charge liabiity by restructuring type for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Office Space
Employes Costs Reductions Other Total
‘Bakance as of Decomber 31, 2016 $ 5182 § 5773 % 24 % 10,979
Additions ™ 3,859 2,426 110 6,395
Payments {7.611) {2,860) 5 {10,466)
Adpstments (17 (973) {78) (1,168)
Nor-cash ilems {46) (119) (61} {226}
Balance as of December 31, 2017 1,267 4,247 — 5514
Additions 2,102 1,002 190 3,294
Payments (2.879) (3,264) (191) (6,354)
Adjustments _ 7 828 - 781
Non-cash items — (325) 1 (324)
‘Bakance as of December 31, 2018 $ 43 § 2468 % - & 2,911

{1)  Additions and adjustmants for the years ended Dacember 31, 2018 and 2017 incude restructuring charge aof $0.4 milion and a gain of $1.0 mi¥on, respeciively, related
to updated lease assumplions for vacated offices spaces directly related to discontnued operations.

As of December 31, 2018, our restructuring charge liabity related to office space reductions of $2.5 million represented the present value of remaning lease payments, nat of
estimated sublease income, primarily for our vacated office spaces in Chicago; Washington, D.C.; Houston; Middleton, Wisconsin; and San Francisco. This restructuring charge
labity is inchwded as a component of accrued axpansas and other current liabities and deferred compensation and other liab lities. All of the $0.4 milion restructuring charge Rabiity

related fo employee costs at December 31, 2018 ks expected lo be paid in 2019. The restructuring charge Babilty refated to employee costs is induded as a component of acorued
payrol and related benefis.

11. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity

On June 22, 2017, we entered into a forward interest rate swap agreement sffective August 31, 2017 and ending August 31, 2022, with a notional amount of $50.0 mikon. We
entered into this derivative instrument to hedge aganst the interest rate risks of our variable-rate borrowings. Under the terms of the interest rate swap agreement, we receive from
the countarparty interest on the notional amount based on one-month LIBOR and we pay to the counterparty a fixed rate of 1.900%.

We recognize all derivative instrumants as either assets or Eabiiies at far value on the balance sheet. We have designated this derivative instrumant as a cash flow hedge.
Therefore, changes in the fair value of the darivative instrument are recorded to other comprehensive incoms {*OCI") to the extent sffective and redassified nlo interes! expense

upon settlemant. As of December 31, 2018, it was anticipated that $0.2 milion of the gains, net of tax, currently recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income wil be
reclassified into eamings within the next 12 months.

The table below sets forth additional infermation relating o cu® interest rate swap designated as a cash flow hedging instrument as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Fair Value (Derivative Asset and Liabillty)

As of December 31,
Balance Sheet Locatlon 2018 2017
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 302 4 —
Othar non-current assets S 451 $ 581
Accrued expensas $ ' - ] 48
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AR of our derivaive nstruments are transacied under the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master agreemsnts. These agreements permit the nst settlement
of amounts owed in the event of default and certain other tarmination avents. Although natting is permitied, it is our policy to record all derivalive assets and Babikties on a gross
basis on our consoldated balance sheat,

We do not use derivative instruments for trading or other speculative purposes. Refer Lo Note 13 "Other Comprehensive Income {Loss)" for additional information on our derivative
nstrumant.

12, Falr Valus of Financial Instruments

Certan of our assets and kabifities are measured at fair value. Far value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or the price that would be paid to fransfer a
fabilty in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy for mputs used in measuring fair value and requires
companies to maximize the use of observable nputs and minimize the use of unobsarvable Inputs. The fair value hierarchy consists of three levels based on the objectvity of the
nputs as folows:

Level 1 Inputs Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or kabiities that the reporting entity has the abfity to access at the measurement dale.

Leval 2 Inputs Quoted prices in active markets for simiar assets or kabifties; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or Rabidties in markels that are not active;
mputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or [iability; or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable
market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 Inputs Unobsarvable inputs for the asset or Rabiity. and induds situations in which there s litthe, if any, market activity for the asset or liabifty.

The table below sets forth our fair value hierarchy for our financial assets and liabikties measured at farr value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Decamber 31, 2018
Assets:
Interest rate swaps $ - s 753§ - 753
Convertble debt nvestment - — 50,429 50,429
Deferred compensation assals - 18,205 — 18,205
Total assets $ —  § 18,958 § 50,429 3 69,387
Liabllities:
Contingent consideration for business acquistions $ - & - $ 11441 § 11,441
Total Rabilties $ —  § — % 11 % 11,441
December 31, 2017
Ansets;
Interast rate swap $ - 5 533 % — 8 533
Promissory nole — - 1,078 1,078
Convertible debt investment — - 39,904 39,904
Deferred compensation assets — 17,786 — 17,786
Total assels 3 - % 18319 % 40982 ¢ 59,301
Liabllitles;
Contirgent considaration for business acquisitions 5 - 3 - 3 22828 § 22,828
Total kabiities 3 - % - 22828 § 22,828

Interest rate swap: The fafr value of our nterasl rate swap was derived using estimates to seltle the interest rate swap agreemant, which is basad on the net present valus of
expected future cash flows on each kg of the swap utizing markat-based inpits and discount ratss reflecting the risks involved.
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Promissory note; As part of the consideration received jor the sale of cur Accounting Advisory practios on December 30, 2011, we recelved a promissory note with an ntial principal
amount of $3.5 milion payable over four years. During the fourth quarter of 2017, we amended and restated the note which established scheduled annual principal payments,
ncreased the interest rate, reduced the outstanding principal amount by $0.5 milion, and extended the maturity date to September 30, 2020. As of December 31, 2017, the
outstanding principal balance was $1.0 milion, During the first six months of 2018, we received payments for all of the outstanding principal balance and all accrued interast, Prior fo
thae final payment, the fair value of the note was based on the net presant valse of the projacted cash flows using a discount rata of 10%, which accounted for lhe risks associaled
with the amended note. This far vakie measurement was basad on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represent Level 3 inputs.

The table below sets farth the changes in the balance of the promissory note for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,

Promissory Note
‘Balance as of December 31, 2018 ' $ 2325
Interest paymanits received {185}
Princpal payments recalved _ (1.177)
Change in fair value of promissory note 115
‘Balance as of December 31, 2017 1,078
Interest payments received {81)
4Pr|ndpal payments received (1.040)
Change in fai value of promissory note 43

Balance as of Decamber 31, 2018 H] —

Convertibie debt investment: In 2014 and 2015, we invested $27.9 million, in the form of zero coupon convertible debt, in Shorelight Holdings, LLC (“Shorelight™), the parent
company of Shorelight Education, a U.S.-based company that pariners wih leading nonprofit universities to increase access to and retention of international students, boost
institutional growth, and enhance an institution's global footprint. The notes will malure on July 1, 2020, unless converied earlier,

To determine the appropriate accounting treatment for our investment, we performed a variable interest enlity ("VIE") analysis and conduded that Shorelght does not meet the
definition of a VIE. We also reviewed the characteristics of our investment to confirm that the convertible notes are not in-substance common stock that would warrant equity
method accounting. After we reviewed all of the terms of the nvestment, we conduded the appropriate accounting freatment to be that of an avaiable-for-sale debt security,

The nvestment is carriad at fair value with unrealizad holding gains and lossas exduded from earnings and reported in other comprehensive income. We astimatad the far valus of
our investment using a Monte Carlo simulation modsl, cash flow projections discounted at a risk-adjusted rate, and certain assumptions related to equity volatifty and appicable
holding pariod, all of which are Lavel 3 inputs. The use of allernative estimates and assumptions could inrease or decrease the astimatsd fair value of the invesiment, which would
rasult in different impacts to our consofidated balkance sheet and comprehensive incoms. Actual rasulks may differ from our sstimates. The fair value of the convertible debt
Ivestment is recorded in bong-term investment on our consoidated balance sheets.

The table below sets ferth the changes in the balance of the convertible debt investment for the years endad December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Convertible Dabt Investment

.Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 34675
Change in fair valus of convertible debt investment 5.229
Balance as of December 31, 2017 ' 33,904
Change in fair value of convertible dabt investment _ ' 10,525
Balance as of Decamber 31, 2018 5 50429

Deferred compansation assets: We have a non-quakfied deferred compensation plan (the "Plan™) for the members of our board of direciors and a select group of our employees.
The deferred compensation liability is furded by the Plan assets, which consist of ifle insurance pofides maintained within a trust. The cash surrender value of the life insurance
policias approximates fair value and is based on third-party broker statements which provide the fair value of the Fe nsurance policies’ undartying investments, which are Level 2
inpuls. The cash surrender value of the ife insurance pokcies is nvested primarily In mutual furds. The Plan assets are included in olher non-current assets on our
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conscidated batance sheets. Realized and unrealized geins {lossas) from the deferrad compansation assets are recorded to other Income (expense}, net in our consolidated
statements of operations.

Contingent consiferation for busiess acquisiions: Wa estimate the fair value of acquisition-related contingent conskleration using either a probabifity-welghted assessment of the
spedlic fnandial performance targsts being measured or a Monte Carle simulation model, as appropriate, Thesa fair value measurements aré based on significant inputs not
observable in the market and thus represent Leval 3 inputs. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair vakie measuremants of aur contingent consideration are our
measures of the estimated payouts based on internally generated financial projecticns on a probabiity-weighted bask and discount rates, which typlcaly reflect a risk-free rate. The
farr value of the contingent consideration is reassessed quarterly based on assumptions used in our latest projections and input provided by practice leaders and management. Any
change 1 the far value estimate is recorded in our consolidated statement of operations for that pericd. The use of akernative estimates and assumptions could ncrease or
decrease the estimated falr value of our contingent consideration iabiity, which would result in different impadts to our consolidated balance sheels and consoldated statements of
operations. Actual results may differ from our estimates, Refer to Note 3 "Acquisitions” for information on the acquisitions completed in 2017 and 2016,

The table below sets forth the changes in the balance of the contingent consideration for business acquisiions for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,

Contingent Consideratlon for Buslness

Acquisitions
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 8.827
Acquisitions 15.48¢
Paymants {2,938}
Remeasurement of contingent consideration for business acguisitions 1.1
Unreafized loss due to foreign currency translation 338
Balance as of December 31, 2017 22.828
Acquisttions 212
Payments (11,974)
Remeasurement of contingent consideration for busingss acquisitions 381
Unrealized gain due to foreign currency transtation (6)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 11.441

Financial assets and labifties not recorded at fair value are as follows:
Senilor Secured Credit Facllity

The carmying value of our borrowings outstanding under our senior secured credit fadiity is stated at cost. Qur carrying value approximates fair value, using Level 2 inputs, as the
senior secured credit faclity bears interest at varlable rates based on current market rates as set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement. Refer to Note & “Financing
Arrangements® for additional information on our senior secured credit facility.

Promissory Note due 2024

The carrying value of cur promissory note due 2024 is stated at cost. Our carrying value approximates fair value, usng Level 2 inputs, as the promissory note bears interest at rates
based on current market rates as set forth in the terms of the promissory note. Refer to Note 6 *Financing Arrangements” for additienal information on our promissory note due
2024,

Convertlble Notes

Tha carrying amount and estimated far valus of the Convertible Notes are as folows:

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Camrying Estimated Canying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
1.25% convertible senior notes due 2019 $ 242617 § 242940 § 233140 5 232,578
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The differences between the $250 milion principal amount of the Convertiblo Notes and the carrying amounts shown above represent the unamortized debt discount and issuance
costs. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the carrying value of the equity componenl of $39.3 milion was unchanged from the dale of issuance. Refer to Nole 6 “Financing
Arrangements” for additional nformation on our Convertible Notes. The estimated fair value of the Convertible Notes was determined based on the quoted bid price of the
Convertible Notes in an over-the-counter market, which is a Leval 2 input. on the last day of trading for the years ended December 31. 2018 and 2017,

Based on the closing price of our common stock of $51.31 on December 31, 2018, the if-converted valus of the Convertible Notes was less than the prindpal amount.

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair markst value. The carrying values of al cther financial nstruments not descrbed above reasonably
approximate fair market value due to the nature of the financial instruments and the short-term maturity of these tems.

13, Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Tha table below sets forth the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016.

Forelgn Avallable-for-
Cumrency Sale Cash Flow
Translation Investments Hedges M Total

Balance as of Dacember 31, 2015 $ (517§ 4185 § 83 § 3585
Foreign currency franslation adjustment, net of tax of $0 64 - - 64
Unrealized loss on investments, net of tax of $59 — (97 — (97)
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges:

Changa in fair value, net of lax of $122 _ — — {179} (179)

Redassification adjustment into earnings, net of tax of ${161) - - 242 242
‘Balance as of December 31, 2016 {453) 4,088 (20 3615
Foreign currency fransiation adjustment, nat of tax of $0 1,602 - — 1,602
Unrealzed galn on Invesiments:

Change in far vakie, net of tax of $(938) — 4,231 — 4231

Redassification adiustment into retained eamings ® - 493 — 493
Unrealized gain {kess} on cash flow hedges:

Changs In falr value, net of tax of ${106) — - 366 366

Redlassfication adjustment into earnings. net of tax of ${46) — — 69 69

Reclassification adjustment into retained earnings @ - - (8) {6)
Balance as of Dacember 31, 2017 1,149 8,812 409 10,370
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax of $0 {1.814) — — (1.814)
Unrealized gain on investmants:

Change in fair value, net of tax of ${2.753} - 1772 — 1772
Unrealized gain {loss) on cash flow hedges:

Change in far value, net of tax of ${63} — - 197 197

Redlassification adustment into earnings, net of tax of §{10} — — {30) (30
'Balance as of Decamber 31, 2018 $ (665} & 16584 § 576 % 16,495

(1) The before tax amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (koss) related to our cash flow hedges are recorded to interest expense, net of
interest income.

{2) Upon adoption of ASU 2018-02, Income Statemant - Raporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other
Comprehsensive Income, we reclassified $0.5 million of stranded tax effects, which resulted from the enactment of the 2017 Tax Reform, from accumulated other
comprehensive mcome to retainad earnings.
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14. Employee Beneflt and Deferred Compansation Plans

We sponsar & qualified defined contribution 401k} plan covering substantialy al of our employess. Under the plan, employess are entliled to make pretax contributions andfor Reth
post-tax contributions up to the annual maximums established by the Infernal Revenue Service. We match an amoun! equal to the employees' contributions up to 6% of the
employees' salaries. Our matching contributions, induding thosa related to our discontinued operations, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 were $20.8
milion, $20.0 million, and §15.4 milion, respectively.

Wa have a non-qualified deferred compensation plan {the “Plan”) that is administered by our board of directors or a committee dasignated by the board of drectors. Under the
Plan, members of the board of directors and a select group of our employeas may elect to defer the recalpt of their director retaners and meeting fees or base salary and bonus,
as appicable. Additionally, we may credit amounts to & partidpant's deferred compensation account in accordance with employment or other agreemenis entered into between us
and the participant. At our sole discretion, we may, but are not required to, credit any additional amount we deskre to any particibant's deferred compensation account. Amounts
credited are subject to vesting schedules set forth n the Plan, employment agreement, or any other agreement entered Into between us and the partiipant. The deferred
compensation liability at December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $18.4 milkon and $17.7 millon, respectively. This deferred compensation Kabiity i funded by the Plan assets.

15. Equity Incentive Plans

In 2012, Huron adopted the 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the *2012 Flan”), n order to nerease the number of shares of common stock avaiable as equity compensation to
employees, non-amployse directors, and independent contractors, and to make certain updates ie reflect changes in market practices. The 2012 Plan replaced, on & prospeclive
basis, our 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan (the "2004 Plan™) such that fuiure grants wil be granted under the 2012 Plan and any cutstanding awards granted under the 2004 Plan that
are canceled, expired, forfeited, settled in cash, or otherwise terminated without a delivery of shares to the participant will not become available for grant under the 2012 Plan. The
2(12 Plan permits the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricled slock, performance shares and gther share-basad or cash-based awards valued In whole or in part
by reference to, or otherwise based on, our commaon stock. The 2012 Plan was amended on May 2, 2014 fo increase the number of shares authorized for issuance by 850,000
shares. On May 5, 2017, an amendment and restatement of the 2012 Plan was approved by shareholders lo Increase the number of shares authorlzed for tssuance by 804,000
shares. As of Decembar 31, 2018, approximately 0.8 mikion shares remain available for issuance under the 2012 Plan.

On May 1, 2015, we adopted the Stock Ownership Participation Program (the "SOPP”), which is avaiiable to Huron employess below the managing direclor level who do not
receive equity-based awards as part of their normal compensation plan. Under the SOPP, eligble employees may elect to use after-tax payrol deductions, or cash contributions, fo
purchase shares of the Company's commen stock on certain designated purchase dates, Employess who purchase stock under the SOPP are granted restricted stock equal to
25% of their purchased shares. Vesting of the restricted steck is subject to both a ime-based vesting schedule and a requirement that the purchased shares be held for a specfied
holding period. The initial number of shares avaiable for issuance under the SOPP was 300,000. Prior to adopting the SOPP, the matching share grants and the employee
purchased shares under the stock ownership participation program were govermed by the 2012 Plan. As of Dacember 31, 2018, approximatety 6.1 millon shares remain avaiable
for issuance under the SOPP.

It has been our practice to issus shares of common stock upon exercise of stock options and granting of restricted stock from authortzed but unlssued shares, with the exception of
ihe SOPP under which shares are tssued from treasury stock. Certain grants of restricted stock under the 2012 Plan may be issued from treasury stock al the direclion of the
Compensation Commitiee.

The Compensatien Committes of the board of directors has the responstbilty of inferpreting the 2012 Plan and SOPP and determining all of the terms and condibions of awards
made under the plans, ncuding when the awards wil becoms exercisable or otherwise vest. In 2013, the Compensation Committee amended certaln share-based awards
outstanding under our 2012 Plan and our 2004 Plan to provide for a retirement eligiiity provision, Under this provision, eligible employeas who have reached 62 ysars of age and
have completed seven years of smployment with Huron will continue vesting in their share-hased awards after retirement, subjedt to certain conditions. This retrement eligibty
provision wil akso apply to future awards granted to efigible employees under the 2012 Plan.

Total share-based compensation cost recognlzed for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $18.8 milion, $14.8 milion, and $16.6 milion, respectively, with
refated income tax benefils of $4.6 million, $5.8 miBon, and $6.4 millon, raspectively, As of December 31, 2018, there was $23.0 milion of total unrecognized compensation cost
related lo nonvested share-based awards. This cost is expecied to be recognized over a welghted average period of 2.3 years,
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Restricted Stock Awards

The grant date far values of our restricted stock awards are measured based on the fair vahkse of our common stock at grant date and amoriized Into expense over the service
period. Subject to acceleration under cartain conditions, the majerity of our restricted stock vests annually over four years.

The table below summarizes the restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Number of Shares Weighted

Average

Grant Date

2012 Omnlbus Stock Ownership Fair Yalue

Incentive Plan Participation Program Total (in dollars)
Nonvested restricted stock at December 31.2017_ B I 13 ‘ 574 $ 51.97
lGranted -~ ) B a6 . 12 _ 478§ 38.45
Vested _ B . B {239y {12} (243) 5 54.67
Forfeited - - . b (49) 2) (51) '$ 44,68
Nonvested restricted stock at December 31, 2018 747 1 788 43.08

The aggregale far value of restricted stock that vested during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $9.1 milion, $11.1 mlion, and $14.9 milion, respectively.
The waeighted average grant date fair valua per share of restricted stock granted during 2047 and 2016 was $42.11 and $53.28, respectively.

Performance-based Share Awards

During 2018, 2017, and 2016, the Company granted performance-based share awards to our named executive officers and certaln managing directors. The total number of
shares earned by recipients of these awards is contingent upon mesting practice spacific and Gempany-wide performance goals. Folowing the performance period, the awards are
subject to the completion of a service period, which is generally an addiional one to three years. The earned awards vest on a graded vesting schedue over the service period. For
cartain parformance awards, the recipients may earn additional shares of slock for performance achieved above the stated arget. The grant date fair velues of our performance-
based share awards are measured based on the fair value of our commaon stock at grant date, Compaensation cost is amorizad infe expense over the service peried, including the
performance period.

The table below summarizes the performance-based stock activity for the vear ended December 31, 2018. Al nonvested performance-based stock outstanding at December 31,
2017 and 2018 was granted under the 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan,

Welghted
Average
Grant Date
Number of Fair Value
‘ Shares (in dollars)
iNonvasted performance-based stock at December 31, 2017_ ‘ S _ e « 353§ ' 44 45
Granted 379 % 35.25
Vested , o R : ' _ 43§ 53.39
Forfeied @ (253) & 42.33
Nonvested parformance-based stock at December 31, 2018 ® o . * . S, 43§ 36.81
(1) Shares granted in 2018 are presented at the stated target, which represents the base number of shares that could be earned. Actual shares earned may be helow or,
for certain grants, above the targst based on the achisvement of spedfic financial goals.

(2) Forfeted shares indude shares forfeitad as a resutt of not meeting the performance criteria of the award as waell as shares forfeited upon termination.
(3} Of the 436,000 nonvested parformance-based shares outstanding as of December 31, 2018, approximately 394,405 shares were unearmed and subject to

achievemant of specific fimancial goals. Once samad, the awards will be subject to time-based vesting according to the terms of the award. Based on 2018 financal
resulls, approximalely 127,664 of the 394,405 unearned shares wil be forfeitad in the first quarter of 2019.
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The aggregate far value of performance-based stock that vested during the ysars ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $1.5 milion, $3.6 milion, and $3.0 mdllon,
respectively. The weighted avarage grant date far value per share of performance-based stock granted during 2017 and 2016 was 542.75 and $55.52, respectively.

Stock Optlons

Prior 1o 2014, the Company granted stock option awards to certain named executive officers. No stock option awards ware granted in 2018, 2017, or 2016. The exercise prices of
stock oplions are equal to the fair value of a share of common stock on the date of grant. Subject to acceleration under certain conditions, our stock options vest annually over four
yaars. All stock opbions have a 10-year contractual tarm,

Stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 was as folows:

Welghted
Welghted Average
Number Average Remalining Aggregate
of Exercise Contractual Intrinslc
Options Price Term Value
) o _ {in thousands) (In dollars} {In years) {In millions)
‘Outstanding at December 31,2017 - " - I 29.06 . 338 22
Grantad _ —_ o 7 ) B
‘Exercised ) ) _ 44§ 2343 S $ . us
Forfeited or expired — o
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 154§ 30.52 : L 258 3.2
Exercisable at December 31, 2018 154 8 90.52 25§ 32
{1} Of the 154,000 outstanding options, approximately 117,000 were granted under the 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan, and the remaining 37,000 options were granted under

the 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Tha aggregate intrinsic value of oplions exardsed during 2018 was $0.8 million. No options were exercised in 2017. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during 2016
was 0.1 mdlon.

16. Incoms Taxes

On Decamber 22, 2017, the President of the Unitad States signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs At (*2017 Tax Reform”), a tax reform bil which, among other items, reduced the
corporale federal income tax rate from 35% 1o 21% and moved from a workdwide tax system fo a termitorial system. As a result of the enactment of this legislation during the fourth
quarter of 2017, we estimated the remeasurement of our net deferred taxes based on the new lower tax rate, as well as prowided for additional one-time income tax expense
estimates primardy related to ths fransition tax on accumulated foreign samings and eimination of foreign tax credits for dividends that are subject to the 100 percent exemption in
our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, In 2017 and the first nine months of 2018, we recorded provisional amounts for certain
enactment-date effects of 2017 Tax Reform by applying the guidancs in Staff Accounting Buletin (*SAB") No. 118 because we had not yet completed our enactment-date
accounting for these affects.

Wa have now completed our accounting for all of the enaciment-date income tax effects of 2017 Tax Reform. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded tax expense of
$2.2 milion related to estabishing a valuation akowance for foreign tax credits, a tax benafit of $0.6 milion related to the U.S. federal raturn to provision adjustments for the
remeasurement of our net deferred taxes basad on the new kower rate and tax expense of 502 million related to withhelding tax on outside bask differences due to our change in
assertion for permanent reinvestment. These amounts are recorded as a component of income tax expense from continuing operations.

2017 Tax Reform subjects a US shareholder to tax on Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (GILTI} earned by certain foreign subsidiaries. The FASB Staff Q&A. Topic 740, No. 5,
Accounting for Global infangible Low-Taxed Incoms, states that an entity can make an accounting policy election to aither recognize deferred taxes for temporary basis diffarances
expacied to reverse as GILT! in future years or lo provide for the tax expense refated to GILTI in the year the tax is incurred. We have elected to recognize the taxen GlLTl as a
period expense in the period the tax is incurred.
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The income tax expense for continuing operations for the yaars endad December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Current:
Federal {1611) % (635) 3 15,726
State 286 545 1,623
Foreign 1,885 2,040 1,021
Total current 560 1,950 18,370
Deferred:
Foderal 9,742 {46,103} 1,662
State 2,008 (6,576 {274)
Foreign {1.033) (1,270} (81)
Total deferred 10,717 (53.949) 1,307
Income tax expensa for continuing operations 11,277 § {51,999, § 19,677
The components of income from continuing operations befora taxes were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
u.s. 17025 % (221.137) § 56,141
Foreign 8,196 {1,367) 3.016
Total 25221 % (222.504) 3 59,157
A reconciiation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to our effective tax rate for continuing operations is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
Percent of pretax ncome from continuing oparations:
AtU.S. statutory tax rate 210 % B0 % 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 12 27 1.7
Valuation allowance 6.9 (0.2 (3.2)
Stock-based compensation 49 (0.8} —
Disabowed executive compensation 25 — —
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liabilties 24 - -
Global intangible low-taxed income 21 - —
Meals and entertainment 2.0 {0.3) 1.1
Reaized investment {gains) losses 1.3 0.4 —
Transttion tax on accumulated foreign earnings, net of credits 0.8 (0.3) —
U.S. federal rate change {2.3) {3.4) -
Foreign source income (1.7 0.1 (0.5)
Tax credits {1.4) 0.2 (0.8)
Net tax benefit related to *check-the-box" elaction - 1.2 —
Goodwil mparment charges - (10.2) —
Other (1.0) (1.8 —
Effective Income 1ax rate for continuing operations 447 % 234 % 33.3%

The effective tax rate for discontinued operations in 2018 was 26.7%, based on tax benefit of $0.1 milion and pretax loss from discontinued operations of $0.4 milion, and was
higher than the statutory tax rate primarily due to state ntome taxes. The effective tax rate for discontinued operations in 2017 was 60.0%, based on fax expense of $0.6 milion
and a pretax income from discontinued operations of $1.0 mikon, and was higher than the statutory tax rate primarily dus to the settement of foreign tax audss. The effactive tax

rate for discontinued
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operations in 2016 was (33.4)%, basaed on tax bansfits of $0.9 milion and a pretax loss from discontinued operations of $2.8 milion, and was lower than the statutory tax rate
primariy dee 1o an increase in the valuation alowance for foreign tax credits.

The net deferred tax iabiities for continuing operations at December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following:

As of December 31,
2018 2017
Deferred tax assels:
Accrued payrol and other labiifies $ 6737 % 7.010
Share-based compensation 6,150 5674
Deferred kase ncentives 4100 4352
Tax credis 3,548 1918
Net operating loss carry-forwards 2,247 485
Restructuring charge Eablty 639 1104
Ravenus racognition &0 1,586
Intangibles and goodwil — 2,137
Other 1406 1,132
Total deferred tax assets 24 887 25,408
Valuation alowancs (3,143) (1.247}
Net deferred tax assets 21,744 24,161
Deferred fax liabties:
Intangbles and goodwil {6,665) —
Convertible debt investment (5.934) (3.110)
Property and equipment {3.604) (4,031)
Prepaid expenses (1,794) (1.229)
Software devalopment costs (1,655) (38)
Other (671) {98)
Total defarred tax liabiities (20,323) (8,506)
Net deferred tax asset for continuing operations $ 1421 % 15,655

As of Decembar 31, 2018 and 2017, we had valiation allowances of $3.1 millon and $1.2 miion, respectively, primariy due to uncertainties relating to the abifity to utiize deferrad
tax assets recorded for foreign losses and tax credits. The increase in valuation akowances in 2018 primarily related to an increase in the valuation allowancs for foreign fax credits.

The Company has foreign and federal net operating losses of $1.3 million and $7.4 milion, respectively, which carryforward indefinitely, and state net operating loss carryforwards
of $8.4 milion which wil begin 1o expire in 2022, 4 not utiized. The Company also has federal and state tax credit carryforwards of $3.5 millon which will begin to expire n 2019, if
not utiized.

We recognize the tax benefit from an uncartain tax position only f it is more likely than not that the tax positon wil be sustained on examination by the laxing authorilles, based on
the lechnical marits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a postion are measured based on the larges! benefit thal has a greater than
fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimale resokation.
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A reconcliation of our beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Unrecognized Tax Beneflts
:Balance at January 1, 2016 . $ 3.223
Additions based on ax positions related to the current year 17
Balance st Decamber 31, 2016 - ‘. 3,340
Decrease due to lapss of statute of imitations (2.410)
: Decrease based on tax positions related to prior years ' (117}
Balance at December 31, 2017 813
Addiions based on tax positions related to prior years 115
Decrease due to lapse of statute of imitations {28)
‘Balance at Decomber 31, 2018 3 %00

As of December 31, 2018, we had $0.9 milion of unrecognized tax benefits which would affect the effective tax rate of contiruing operatiens if recognized. i is reasonably possible
that approximately $0.8 milion of the fability for unrecognized tax bensfits at December 31, 2018 could decrease in the next twelve months primarily due o the expralion of stalules
of Imitations.

As of both December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had $0.1 milion accrued for the potential payment of interest and penaltias. Accrued interest and penallies are recorded as a
component of provision for Income 1axes on cur consoldated statement of sarnings.

We fie income tax returns with federal, state, local and foreign purisdictions. Tax years 2015 through 2017 are subject o future examinations by federal tax authorities. Tax years
2011 through 2017 are subect to fulure examinations by state and local tax autherities. The Company is currently under auch by the states of New York and New Jersey. Our
foreign income 1ax filings are subject to future examinations by the local foreign tax authorities for tax years 2011 through 2017.

17. Commitments, Gontingencies and Guarantess
Lease Commitments

We lease office space under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements expiring on varicus dates through 2028, with var ous renewal options. Our principal exscutive offices
located in Chicago, [linois are under a lease expring in Septembar 2024, We have a five-year renewal option that will alow us to continus to occupy this office space untl
September 2029. Office fadiities under operating leases ncude fixed or minimum payments plus, in some cases, scheduled 2asa rent increases over the term of the kease. Certain
kases require monthly payments of real estate taxes, insurance and other aperating expenses appiicabla to the property. Scme of the leases contain previsions whereby the future
rental payments may be adjusted for increases in operating expenses above the spedfied amount. Rent expense, nduding operating cosls and laxes, for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017, and 20116 was $15.1 milion, $14.3 millien, and $11.5 millon, respectively.

Future minimum rentat commitments under non-cancetable leases and sublease income as of December 31, 2018, are as fclows:

Operating
Lease Sublease

Obligations Income
2019 $ 1371 % 1,922
2020 12,724 1,407
2021 ' 11,590 _ 1,203
2022 10,766 1,156
2023 10,707 1,202
Thereafter 27033 3338
Total $ 86521 § 10,228

F-38




HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts In thousands, except per share amounts)

Litigation

During the second quarter of 2018, we reached a settlement agreement related to Huron's daim In a dass action lawsult, resuling in a gain of $2.5 million, which & recorded in
other losses (gains), net on our consolidated statement of operations. We collected the $2.5 millon cash setdement durlng the second quarter of 2018.

From time to time, we are nvolved In legal procesdings and Rigation arising in the ordinary course of business. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not a
party to any itigation or legal proceeding that, n the current apinion of managemenl, could have a material adverse affect on our financial position or results of operations.
Howsver, due to the risks and uncertainties nherent in legal procesdings, actual results could differ from current expected results.

Guarantees

Guarantees in the form of letters of credit totaling $1.6 miion and $1.9 million were outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, primarily o support ¢ertain offce
lease obgations.

In connection with certain business acquisiions, we may be required to pay post-closing consideration to the selere if spedific finandial performance targets are met over a number
of years as spacified in the related purchase agreements. As of Dacamber 31, 2018 and 2017, the total estimated fair value of aur contingent consideration iabiities was $11.4
milion and $22.8 million, respectively.

To the exient permitted by law, our bylaws and articlas of incorporation require that we indemnify our officers and directors agalnst jdgments, fines and amounts pald in settlement,
ncluding attorneys’ fees, neurred in connection with oi or eriminal action or proceedings, as i relates to ther services to us f such person acted in good faith. Although there is no
imit on the amount of Indemnification, we may have recourse aganst our insurance carier for certain paymants made.

18. Segment Information

Segments are defined as components of a company that engage in business acthities from which they may earn revenues and incur expensas, and for which separate financiad
nformation is available and & evaluated regularly by the chief oparating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance. Qur chief operating decision maker, who is our chief exscutive officer, manages the business under three operating segments, which are our reporiable sagments:
Heatthcare, Business Advisory, and Education.

*  Healthcare

Qur Heafthcare segment has a depth of expertise in care fransformation, financial and operational excellence, technology and analytics, and leadership development. We
serve national and regional hospilals and nitegrated health systems, academic medical centers, communtty hospitaks, and medical groups. Our soluticns help dients evolve
and adapt ta the rapidly changing healthcare environment and achieve growth, opfimize performancs, enhance proftabiity, improve quality and chnical cutcomes, align
leadsrs, improve organizational culture, and drive physician, patient, and employee engagement across the enterprise to deliver better consumer outcomas,

We help organizations transform and innovate the delivery modal to focus on patient welness by improving quality outcomes, minimizing care variation and fundamentally
improving patlent and population health. Qur consultants partner with cllents to help buld and sustain today's business to Invest in the future by reducing compleaty,
improving operational effidency and growing market share. We enable the healthcare of the future by identifying, integrating and optimizing tachnology investments to
cofect data that transforms care delivery and improves patient outcomes. We also develop future leaders capable of driving meaningful operational and organizational
change and wha transform the consumer exparience.

+  Business Advlsory

Qur Business Advisory segment provides services to large and mkddie market, not-for-profit organizations, lending mstituions, law firms, investment banks, and private
equity frms. We assist dients in a broad range of industries and across the spectrum frem healthy, well-capitaized companies to organizations in transition as well as
craditors, equity owners, and other key constituents. Our Business Advisory professsionals resole complex business issues and enhance dient enterprise value through a
suite of services including capital advisory, transaction advisory, operational improvement, restructuring and tumaround, valuation, and dispute advisory. Our Enterprise
Solutions and Analytics professionals deliver technology and analytic solutions that enable organzations to manage and optimlze thelr financial performance, operational
efficiency, and ckent or stakeholder experience. Our Strategy and Innovation professionals colaborate with clients across a range of industries to identify new growth
opporiunitias,

F-40




T i nt
HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

buid naw ventures and capabiities, and accelerate organtzational change. Our Life Saences professionals provide strategic solutions 1o help pharmaceutical, medical
device, and biotechnology companies defiver more value to patients, payers, and providers, and comply with regulations.

»  Education

Our Education segmant provides consulting and technology soltions to higher education institutions and academic medical centers. We pariner with clients to address
chalenges relating to business and technology strategy, financial management, operational and organtzational effectiveness, research adminisiration, and regulatory
complianca. Our institutional strategy, market research, budgeting and finandal management, bushess operations and student Kfe cycle management sclutions align
misslons with business priorities, Improve qualty and reduce costs instiution-wide. Our student solutions improve attraction, retention and graduation rates, ncrease
student satisfaction and help generate quality outcomes. Our techrology strategy, enterprise applications, and analylic solulions fransform and eplimize operalions, defiver
fime and cost savings, and enhance the student experianca. Our research enterprise solutions assist cients in identifying and implementing institutional research strategy.
optimizing cinical research oparations, improving financial management and cost reimbursament, inproving service to faculty, and mitigating risk compliance.

Segment operating income consists of the revenues generated by a segment, less the direct costs of revenue and seling, general and administrative expenses that are incurred
directy by the segment. Unallocated corporate costs inchide costs related to administrative functions that are perfermed i a centralzed manner that are not attributable to a
particular segmeant, Thass administrative function costs induds costs for corporate office support, office facility costs, costs relating to accounting and finance, human resourcas,
legal, marketing, information tachnokogy, and company-wide business development functions, as well as costs related to overal corporate management.
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Tha tables below set forth information about our operating segments for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, along with the kems nacessary to reconcia the
segment information to the totals reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. We do not present financial information by geographic area because our
international aperations are mmaterial.

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Hsalthcare:
Revenuss $ 364763 % 356,909 § 424912
Operating income 3 108080 § 118761  § 147,903
Segment oparating income as a percentage of segment revenues 20.6% 33.3% 1.8%
Business Advisory:
Revenues $ 236185 % 207753 § 151,543
Cperating income $ 50625 8 46600 § 29,382
Segment operating income as a percentage of segment revenuas 21.4% 22.4% 19.4%
Education:
Revenuss $ 194177 § 167,908 § 149,817
Operating income $ 48243 % 40,318 § 38,310
Segment operating income as a percentage of segment ravenues 24.8% 24.0% 25.6%
Total Company:
Revenues $ 795,125 § 732570 % 726,272
'Reimbursable expenses 82,874 75175 FA WAV
Total revenues and reimbursable expenses ' $ 877999 § 807745 % 797,984
Segment operating income $ 206,928 § 205679 % 215,585
Items not alocated at the segment level;
Other operating axpanses 122,276 120,718 111,852
Other losses {gains), net {2.019) 1,111 {1,950)
Depraciation and amortization 34 575 38,213 31,499
Goodwl imparment charges ™ - 253,093 -
Other expense, net 26,875 15,048 15,077
Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes $ 25221 § (222504) § 59,157

{f) The goodwi mpairment charges are not alocated at the segment level betause the underfying goodwl asset s reflective of our corporate investment in the segrments.
We do nol nclude ths mpact of goodwil impairment charges in our evaluation of segment performance.

As of Decomber 31,
Segment Assats: 2018 2017 2016
Heakthcare $ 65133 § 70,037 § 69,274
Business Advisory 58,017 58,217 43,151
Education 26,990 31,367 33,034
Unallocated assets ! 898,392 877247 1,007.695
Total assats $ 1048532 § 1,036.928 § 1,153,214

{1) Unabocated assets include goodwil and intangible assets and cur convertible debt investment, as management does not evaluate these items at the segment level when
assassing segment performance or alocating resources. Refer to Note 4 “Goodwill and intangible Assets” and Note 12 "Far Value of Financial Instruments” for further
mformation on these assets.
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The followlng table ilustrates the disaggregation of revenues by billing arrangements, employes types, and iming of revenue recognition, nduding a reconcliation of the
disaggregated revenues to revenues from our three pperating segments for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018.

Year Ended December 31, 2018

Business
Healthcare Advisory Education Total
Biting Arrengements
Fixed-fee $ 239263 § 93119 ¢ Josee  § 376.968
Time and expense 58,377 128,563 140,824 327,764
Performance-based 42,684 5405 — 48,089
Software suppori, maintenance and subscriptions 24439 4078 13,767 42,284
Total $ 64,763 § 236,185 & 184177 § 795,125
Employes Type ™
Ravenue ganeralted by fulk-time bilable consultants $ 247416 § 225335 & 1704% § 643,247
Revenue generated by ful-time equivalents 117,347 10,850 23.681 151,878
Total $ 364763 § 236,185 § 194177 § 795,125
“Timing of Revenue Reéognmion .
Revenue recognized over time $ 356,826 § 236,185 § 190,526 § 783,537
Revenue recognized at a point in time 7937 — 3,651 11,598
Total $ 4763 % 236,185 % 194177 % 795,125
{1) Ful-time bflable consultanis consist of our ful-time professionals who provide consulting servicas to our cients and are billable to our clents based on the number of

hours worked. Full-time equivalent professionals consist of our leadership coaches and ther support staff within our Studer Group solution, consuliants who work variable
schedules as needed by our chents and fulkime employees who provide software support and mamtenance services to our dlients,

For the yaars ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, substantialy all of our revenues and long-lved assels were attributed to or located m the United States,

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, no single client accounted for greater than 10% of our combined receivables and unbiled services balances. Durng the years ended
Dacamber 31, 2018, 2017, and 2018, no single dient generated greater than 10% of our consolidated revenues.

19. Yaluation and Quallfylng Accounts

The lable below sels forth the changes in the carrying amount of our alowarkes for doublful accounts and unbiled services and valation allowance for deferred tax assets for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016.

Beglnning Ending
balance Additions ™ Deductions balance
Year ended December 31, 2016:
Allowances for doubtul accounts and unblled sarvices $ 16,886 48,901 4528 3 21,259
Valation alowance for deferred tax assets $ 2,242 113 1729 % 626
Year ended December 31, 2017:
Allowances for doubtiul accounts and unbilled services $ 21,258 43,888 40648 § 24 499
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets $ 626 793 712§ 1,247
Year endsd December 31, 2018:
Aliowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services $ 24 489 49,300 51,648 § 22.241
Valuation aklowance for deferrad tax assets $ 1.247 2,314 418 § 3,143
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(1} Additions lo abowances for doubtful accounts and unbillad services are charged fo revenuas to the extent the provision relates to fee adjustments and other
discrelionary pricng adustments. To the extent the provision relates to a dient’s inability to make required payments on accounts recatvables, the provision is charged
to operating expenses. Addiions ako include alowances acqured in business acquisitions, which were not material in any period presented.

20. Selacted Quarterly Financlal Data {Unaudited)

Quarter Ended

2018 Mar, 31 Jun, 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31
Revenues $ 193,679 197544 & 188,448 205454
Reimbursable expenses 17,619 20,733 21,296 23,226
Total revenues and rembursable expenses 211,298 218,277 219,744 228,680
Gross proft 59.745 68,820 68,893 71,834
Operating income 2,322 19,138 13,561 17,075
Net income (loss} from continuing operations (3.222) 5,862 8,249 3.055
Income {loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (42) (490) 228 6
Net income (loss) (3.264) 53712 8477 3.061
Net earnings (loss) per basic share:

Net ncome (kess) from conlinuing operations $ {0.15) % 027§ 03 8 0.14

Incoma (loss) from disconthued operations, net of tax — {0.02} 0.01 -

Net income (loss) 3 0.15) % 025 § 039 § 0.14
Net earnings (loss) per diutad share:

Net ncome (loss) from continuing operations $ 015 % 027 % 037 § .14

Income (kss) from discontinued operaticns, net of tax - {0.02} 0.0 —

Net ncome (loss) $ {015} § 028 § 038 § 0.14
Weightad average shares used n calkeulating earnings per share:

Basic 21,592 21,709 21,745 21,774

Dikated 21,592 21918 22110 22,294

Quarter Ended

2017 Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31
Revenues $ 188849 § 181418 § 176376  § 185,927
Reimbursable expenses 16,950 20,930 17,982 19,313
Total revenues and reimbursable expenses 205,799 202,348 194,358 205,240
Gross profit 70.203 64,981 59,847 71,540
Operating income (loss) 14,149 {200,575) 6,098 (27,128)
Net mcome (koss) from continuing operations 5,155 {150,482) 4132 (29.310)
Income (loss} from discontinued operations, net of tax 143 309 238 {(302)
Netincome (koss) 5,298 {150,173) 4,370 (29,612
Net gamings (foss) per basic share:

Nel ncome (loss) from continuing operations $ 024 § (7000 $ 019 % (1.36)

income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 0.01 0.01 0.01 (0.02)

Net income {loss) 5 025 § (6.99) % 020§ (1.38)
Net sarnings (loss) per diuted share:

Net income {lss} from continuing operations $ 024 § (7.00) § 018 § (1.36)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, nat of tax 0.01 0.01 0.01 (0,02}

Net income (loss) $ 025 % 699 $ 020 3 (1.38)
Weighted average shares used in calculating earnings per share:

Basic 21,239 21492 21,505 21,515

Dhuted 21474 21,492 21,622 21515
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LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
{as of December 31, 2018)

EXHIBIT 21.1

Name Jurisdiction of Organization
Huron Consutting Group Holdings LLC Delaware
Huron Consulting Services LLC Defaware
Huron Consuking South East Asia PTE. LTD. Singapore
Huron Consulting Saudi Limited Saud| Arabia
Huron Saudi Limited Saudi Arabia
Huren Managament Services LLC Delaware
Huron Demand LLC Delaware
Consellers Huron Canada Limliée Canada
Huron Technelogies Inc. Delaware
Huron Transaction Advisory LLC Delaware
Studer Holdings, Inc. Delaware
The Studer Group, LLC Florida
Huron Eurass India Private Limted India
Pope Woodhead and Assodiates England and Waies
Innosight Holdings, LLC Delaware
Innesight International, LLG Detaware
Innosight Consulting Asla Pacific PTE. LTD. Singapore
Innosight Consulting SARL Switzertand
Innosight Consutting, LLC Delaware
Huron Aviation One LLC Delaware

Huron Aviation Two LLC Delaware



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent 1o the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 {Nes. 333-119697, 333-137107, 333-166542, 333-181445, 333-186397, 333-

204353, and 333-218108) of Huron Consulting Group Inc. of our report dated February 26, 2019 relating {o the financial statements and the effectiveness of ntemal control over
financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

Is! PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chicago, linois
February 26, 2019



EXHIBIT 31.¢

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14{a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

|, James H. Roth, certify that

1.
2,

3

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Huron Consulting Group Inc.

Basad on my knowledga, this report does not contain any untrue statement of 2 matarial fact ar omit to state a mataral fact necassary to maka the statemants made, in light of

the circumstances under which such statements ware made, not misleading with respact to the period covered by this report;

Basad on my knowledge, the finandial statements, and other financial nformation nduded in this report, fairly present in al material respedts the financial condtion, results of

operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsibie for establishing and manlaining disclosure controls and procadures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15{e)

and 15d-15(e}) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined n Exchange Act Rules 13a-15{f) and 15d-15{)) for the registrant and have:

3} Designed such discdosure controls and procedures, or caused such disdosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supenision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, nduding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entibies, particularly during the period n which this
report is being prepared;

b} Designed such ntemal control ever fnancial raporting, or caused such internal control over fimancil reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonahle assuranca ragarding the refiabBty of finandial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for exernal purposes in accordance with goneraly
accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evakated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosura controls and procedures and presentad in this report our condusions about the effactveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period coverad by this repor! based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s mternal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably lkely to materialy affect, the registrant's lnternal control over
financial reporting; and

The registirant's other certifing officer and | have dsclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s audors and the

audi commitise of the ragistrant's Beard of Directors (of persons parforming the equivalent functions):

a) Al sigrificant deficencies and material weaknasses in the design or operation of infernal control over financial reporting which are reasonably ikely lo adversely affect the
reqisirant’s abiity to record, procass, summariza and report financial information; and

b} Any fraud, whether or not materfal, that invoives management or ather employees who have a signficant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2018 By. /8 JAMES H, ROTH

Jamaes H. Roth
Chigf Executive Officar



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14{a}/15d-14{a), AS ADOFTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John D. Kely, certify thal:

1.
2.

K}

( hiave reviewed this Annual Reporl on Form 10-K of Huren Consulling Group Inc.;

Based on my knowladge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state @ material fact necessary to make the statements made, n ight of

the crcumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with resped to the period covered by this report;

Basad on my knowladge, the financial statements, and other financial infarmation induded in this report, fairly present in 21 material respects the finandial condition, resufts of

operations and cash flows of the regisirant as of, and for, the periods presanted in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for estabishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defived in Exchange Act Rulas 13a-15(¢)

and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finandial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a} Designad such disdosure controls and procedures, of caused such distlosure conlrols and procedures to be designed under our supenvsion, to ensure that material
information relaling to the regisirant, nduding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 10 us by olhers within those entlties, particularty during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internad control over financial reporting to be designed undar our supenvision, to provide
reascnable assurance regarding the reliabity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generaly
accepled accounting principles;

¢) Evaluatad the effectivenass of the registrant's disciosure controls and procedures and presented in this report cur conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controts and procedures, as of the end of the period coverad by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that cccurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
ragistrant’s fourth fiscal quartar in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or ks reasonably lkely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over
financidl reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the

audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) Al significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of mtermal control over finandal reparting which are reasonably Ikaly to adversely affedt the
registrant's abiity o record, procass, summartze and report fmanclal nformation; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invobves management or other employees who have a significant role n the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Data: February 26, 2019 By: i8S/ JOHN D. KELLY

Jaohn D. Kelly

Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officar and Treasurer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Huron Consulting Group Inc. (the *Company™} on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 as fiked with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Repert’), |, James H, Roth, Chief Executive Officer of tha Company, hereby certify, pursuant te 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxdey Act of 2002, that;

1. The Report fuly complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
2. The Information contalned in the Report farly presents, in all material respects, the fnancial condition and resukts of eperations of the Company for the periods

presented therein,
Date: February 26, 2019 By. 81 JAMES H. ROTH
James H. Roth
Chief Executive Officer

A signad orlginal of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in
typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Sectlon 806, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to
the Secuniies and Exchange Commission or its staff upon requast.

The foregoing certification is being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibil to the Form 10-K and shall not be considered filed as part of the
Form 10-K.



AN

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
PURSUANT T0 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

in connaction with the Annual Report of Huron Consufting Group Inc. (the *Company’} on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 as fied with the Sacurtties and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof {the *Report™). |, John D. Kelly, Exacutive Vica President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Cney Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fuly complies with the requirements of Section 13(a} or 15{d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. Tha Information confained in the Report fairly presants, in all matarial respacts, the financial condition and resuls of operations of the Company for the periods
prasented therein.
Date: February 26, 2019 By- {8/ JOHN D. KELLY
John D. Kelly

Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officar and Treasurer

A signed original of this writlen statement required by Section 308, or other document authenticating, acimowledging, or otherwise adopting the signatura thal appears In
typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 308, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or is staff upon request,

The forageing certification is being furnished to the Securitios and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to the Form 10-K and shall not be considsred filed as part of the
Form 10-K.



